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Mission of the Bank of Albania

The Bank of Albania is the country’s central bank and monetary authority and has 
the exclusive right to: (i) formulate, adopt and implement independently the monetary 
policy of Albania. The principal objective of the Bank of Albania is to achieve 
and maintain price stability, which is the best contribution of monetary policy for 
sustainable and long-term economic growth; (ii) issue and circulate the Albanian 
currency, ensuring the public confidence in the currency, by guaranteeing the 
quality of banknotes and coins, and providing secure and efficient currency supply 
to meet the needs of the economy; (iii) hold and manage official foreign reserves 
of the Republic of Albania, as a guarantee for withstanding adverse shocks to the 
real sector of the economy and support financial stability. 

As the issuer of the national currency, the Bank of Albania promotes the smooth 
operation of payments systems to: ensure a safe and fast circulation of the currency 
in the economy at minimum costs, prevent systemic risk, and safeguard the stability 
of financial institutions and markets. 

The Bank of Albania promotes financial system stability - public confidence in 
institutions, markets, and financial infrastructure - through regulating, licencing, and 
supervising banks and other financial institutions, as well as regularly identifying 
and analysing risks and threats to financial stability.

Vision of the Bank of Albania

The Bank of Albania aims at fostering good-governance with a view to boosting 
public confidence in the central bank through: 

a)	 strengthening the independence for accomplishing the mission and achieving 
the objectives, in conformity with obligations arising from the gradual 
approximation of our legislation and policies with the EU and ESCB legislation.

b)	 increasing the accountability to the Assembly of the Republic of Albania and 
the general public for the fulfilment of the main duties, as well as the primary 
objective and other legal objectives of the Bank of Albania. This includes also 
adopting best accounting and audit standards, regularly publishing financial 
reports and ensuring the integrity of external and internal audit processes, as 
key elements for public accountability.

c)	 enhancing the transparency on the activity of the Bank of Albania, through 
an open and clear communication with the public. The Bank of Albania will 
take the appropriate measures, in accordance with the law and its policies, 
to increase the comprehensibility and predictability of the monetary policy, 
improve accountability, and boost public confidence in the institution.



Gent Sejko, Governor of the Bank of Albania
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Foreword by the Governor

Dear reader,

The Bank of Albania is a key institution in the economic and financial life of the 
country. It is tasked with the administration of the national currency, formulation and 
implementation of the monetary policy, regulation and supervision of the banking 
sector, regulation and promotion of the payment systems, as well as other duties 
that have an impact on the economy and the national or personal finances.

Through its policies and instruments, the Bank of Albania contributes to the currency 
value and loan price, promotes the development and supports the stability of 
the financial system, and contributes to sustainable growth and maintaining 
macroeconomic balances.

I am glad to affirm that, in the last year, positive steps were made across all the 
aspects listed above.

In the economic aspect, our monetary policy contributed to strengthening economic 
growth, in withstanding disinflationary shocks that Albania experienced in the first 
quarter, and creating adequate conditions for compliance with the inflation target 
in the medium-term horizon.

In the financial aspect, the banking sector made progress with regard to both cleaning 
the balance sheets and boosting credit growth. Moreover, this sector succeeded in 
maintaining sound liquidity, profitability, and capitalisation indicators. In parallel, 
during 2016, we consolidated further the legal and regulatory framework and safety 
nets in the banking sector, and advanced the payment system and its infrastructure.

These are tangible achievements, I believe, for a broad spectrum of economic and 
social stakeholders.

In addition, the Bank of Albania has made a substantial contribution to supporting 
European integration processes, public information, compiling and enriching 
statistics, financial literacy, and many other activities detailed in the next sections 
of the report.

These results may not be achieved without a strong, professional, motivated and 
responsible institution. These are the long-term basis of success in the vision of the 
Supervisory Council, the highest governing body of the Bank of Albania.

In 2016, we paid special importance to all the dimensions listed above.

The Bank of Albania conducts its activity based on a medium-term development 
strategy, accompanied by detailed three-year budget plans. The internal audit system, 
procedures, and monitoring are strengthened. They serve to enhance accountability 
and transparent communication with the Assembly of the Republic of Albania and 
the public. Our financial statements are measured and reported in full compliance 
with the best international practices. Furthermore, the Bank of Albania has continued 
to invest in the qualification and professional capacities of its staff.
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Dear reader,

The Annual Report 2016 is a faithful description of our activities over 2016. The 
topics I mentioned briefly are elaborated in more detail in the next sections of 
the Report. I hope that, as you read it, you will see beyond the realisation of our 
commitment for transparency. It should be an open window of communication with 
the central bank, to keep the institution in a constant working and accountability 
position.

Gent SEJKO

Governor
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Highlights of 2016
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Highlights of 2016

•	 Economic activity expanded by 3.3% in the first nine months of 
the year. Indirect data point to a similar growth rate for the 
fourth quarter. Economic activity expanded driven mainly by the 
expansion of consumption and private investments, whereas the 
external environment was unfavourable and the fiscal policy was 
consolidating.

•	 After a supply shock, which contributed to the down side in the first 
quarter, inflation was upward during the rest of the year. In 2016, 
the inflation rate averaged 1.3%. At the end of the year, it stood at 
2.2%. Inflation shifted upward attributable to the weakened external 
disinflationary pressures and higher pressure from domestic demand.

•	 The accommodative monetary policy stance continued. The policy 
rate was lowered by 0.50 percentage point, down to 1.25%. Also, 
the Bank of Albania has narrowed the corridor of the interbank 
rates, intensified the forward guidance, and continued to inject 
liquidity in the interbank market. The monetary policy has led to 
eased financing conditions, contributing to economic growth, better 
production capacity utilisation, and upward inflation towards the 
target.

•	 The fiscal policy has maintained the consolidating stance, reflected 
in deficit and public debt reduction. While generating low fiscal 
stimulus in the economy, this policy has favoured the reduction of 
financing costs for the private sector.

•	 The activity of the banking sector is stable. The liquidity, profitability, 
and capitalisation indicators remain within the regulatory soundness 
parameters. The banking sector has adequate capital and liquidity 
to withstand effects from volatility in the financial market and liquidity 
shocks.

•	 The implementation of the national plan for the reduction of non-
performing loans has marked evident progress. In accordance with 
its commitments, the Bank of Albania initiated several important 
legal amendments, undertook changes to the regulatory framework, 
and worked for a solution of large loans and their out-of-court 
restructuring.

•	 The regulatory framework on supervision and financial stability 
continued to be aligned with the Basel Committee principles and EC 
directives. Among the most important initiatives are the finalisation 
of the Law “On recovery and resolution” in banks, comprehensive 
review of the legal framework on the functioning and supervision of 
savings and loan associations.
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•	 In view of implementing recommendations of the National 
Payment System Committee, the payment order form was finalised 
in accordance with SEPA standards. This is an important step 
for increasing the effectiveness in the use of electronic payment 
instruments. In this regard, the regulatory framework for electronic 
payment instruments was revised, aligning it to EU directives. In 
cooperation with the World Bank, projects were started to measure 
the cost of payment instruments in Albania, on financial inclusion of 
the public, and remittances.

•	 In the context of improving the infrastructure for supporting the 
foreign-exchange reserve management, a new version of the Portfolio 
Management System (PAT II R 3.1.) was implemented. The new 
version improves the processing and maintenance of static data, 
automates the operations and reduces the level of operational risk.

•	 With regard to achieving international standards for the reporting 
infrastructure and enhancing the quality of statistics, this year, the 
Electronic Regulatory Reporting System (ERRS) was introduced. 
Through it, the Bank of Albania provides for the online data 
reporting by commercial banks for supervision, financial stability, 
and monetary policy purposes. The automation includes reporting, 
control, processing and dissemination of data for users within the 
Bank.

•	 For the first time, the Supervisory Council adopted the financial 
statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards, thus accomplishing one of the most important priorities of 
the Bank of Albania. 

•	 The Supervisory Council adopted, for the first time, the Operational 
Risk Management Policy, a comprehensive framework for the 
identification, assessment, control, management and integrated 
follow up of the operational risk, at the institutional level. During 
the year, an application was implemented for the automated 
management of audits and operational risk management, and a 
dedicated unit was established in this regard. 

•	 In May, a conference was organised on “Digital Banking”, in 
cooperation with the Albanian Association of Banks and the 
National Payment System Committee. The conference was aimed 
at promoting contemporary technology for the provision of payment 
services and products.

•	 In June, Albania Financial Forum IV was organised in cooperation 
with the IMF. The Forum discussions focused on credit recovery as 
one of the criteria for supporting sustainable economic growth. 
In conclusion, the Bank of Albania, the Albanian Association of 
Banks, the Ministry of Finance and the Ministry of Economy signed a 
Memorandum of Understanding, under which the signatory institutions 
commit to take concrete measures for promoting sustainable credit 
growth.

•	 In October, Bank of Albania’s Annual Conference was organised on 
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“Aligning monetary policy with financial stability – their objectives, 
responses and interaction in times of uncertainty” in cooperation 
with the South East European Studies at Oxford. The conference 
addressed the optimisation of the coordination of central bank 
objectives, and coordination between Balkan and EU economies, 
amid heightened international uncertainties.
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1. Activity of the Supervisory Council of the 
Bank of Albania

The decision-making process at the Bank of Albania is guided by the principles 
of lawfulness, professionalism, independence, and transparency. The Supervisory 
Council is the highest decision-making and supervisory body of the Bank of Albania. 
It is composed of nine members elected and appointed by the Assembly of the 
Republic of Albania.

The Supervisory Council performs its activity in line with the competences set 
out in the Law “On the Bank of Albania”1 and the procedures established in the 
regulation for the organisation and functioning of the Supervisory Council. It has 
the ultimate responsibility for formulating and adopting the monetary policy. The 
Council makes decisions on the approval of regulations and guidelines on the 
banking activity, on drafting the strategy of the Bank of Albania, and, among 
others, the appointment of heads of departments, organisational structure, and 
realisation of obligations related to risk management. A special committee 
assists the Council, with delegated responsibilities in the aspects of internal and 
external audit. 

Highlights of Supervisory Council activities in 2016: (i) approval of the financial 
statements of the Bank of Albania in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS); (ii) establishment and functioning of the Projects 
Management Unit; (iii) establishment of the Capital Expenditure Committee; 
and (iv) establishment of the Operational Risk Management Unit.

In 2016, the composition of the Supervisory Council changed. In July, the 
Assembly decided on electing a new member, Mr Arben Malaj, to replace Ms 
Ermelinda Meksi, following her resignation. 

Supervisory Council - the highest GOVERNING body of the 
Bank of Albania

The Supervisory Council met 15 times in 2016. Eight of these meetings focused 
on the review and approval of the monetary policy, based on 4 quarterly and 
4 intermediate reports. In these meetings, the Council made decisions about 
the policy rate. Starting in April, decisions included the other two key interest 
rates that provide facilities for the short-term management of liquidity for banks: 
the overnight deposit and overnight loan. 

To ensure an effective division of responsibilities for the monetary and financial 
stability, the other four meetings focused on issues related to banking supervision 

1	T he Law No. 8269, dated 23.12.1997, “On the Bank of Albania”. 
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and financial system stability. Separate meetings were also held for: (i) 
approving the Annual Report 2015; (ii) approving the financial statements; 
and (iii) approving the budget of the Bank of Albania.
 

a.	D ecision making 

The Supervisory Council has the power to adopt decisions, regulations and 
guidelines of general application, issued by the Bank of Albania. During 2016, 
the Council adopted 136 decisions, of which 82 were legal acts approved 
for the first time, and 54 amendments to the existing legal acts. In addition, the 
Council adopted 63 regulations (of which 26 were new, 35 were amendments 
to existing regulations, and 2 were guidelines), regarding different aspects of 
the activity of the Bank of Albania. Of them, 20 were internal regulations for 
the organisation and functioning of Bank of Albania departments. 

These acts were issued in accordance with the duties of the Supervisory Council, 
as stipulated in the Law on the Bank of Albania, such as: (i) monetary stability; 
(ii) licencing, regulation and supervision of banks and other financial institutions; 
and (iii) provision of financial infrastructure (currency issue; payment settlement, 
clearing of payments and securities, and oversight of payment systems). 

b.	I nternal organisation 

The Law on the Bank of Albania stipulates that the Supervisory Council is 
responsible for: (i) approving internal regulations of the Bank of Albania; (ii) 
determining the organisational structure; and (iii) approving heads of departments 
and setting employment conditions at the Bank of Albania. On this basis, 
amendments to the organisational structure (and regulations on the functioning) 
of some departments were approved: Human Resources, Supervision, Issue, 
and Security and Protection departments. 

At the end of the respective probation periods, the Council approved the 
appointment of the: (i) Head of the Human Resources Department; (ii) Head 
of the Supervision Department; (iii) Head of the Administration Department; (iv) 
Head of the IT Department; and (v) Head of the Issue Department. 

c.	 Budget

The Law on the Bank of Albania tasks the Council also with the approval of the 
budget, administration policies and procedures for using the financial assets for 
the realisation of the operational activity of the Bank. In July, the new budget 
regulation was adopted, which enhances the coordination in the process of 
the budget drafting, as well as planning and control of capital expenditures at 
the Bank of Albania. 
	
In December, the Supervisory Council adopted the annual budget 2017. For 
the first time, based on the alignment of the regulatory budgeting framework with 
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the best national and international practices, the budget included projections 
for the next year (2017) and the following two years (2018 and 2019). 
The budget was adopted in accordance with the Medium-Term Development 
Strategy objectives of the Bank of Albania and departmental projections on 
income and expenditure for 2018 and 2019. The medium-term budget details 
items for the first financial year and summary and orienting items for the second 
and third years. The planning period of the medium-term budget concurs with 
the period of the budget system of the Republic of Albania (Medium-term Budget 
Programme). The medium-term budget is reviewed every year.

Supervisory Council - the highest supervisory body of the 
Bank of Albania

In 2016, special attention was given to the supervisory responsibility of the 
Supervisory Council over policies, administration and operations of the Bank of 
Albania. To ensure proper compliance with the law and other acts that regulate 
the daily activity of the Bank of Albania, the Council has been regularly informed 
by the relevant internal and external control units.

a.	I nternal audit 

The internal audit is an independent activity from the administration, which 
provides evaluation, reporting and objectivity, and includes compliance, 
internal auditing and risk management functions. 

i.	C ontrol over administration 

According to the Law on the Bank of Albania, the Governor is responsible to 
the Supervisory Council for the execution of the adopted decisions, and for 
the management, control and oversight of the administration and operations of 
the Bank of Albania. Administrators (the Governor and two Deputy Governors) 
informed the Supervisory Council on monthly basis about the economic, financial 
and monetary developments, in accordance with the legal obligations. The 
Council was also informed about the institution’s management policies and 
ways of using the financial assets for the realisation of the operational activity of 
the Bank of Albania. Every month, information was presented on the financial 
position and result of the Bank of Albania and on the foreign currency reserve 
management. 

ii.	A ctivity of the Audit Committee 

With a view to enhancing efficiency, internal and external audit functions are 
coordinated by the Audit Committee. This committee is responsible for the 
following: (i) financial reporting process; (ii) internal control system; (iii) internal 
and external audit; and (iv) compliance with legal and sublegal acts in force.
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The Committee is composed of three external members of the Council, namely: 
Mr Petraq Milo (Chair), Ms Ela Golemi and Ms Denada Prifti. The members 
were appointed by a Council Decision in May 2015 for a three-year period. 
They may be re-elected only once. As a rule, the Audit Committee shall meet 
at least four times a year. In 2016, the Audit Committee met seven times. 
Meetings aim at facilitating communication between Committee members, 
Inspector General and Audit Department staff, as well as the independent 
external auditor. Administrators were not present in all the meetings.

The Audit Committee met regularly with the Inspector General. They discussed 
on the organisation of the Audit Department and the annual audit plan. Particular 
attention was paid to the human and financial resources necessary for realising 
the annual plan. As a result of the meetings, Committee members were able to 
have a better understanding of the internal audit and risk management systems 
at the Bank of Albania. 

The Audit Committee, and in turn, the Supervisory Council have been informed 
regularly on audit findings and recommendations by the Audit Department, 
which provide an independent guarantee on the effectiveness and quality of 
the systems mentioned above.

In March, the Audit Committee invited the external auditor (KPMG) to discuss on 
the audit for 2015 and the certification of financial statements. The Committee 
members are interested especially in understanding the conditions of the audit 
engagement - described in the engagement letter - including also the audit 
objective and responsibilities of the auditor and administration of the Bank 
of Albania. The Committee was informed on: (i) audit strategy and results; 
(ii) necessary skills for realising the planned procedures; (iii) degree of labour 
utilisation of internal auditors; (iv) evaluation of the external auditor on BoA’s 
financial reporting; and (v) other relevant issues. 
Meetings with the head of department responsible for finances focused on the 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with the IFRS and deviations 
compared to the existing accounting policies at the Bank of Albania, as well 
as the quality and internal audit on financial statements. The Audit Committee 
has also received feedback regularly from the head of department responsible 
for finances about the external auditing.

Lastly, to enhance its work and capacities, the Audit Committee visited and 
exchanged experiences with reputable international institutions such as the 
Banque de France and De Nederlandsche Bank.

iii.	I nternal audit 

The Inspector General and the Audit Department control, and present the 
Council reports and recommendations on, the accounts and books, as well as 
budget, accounting and control procedures at the Bank of Albania. 
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In accordance with the Internal Audit Policy, in February, the Council adopted for 
the first time the annual plan of activities of the Inspector General and of the Audit 
Department. The plan had been approved preliminarily by the Audit Committee.

The annual plan is based on international internal audit standards and the 
updated risk assessment on the identified functions in the revised audit universe. 
It reflects also the suggestions of the Supervisory Council, the Audit Committee 
and administrators related to the functions/processes that need to be audited, 
or requests for counselling/investigating on specific issues, as well as the 
available budget for the year.

iv.	R isk management

In July, the Supervisory Council adopted for the first time the Operational Risk 
Management Policy at the Bank of Albania, a comprehensive framework for 
the identification, assessment, control, management and integrated follow 
up of the operational risk at the institutional level. The document sets out the 
objectives, resources and key risk assessment principles, reporting lines and 
responsibilities of the relevant units. On these grounds, rules were adopted on 
the organisation and functioning of the Operational Risk Management Unit. 
This unit reports to the Inspector General and is responsible for coordinating 
risk assessment activities at the Bank of Albania. The unit contributes to a proper 
management of uncertainties and informs the decision-making process on the 
management of risks that may prevent the achievement of BoA objectives or 
may have adverse financial and/or reputational effects.

b.	E xternal audit

Pursuant to the Law on the Bank of Albania, its financial statements are audited 
by external independent auditors, among reputable international institutions, as 
determined by the Council. Auditors state their opinion, whether the financial 
statements reflect truly and accurately the financial situation of the Bank of 
Albania, in accordance with the IFRS.

v.	E xternal independent auditor

The external auditor audits the financial statements of the Bank of Albania to 
provide reasonable certainty that they do not have material anomalies, as a 
result of fraud or error. This provides the external auditor with a key role in 
maintaining the trust of financial markets and of the public in financial statements 
of the Bank of Albania. 

The Audit Committee contributes to this process through continuous communication 
and dialogue with the external auditor throughout the auditing cycle. This 
communication focuses on main issues that have risen during the audit and on 
ways for their solution, as well as on conclusions on key accounting and audit-
related issues. 
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vi.	F inancial control

The Council was informed on and discussed about the State Supreme Audit 
Report for 2015 to ensure that the recommendations therein comply with 
the principle of the central bank independence. The Council has been also 
informed periodically on the measures taken by BoA departments with regard 
to addressing these issues.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY

During 2016, The Council complied to the obligation of Bank of Albania’s 
accountability to the Assembly and the obligation of its transparency to the 
public, the financial system and the media. 

Pursuant to the Law on the Bank of Albania, the Council is vested with the 
power to approve all the reports that the Bank submits to the Assembly, or the 
Council of Ministers. These reports explain the decision-making at the Bank of 
Albania and its performance in light of achieving its legal objectives. 

a.	A pproval of the annual report 

The Bank of Albania prepares the report and financial statements at the end 
of each financial year, which are published following their approval by the 
Council. In March, the Council approved the Annual Report 2015 and sent 
it to the Assembly. The report describes the economy and financial situation 
in Albania and the activity of the Bank of Albania over the reporting period. 
The report presents detailed information on the realisation of objectives of the 
Bank of Albania in the area of monetary policy, financial stability, and banking 
supervision, as well as the use of financial and human resources. 

For the first time, information on the annual activity and results of the Audit 
Department for the period January-December 2015 was added to the report. 
This is an important step towards strengthening the accountability of the 
institution.

b.	A pproval of financial statements 

The financial statements and the opinion of the external independent auditor 
were an integral part of the Annual Report, based on the audit conducted in 
compliance with the International Audit Standards.

The approval of the financial statements according to the IFRS was one of 
the key priorities of the Bank of Albania for 2015 arising from the Law on 
Accounting and Financial Statements and the Law on the Bank of Albania. It 
has been a constant recommendation of the Inspector General, Safeguards 
Assessment missions of the IMF and the Supreme State Audit over the years.
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c.	P rofit distribution  

In March, the Supervisory Council approved the financial position of the 
Bank of Albania for 2015, in accordance with the IFRS, and distribution of 
profit. The net profit from the activity of the Bank of Albania for 2015 was 
ALL 1,894,920,824.13. The Council decided to separate from the profit a 
reserve fund amounting to ALL 800 million to cope with unexpected financial 
situations, which the Bank of Albania might face, and may affect its normal 
operation. 

This fund was calculated from the projections in the three-year budget 2016-
2018 and assessments on developments and uncertainties in international 
financial markets, which show that the return from investments in euro-
denominated assets is highly likely to be in negative territory.

d.	R eporting for the Assembly and Council of Ministers

The Law on the Bank of Albania requires the mandatory publication, quarterly, of 
a detailed opinion on the situation of the economy and, half yearly, a statement 
on threats to the stability of the financial system. On this basis, in February, 
May, August, and November, the Council approved the quarterly monetary 
policy reports, the main instrument for accountability and transparency in the 
area of monetary policy. These reports present a comprehensive description of 
the latest macroeconomic developments and factors that affect the performance 
of consumer prices in Albania.

In addition, in March and September, the Council approved the half-yearly 
financial stability reports, which present Bank of Albania’s assessment of 
financial system developments in Albania, underline potential risks to financial 
stability, and make recommendations in relation to the necessary measures for 
reducing risks. The reports have been sent to the Assembly of the Republic of 
Albania, the Council of Ministers and other central institutions.
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ACTIVITY OF THE BANK OF ALBANIA 
DURING 2016

*Fragments from ornaments featured in the “5 gold francs” banknote issued in 1926 by the National Bank of Albania.
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2. ACTIVITY OF THE BANK OF ALBANIA DURING 2016

2.1	 Monetary Policy

The primary objective of the monetary policy is to achieve and maintain price 
stability. An economic environment with stable prices: (i) allows households and 
enterprises to make well-informed decisions on consumption, savings and investments; 
(ii) prevents unexpected income distribution; (iii) facilitates the efficient allocation of 
resources in the economy; and, (iv) promotes financial stability at home. Thus, the 
monetary policy promotes the stable and long-term growth, and fosters economic 
and social welfare. 

The objective of Bank of Albania’s monetary policy is to keep inflation around 3% in 
the medium term. To achieve this objective, the Bank of Albania applies an inflation 
targeting regime, while the exchange rate is freely determined by the demand and 
supply for foreign currency in the market. The monetary policy is implemented by 
intervention with indirect instruments in financial markets. 

Albanian economy performed positively throughout 2016

The volume of economic activity has been growing, the spare capacities in the 
labour and capital markets reduced, while the main indicators of the economic 
and financial stability of Albania improved.

INSTAT data show that the Albanian economy grew by 3.3% over the first 
nine months of the year. Indirect data suggest a similar growth rate for the 
fourth quarter, as well. The economic activity expanded driven by the increase 
in consumption and private investments, while external environment remains 
unfavourable; the external demand was volatile and fiscal policy continues to 
be oriented toward consolidation. 

The growth of aggregate demand drove to the increase of employment and full 
utilisation of production capacities by enterprises. Thus, the domestic inflationary 
pressures strengthened and inflation showed clear signs of convergence toward 
the target. The annual inflation averaged 1.3% in 2016, and hit 2.2% at the 
end of the year. 

Fiscal consolidation drove to the reduction of deficit and public debt. Although 
this consolidation implies the presence of a low fiscal stimulus, it helps the 
accommodative policy pass through to the financial markets and contributes to 
lower the financing costs for the private sector. 

The expansion of the current account deficit reflected mainly the high imports 
related to big energy projects. Nevertheless, this deficit continues to be highly 
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financed by non-debt creating flows, in the form of foreign direct investments. 

In the financial aspect, the available data show that the financial situation of 
enterprises improved. Also, the Albanian banking system maintained good 
level of liquidity, profitability, and capitalisation indicators.

The accommodative monetary policy provided the main contribution to the 
improvement of economic indicators.

The interest rate cut and the establishment of good financing conditions, among 
others, supported economic developments in 2016. With a stronger simulating 
nature over 2016, the Bank of Albania’s monetary policy played a key role in 
this regard. This policy was transmitted via the following instruments:

−	 Bank of Albania cut the policy rate twice during 2016 H1, for a 
cumulative effect of 0.5 percentage point, down at 1.25% in May. 
The policy rate remained at this level throughout the remainder of 
the year. Disinflationary pressures from foreign markets drove to the 
increase of monetary stimulus. It aimed at further reducing financing 
costs in the economy and signalling the Bank of Albania’s willingness 
and capability to respect its price stability objective.

−	A lso, the Bank of Albania narrowed the interest rates corridor in the 
interbank market, determined by the overnight credit and deposits’ 
interest rates. This movement aimed at reducing the fluctuations of 
interest rates, and a better pass through of the monetary policy in the 
financial markets.

−	I n addition, the Bank of Albania continued to inform the public on 
maintaining the monetary policy accommodative stance. The use of the 
forward guidance was strengthened over 2016, orienting the public on 
the time frame and intensity of the monetary stimulus. These terms were 
related and consistent with the forecasts on the achievement of the 
objective. Thus, they served to increase transparency and credibility 
of the monetary policy, which are important objectives of the Bank of 
Albania’s development strategy.

−	F inally, the Bank of Albania, for the purpose of its monetary policy 
implementation, continued to supply the banking sector with the 
required liquidity. The Bank of Albania has constantly adopted the terms 
and instruments to inject liquidity to the market’s needs. The injected 
liquidity in the banking system averaged ALL 24 billion over 2016.

The monetary policy implemented by the Bank of Albania was effective. The 
policy rate cut, the limitation of the volatilities in the short term and the forward 
guidance in the medium term drove to the reduction of interest rates across all 
segments of the financial market. The average interest rates on credit, deposits 
and 12-month T-bills in ALL were 0.8, 0.5, and 1.5 percentage points lower 
than in the previous year.
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The effects of the monetary policy on the economy were felt in several aspects.

−	 First, although banks’ lending policies remain conservative, the 
reduction of financing costs helped the expansion of credit in ALL. The 
ALL credit portfolio to the private sector grew by 10.2%, over 2016, 
while total credit grew by 3.2%.

−	S econd, the low interest rates helped to reduce the service costs of the 
existing credits and to lower their re-financing costs. The fall of interest 
rates over 2016, helped borrowing enterprises and households save 
ALL 1.7-3.4 billion2.

−	T hird, the low interest rates supported the increase of private 
consumption in the economy, encouraging a propensity toward 
consumption, rather than savings.

The three aspects mentioned above drove to the growth of aggregate demand 
and to the acceleration of economic growth over 2016. The recovery of the 
latter was reflected in the upward trend of inflation during the second half of 
the year, providing the preconditions for achieving our target within the medium 
term.

2	T his assessment is based on an optimistic scenario and a conservative one of the transmission 
of financial market’s reference rates fall in the credit service cost. 

Chart 1 Policy rate and overnight facilities (left), interest rates on some lek 
instruments (right)

Source: Bank of Albania.
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Box 1. 	Formulation, implementation and communication of 
the monetary policy

Monetary policy mission and functions 

The Bank of Albania is vested with the legal right and responsibility to formulate 
and implement the monetary policy. The objective of the monetary policy is to 
achieve and maintain price stability. The Monetary Policy Document defines 
and determines in quantitative terms the price stability, as: achieving and 
maintaining the average inflation at 3% in the medium term. For countries that 
apply a free-floating exchange rate regime, like Albania, the monetary policy 
implies the management of the policy rate,3 through which the Bank of Albania 
conducts short-term lending and borrowing transactions with commercial banks. 
The level of the policy rate serves to determine the short-term liquidity price in 
the interbank market and all the other prices of financial products, with the 
purpose of achieving the target. In parallel with maintaining price stability, but 
always conditioned by the primary objective, the Bank of Albania’s monetary 
policy aims at reducing the short-term fluctuations of the business cycle. The 
accomplishment of these objectives implies an important contribution of the 
monetary policy in fostering stable economic and welfare growth. 

Monetary policy decision-making process

Given that changes in the policy rate need time to be materialised in the economy, 
the formulation of the monetary policy should be forward-looking. It should 
be based on a structured analysis and forecast process, which is consistent, 
efficient and transparent, and takes account of all the available information at 
the decision making time, as well as the expertise and opinion of the Bank’s 
experts. The outcome of this process is the assessment of the current situation 
of the economy, expectations of its performance in the medium term and the 
identification of potential risks. At the end of this process, different alternatives 
of the monetary policy are studied to select the response, which is consistent 
with achieving the inflation target in the medium term. 

The analysis, forecast and formulation of the monetary policy takes place in 
eight dedicated meetings of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania. The 
process begins with the analysis of the new economic, monetary and financial 
information, aiming at assessing the current economic situation and identifying 
the deviations from expectations. The process moves toward the preparation of 
the economic and financial forecasts, which serve to determine the expected 
development, identify the potential risks, and assess the various options of the 
monetary policy. This phase coordinates the generation of short-term forecasts, 
which model the behaviour of economic indicators for four quarters, with the 
medium-term ones, for a three-year period. In this time horizon the effects of 
the monetary policy provide the maximum effect in the economy. A portfolio of 
various econometric models, which vary in structure, aim and use, are employed 
to generate the forecasts.

Main improvements of the process over 2016

The continuous improvement of the forecast analysis of the monetary policy is 
at the focus of our work and part of our strategic objectives. 

3	T his rate is the interest applied in 7-day repurchase agreements, in the regular weekly 
auctions of the Bank of Albania. 
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Throughout this year, additional attention was paid to: 

(i)	 the expansion of analysing capacities of macroeconomic models, 
enriching them with contemporary diagnosing and assessing techniques;

(ii)	 the updating and enrichment of econometric infrastructure in use , through 
including new sectors and constructing new models, increasing thus the 
coverage of the Albanian economy;

(iii)	 the better coordination of stages in the forecasting process and better 
integration of their results. The results of this work are materialised in a 
more complete and advanced platform for constructing analytical and 
forecasting information and have helped to better support the formulation 
and implementation of the monetary policy.

The research work of the Bank’s staff, the technical assistance in the framework of 
collaboration with the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and with the Graduate 
Institute Geneva and the Swiss State Secretariat for Economic Affairs (SECO), as 
well as the synergy created from the close collaboration within the Bank have 
contributed to the improvement of this process. 

At the same time, the Bank has worked to increase the knowledge on the 
monetary policy transmission channels, to enrich the range of indicators and 
instruments that are used in the process of analysis and forecasts, and to increase 
the understanding of policy decision-making. 

The economic and monetary analysis and the arguments on the monetary policy 
decision-making are transmitted to the public through the quarterly Monetary 
Policy Reports and the public statements of the Governor on inflation and 
economic growth outlook. The work to improve their quality, structure and clarity 
has aimed at increasing our transparency and accountability, ultimately aiming 
at strengthening public confidence in the monetary policy and price stability. 

To serve transparency and optimisation of operational decisions, the methodology 
for assessing the foreign exchange reserve was reviewed. In compliance with 
our monetary policy, and to support the financial stability, the Bank of Albania 
aims to maintain an adequate foreign exchange reserve. Pursuant to the best 
international practices, the methodology to assess this level is completed, by 
considering the criteria to withstand shocks in the external sector of economy 
and the opportune cost of maintaining the foreign exchange reserve level. 

Inflation and main economic developments

Inflation and underlying factors

Overall, inflationary pressures increased over 2016. Supply-side shocks were 
reflected in a temporary fall of inflation over the first half of the year; further, as they 
weakened and economic activity improved, this indicator increased. 

In 2016, the annual inflation rate averaged 1.3%. Its profile was characterised by 
a fast fall in the first quarter, stabilisation at low values over the second quarter and 
progressive increase in the third and fourth quarters. The inflation rate averaged 
0.7% over the first half of year, and stood at 1.9% in the second half of year. 
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The fall in inflation in the first months was mainly attributable to supply-side 
shocks, materialised in the fall in the inflation of unprocessed foods, oil and 
related services. The rapid fall of inflation, at the beginning of the year, was 
not an isolated phenomenon of the Albanian economy: in the euro area and 
regional countries it fluctuated also at rather low values, even negative ones, 
in these months. On the other hand, inflation’s increase in the second half of 
the year reflected the weak supply-side shocks and the strengthening of internal 
inflationary pressures, due to the narrowing of the negative output gap.

Inflation increased across almost all main items of goods and services.

Inflation of food prices continues to provide the largest contribution to the 
performance of inflation. Inflation of processed and unprocessed foods fell in 
2016 H1, reflecting the overall fall of food prices in global markets. Further, 
their inflation showed recovery signs during 2016 H2, in response to the fall 
of disinflationary pressures from foreign prices and high production costs in the 
food processing industry for the domestic market. 

Table 1 Contribution of key items to annual inflation 
Q4:14 Q1:15 Q2:15 Q3:15 Q4:15 Q1:16 Q2:16 Q3:16 Q4:16

Processed foods (p.p.) 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.0 -0.4 0.1 0.4 0.6
Bread and grains (pp)* -0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.1 -0.2 -0.1 0.0 0.1
Alcohol and tobacco (p.p.) 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1
Unprocessed foods (p.p.) 0.8 1.7 1.8 1.8 2.6 1.5 0.9 1.2 0.9
Fruit (p.p.) 0.4 0.5 0.8 0.8 0.9 0.7 0.6 0.4 0.2
Vegetables (p.p.) 0.2 1.1 0.9 0.9 1.7 0.8 0.3 0.8 0.6
Services (p.p.) 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.1 0.0 0.2 0.0
Regulated prices (p.p.) 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0
Fuels and energy (p.p.) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.1 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1
Housing (p.p.) 0.1 0.1 -0.1 0.0 -0.2 -0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0
Non-food consumer goods 0.0 -0.4 -0.2 -0.2 -0.3 -0.3 -0.3  -0.1  0.3
Durable consumer goods (p.p.) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1
Consumer Price Index (y-o-y, %) 1.3 1.9 1.8 1.8 2.1 0.7 0.7 1.9 1.9

Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania. 
*The table presents some of the main items.

Chart 2 Annual in�ation and target (left), in�ation in regional and EU 
countries (right)

Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania.
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Inflation of “non-food consumption goods” trended up, mainly driven by the 
performance of oil prices in Albania. This category shifted the direction toward 
increasing positive values, after a long period of negative contribution to the 
headline inflation (December 2014 - August 2016). The increase in prices 
of other items in this category, also, provided a positive contribution in the 
last two months of the year4. “Housing” prices returned to the slight positive 
contributions to headline inflation since 2016 Q2. Also, “services” provided 
upward inflation and contribution in the summer months, mainly driven by the 
increase of prices in transport services5. 

The improved cyclical position of the economy was 
reflected in a gradual narrowing of the negative 
output gap, by strengthening the inflationary 
pressures from the domestic demand side over 2016.

The improved aggregate demand and better 
utilisation of production capacities conditioned an 
increasing trajectory of core inflation over 2016. 
This indicator moved from negative values during 
the first half of year to positive ones in the second 
half of year, reflecting the strengthening of mid-term 
inflationary pressures. 

Imported inflation was moderated, against the 
increase of domestic inflationary impulses. 

Imported inflation contributed by around 66.5% to 
the formation of the average annual inflation. This 
indicator fluctuated considerably during the first 
half of the year, while it reflected a more stable 
behaviour over the second half of 2016. On the 
other hand, domestic inflation is assessed to have 
determined around 59% of headline inflation, during 
April - December 2016, supported by the cyclical 
improvement of economy.

Inflation expectations continued to generate weak 
inflationary pressures.

4	T he increase of mandatory insurance price of motor vehicles or the high fluctuations of fuel 
prices contributed, in particular periods, to the increase of “non-food consumption goods" 
category.

5	I n particular, the increase of air transport prices, with an annual inflation higher than 30% 
during August, which after that was stabilised at lower values. 

Chart 3 Output gap (%), unemployment gap (pp)*, 
and core in�ation (%)**

Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania's calculations.
Note: All indicators are �attened by the four-term moving average.

* Unemployment rate gap is calculated as the difference between the natural rates of 
unemployment with the actual unemployment rate published by INSTAT, to simplify the 
interpretation of the equal or unequal direction with the output gap, which is calculated 
in per cent of the potential output.**Proxy indicators of labour productivity and labour 
costs per unit of output are calculated by the Bank of Albania using the total series 
Short-Term Statistics (SHTS, INSTAT, 2016 Q3). Their calculation includes the index of 
the number of paid employees, of the turnover volume and wage fund for the total 

activities covered by the survey of SHTS. 
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Inflation expectations by agents and time horizons6 reflected an uneven 
behaviour over 2016. Consumers and financial agents’ short-term expectations 
reacted more against the low values of the actual inflation at the beginning of 
year, while enterprises’ expectations, overall, remain unchanged. Financial 
agents’ short-term expectations were around 1.9%, remaining higher compared 
to the expectations of enterprises and consumers, 1.5% and 1.3%, respectively. 
In the medium term, after two and three years, inflation expectations surveyed 
with financial agents were 2.2% and 2.4%, respectively. The good anchoring 
of medium-term expectations, close to the target, and the low reaction against 
the short-term fluctuations of the actual inflation, reflects the credibility of the 
monetary policy. 

6	I nflation expectations are not measured by official statistics. Bank of Albania receives qualitative 
and quantitative information on inflation expectations through periodic surveys conducted 
with enterprises, consumers and financial agents. The quantitative information on inflation 
expectations is taken from three groups of agents for short-term horizons (one year ahead) and 
only from financial agents is received for medium-term horizons (two and three years ahead). 
Short-term expectations are used to better capture the credibility in the ability of the monetary 
policy to bring inflation to target within the medium-term horizon. They were more rational 
than short-term expectations, which are characterised by the domination of the adaptive factor 
(high adaptability to the previous published inflation). 

Chart 5 In�ation expectations: enterprises and consumers' (left), �nancial 
agents' (right )

Source: Bank of Albania.
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Box 2.  Supply-side shocks and monetary policy response

The rapid fall of inflation in Albania, over 2016 Q1, seems to reflect largely 
supply-side shocks. The lower inflation rates especially in February and March 
were mainly due to the decline of food and fuel prices in international markets. 
The changed prices of these items provided a negative direct and indirect effect 
on the domestic headline inflation. In response to this development, the Bank 
of Albania intensified the monetary stimulus, by cutting the policy rate by 0.5 
percentage point. This response was assessed to be sufficient to guarantee the 
achievement of inflation target in the medium term. This Box aims to shed light 
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on theoretical considerations that are taken into account in formulating the 
monetary policy response.

Supply-side inflation (also known as cost inflation) is experienced in case of 
the increase and decrease of costs. There are several factors that may drive to 
shocks in production costs, such as: increase/decrease of raw materials cost; 
increase/decrease in labour costs per unit (due to the increase/decrease of 
wages or increase/decrease of labour productivity); increase/decrease of 
taxes; and increase/decrease in transport costs. In small and open economies, 
where imported products have a relatively large share in the structure of final 
consumer goods, supply-side shocks can also take the form of consumer price 
increase in trading partners or the form of exchange rate shocks.

While the monetary policy response to demand-side shocks is relatively clear - a  
positive or negative shock on aggregate demand tends to produce respectively a  
tightening or easing of monetary policy - the response to supply-related shocks is  
conditioned from a wider range of circumstances and objectives.

In a first analysis, the monetary policy tends to ignore the supply-side shocks. 
This (non) response is associated with at least three reasons. First, supply shocks 
are generally temporary. So, they leave no medium and long-term trace in the 
trajectories of economic growth and inflation, and may not be addressed by 
the monetary policy because of its transmission mechanism time-lags. Second, 
unlike demand shocks, supply shocks contain a self-correcting mechanism. Thus, 
a supply shock would lower production costs (and inflation), but it would, on the 
other hand, increase consumers’ purchasing power and aggregate demand, 
compensating thus a part of its direct effect. The above mechanism operates 
in the opposite direction in case of increasing shocks in production costs and 
inflation. Third, the opposing effect of these shocks on inflation and economic 
growth poses dilemmas on the functioning of the monetary policy response, 
which typically considers the divergence of both inflation from target and of 
the economy from equilibrium

Despite these considerations, supply shocks can generate long-term inflationary 
pressures and be legitimately subject to the monetary policy response, on at least  
two occasions. First, these shocks can damage (decrease or increase) inflation 
expectations. This may occur in case of a prolonged, as well as of adaptive 
nature (oriented retroactively) inflation expectations (Albania case). The damage 
(decrease or increase) of inflation expectations is equivalent to a change in 
monetary conditions in the economy (their tightening or easing). Second, the 
presence of indexing mechanisms in the economy (mutual indexing of consumer 
prices and wages) can generate a spill-over effect in prices and costs in the 
economy. Both these channels can drive to the creation of the so-called “second 
round” phenomena, which tend to make supply shocks last longer.

Thus, the analysis and the proper understanding of the extent, intensity and secondary  
effects of supply shocks are of primary importance to the monetary policy. The 
stronger these elements are, the stronger the monetary policy reaction is. In 
Albania, second-round effects are not expected to be significant: supply shock 
prolongation is not expected to last and indexing mechanisms are not present. 
In such circumstances, the control of inflation expectations is of high importance 
for the control of supply shocks’ secondary effects. Thus, the Bank of Albania 
increased the monetary stimulus, while communicating clearly and transparently 
their expected effects.
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Economic activity

Economic activity grew over 2016. The economic growth mainly reflected 
the expansion of consumption and private investments. It was reflected in the 
expansion of services and construction sectors.

Gross Domestic Product grew by 3.3% during the first nine months of 2016.7 
Economic growth was largely driven by the expansion in services8, whose 
contribution to growth accounted for around 2.2 percentage points in the 
period under review. All main branches of services supported the performance 
of the sector. Services related to “Trade, hotels and restaurants, and transport” 
provided the highest contribution, 0.8 percentage point. Construction, although 
slowing down the growth pace, continued to provide the main contribution, by 
0.5 percentage point, among the producing activities.9 This contribution remains 
above the average value for the period 2009 – 2015 supported by the investments 
in new constructions.10 Meanwhile, industrial and agricultural activities provided 
a low contribution to economic growth, around 0.1 percentage point.11

7	T he latest GDP data by output and expenses method for 2016 Q3, published by INSTAT. The 
annual economic growth in 2016 Q1, Q2 and Q3 was 3.3%, 3.4% and 3.1%, respectively. 

8	 Main branches of services are: “Trade, hotels and restaurants, transport”, “Information and 
communication", “Financial and insurance activities”, “Real estate activities”, “Professional 
activities and administrative services”, “Public administration, education and health”, "Arts, 
entertainment, recreation, goods production activities of families for own use and other services”.

9	I t reflects at a considerable degree also the effect of comparison at a higher base from the 
previous year. In more concrete terms, in the first nine months of 2015, the added value of 
construction expanded by 14.0%, providing a contribution of around 1.1 percentage points 
in the economic growth of the period. 

10	R eferred to the volume index in construction which is categorised in: new constructions, 
restructuring and engineering works. 

11	 Positive performance of production branch "Electricity, gas, steam and air-conditioning supply" 
was insufficient to offset the shrinking trend of extracting industry and the slowdown trend of 
mining and quarrying. Thus, the industry contribution in the annual growth of GDP is estimated 
around -0.02%. Meanwhile, agriculture, forestry and fishing contributed by 0.08 percentage 
point in the growth of GDP over the nine months of 2016, after the contribution of 0.26 
percentage point in the same period a year earlier. 

Chart 6 Annual growth of real GDP (in %) and contribution of production-side 
components (pp). Trend of real GVA in economy and sectorso

Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania. * Preliminary data. ** A preliminary assessment. 
oIndices of the real GVA for the economy and its sectors re�ect the trend of the relevant value added, 

calculated as the moving sum of quarterly values for four quarters, based on 2010 Q4.
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In line with the growth of economic activity, labour market improved over the 
first nine months of 2016.12 Employment increased averagely by 6.8%, against 
5.2% in the same period in the previous year.13 This performance was largely 
attributable to the expansion of employment in services. The fast growth dynamic 
of employment determined the continuous reduction of unemployment over the 
year. The unemployment rate stood at 14.7%, at the end of September, around 
2.5 percentage points lower from the same period in the previous year.14

The recovery in investments and private consumption was the determinant 
factor in the economic growth.

Domestic demand expanded by 3.4% in the first nine months of 2016.15 The 
growth of investments, following the behaviour of the previous year, generated 
the main support. The respective contribution to the increase of demand is 
assessed at 1.7 percentage points. Also, the expansion of private consumption 
contributed to the increase of domestic demand, by expanding the range 
of underlying factors of economic growth and by strengthening its stability. 
Public consumption provided a slight positive contribution to the increase of 

12	 Analysis of employment and unemployment is based on the data of the Labour Force Quarterly 
Survey, and it refers to the indicators for those 15 of years and older. 

13	 Also, the administrative data reflects an increasing employment trend, considerably affected by 
the formalisation process implemented by the Government, started since 2015 Q3 (particularly 
reflected in the strong increase of employment in the non-agricultural private sector till 2016 Q2). 

14	T he administrative data also show a fall of unemployment level, at more rapid pace, by 
considerably reflecting the entered into force legal amendments, which aim at the identification 
of that part of population which is interested and ready to be employed. 146/2015 "For job 
seekers", dated 12/17/2015 and procedures for its implementation (Decree of the Minister 
of Social Welfare and Youth no. 4, dated 15.02.2016, published in the Official Journal on 
22 February 2016).

15	 Domestic demand components are final consumption (including final consumption of the population, 
of the public administration and of not-for-profit institutions) and gross fixed capital formation. In 
terms of national accounts, private consumption in this report refers to final consumption of the 
population, whereas investments are equivalent to gross fixed capital formation.

Chart 7 Domestic demand, contribution by components and ESI

Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania.
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domestic demand. Information from indirect indicators suggests a positive 
performance of domestic demand, driven by the growth in private investments 
and consumption, even in the fourth quarter. 

Private consumption provided positive contribution to economic growth in the 
first nine months.

Private consumption grew 2.2% over the first nine months of 2016. The 
acceleration of the consumption growth rate, over 2016, 16 was favoured by 
the increase of disposable income and downward uncertainties. The positive 
performance of employment and wages fund mainly affected the increase of 
disposable income. In parallel, the eased financing standards and credit growth 
supported the financing sources of private consumption. Preliminary indicators 
suggest positive growth rates of consumption during the fourth quarter as well.

Like in the previous year, investments continued to provide the main contribution 
to the expansion of aggregate demand over the first nine months of 2016. 

Investments recorded an annual growth of 8% over the first nine months of 
2016, from 11% in the previous year. By structure of investments, indirect data 
show that the two main categories, construction and investments in machinery 
and equipment, provided positive contribution. The growth of investments was 
supported by the eased financing standards, the improved capacity utilisation 
rate, and the increase of enterprises’ confidence, their improved financial 
situation and the increase of foreign direct investments.

16	T he growth of private consumption was 1% over 2015.

Chart 8 Private consumption and con�dence in trade and consumer 
con�dence indicator

Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania.
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Fiscal policy maintained a consolidating stance during 2016.

Fiscal policy showed a correcting trend over 2016, being materialised in a 
primary surplus of 0.7 percentage point to GDP, against the primary deficit of 
0.2 percentage point to GDP in 201517. Fiscal consolidation was supported 
by the increase in revenues, while public expenditure maintained similar levels 
with the previous year.

After the positive values of the budget balance in the first eleven months, budget 
deficit amounted to around ALL 26.2 billion at the end of 2016, shrinking 

17	 Fiscal data refer to the publication of the Ministry of Finance, 23 February 2017.

Chart 9 Annual performances of investments in the economy

Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania.
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Chart 10 Fiscal policy and position, 2003 - 2016*

Source: Ministry of Finance, INSTAT and Monetary Policy Department (BoA) calculations.
*The left-hand chart shows changes in the primary de�cit (general de�cit – interest payments - effect of 
one-off measures) depending on changes in nominal GDP. The changes in the primary de�cit on a year 
earlier positioned on the horizontal axis imply the deterioration of the �scal position, or positive �scal 

impulse, and vice versa.
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by 54.9% in annual terms. This level of deficit accounted for around 1.8% of 
GDP, from the planned 2.4% according to the normative act of December. 
The lowest level of deficit was mainly attributable to the under the programmed 
realisation of programed current expenditure. Borrowing in the domestic market 
financed around 40% of the deficit. The increase in long-term instruments offset 
the reduction of the short-term domestic debt. The rest was financed by the 
borrowing in the external market.

Public expenditure stood at 29.1% of GDP, from 29.3% in the previous year.18 
Budget expenditure was unevenly allocated over 2016 as well. The highest 
concentration was noted in the last quarter.19 Primary current expenditure 
resulted around ALL 330.6 billion, or around 5.9% higher in annual terms. 
Capital expenditure amounted to ALL 57 billion, from the plan of ALL 58.7 
billion, annually down by 9.6%. They were estimated at 3.8% of GDP, from 
4.4% in the previous year. 

In 2016, budget revenues amounted to ALL 404.8 billion, or 27.3% of GDP, 
with the ratio improving by 0.9 percentage point from the previous year. 
In annual terms, revenues grew by 6.8%. Revenues from social insurance, 
VAT, profit tax and local taxes provided the main contribution to this growth. 
The factors that drove to the improved dynamic of revenues compared to the 
previous year are: the legal amendments on determining the reference wage 
on the calculation methodology of social contributions for free professions; the 
increase in local taxes; the formalisation process, and the more favourable 

18	E xcluding the effect of the payment of arrears in 2015, by around 1.2 percentage points. 
19	T he last quarter accounted for around 33.5% of total expenditure.

Chart 11 Annual changes in main �scal items (expenditure, left and revenues, 
right) by contribution of relevant items, 2005-2016*

Source: Ministry of Finance.
*"Transfers" for budget expenditure includes all the other expenditure items, excluding current and capital 

expenditures. In 2014 and 2015, this category is formed mainly by the payment of arrears.
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economic environment20. The last factor is manifested in both, forms, the 
increased domestic demand and higher profits of public and private companies. 

20	 At the beginning of 2016, the Law on the calculation of health and social insurance 
contributions entered into force. According to this Law, the sum of contributions for free 
professions, depending on the city where it is conducted this profession. This amendment of 
the Law, in addition to the effect of economy formalisation, generated a contribution of 2 
percentage points to the growth of total revenues for 2016, from 0.5 percentage points in 
the previous year. 

	V AT revenues, an indirect indicator of the consumption and investments' performance at home, 
contributed by around 1.5 percentage points in the total growth of revenues, from 0.5 in 
2015. 

Box 3. Legal amendments on enhancing fiscal stability

The global crisis effects drove fiscal authorities to face the dilemma on the use of 
fiscal spaces, for the recovery of the economy in the short run, and the recreation 
of these spaces in the long term, through fiscal consolidation. Depending on the 
financial soundness of the private sector, debt level and access to the financial 
markets, many countries chose fiscal consolidation, as an instrument to reduce 
risk premia, to boost confidence in their financial system and to establish the 
needed space to withstand with possible shocks in the future. 

In Albania, fiscal policy pursued a consolidation trend over the last three years. 
Since 2016, the commitment to maintain the soundness of the public finances 
is stipulated in the respective Law. Hence, the Law No.57/2016, dated 
02.06.2016, amends Law No.9936, dated 26.06.2008 “On the Management 
of the Budget System”, aiming at strengthening the fiscal stability. 

These amendments stipulate:

i)	T argeting a downward trajectory of public debt in terms of GDP in every 
budget year; until this ratio reaches the level of 45%I. 

ii)	P rudential forecast of nominal GDP, by not exceeding the latest projections 
of IMF at the moment of compiling the budget plan.

iii)	P lanning a contingency of 0.7% of total expenditure in every annual 
budget law to offset the shocks’ effect on debt, on the exchange rate or 
on the interest rates. 

iv)	A  golden fiscal rule; according to it the planned budget deficit should 
not exceed the programmed capital spending. 

v)	C ontrol on the allocation of budget deficit during the electoral years: 
budget deficit at the end of first quarter, at the end of the six months 
and at the end of nine months, may not exceed 30%, 55% and 80%, 
respectively, of the annual planned level.

The above legal stipulations are a positive step in guaranteeing the stability of 
public finances, to improve fiscal discipline and increase fiscal policy credibility. 
In order for fiscal consolidation to be stable and reliable, it should be supported 
by the adoption of fiscal rules. Fiscal rules are institutional mechanisms that 
improve the fiscal discipline and contribute to the increase of fiscal policy 
credibility. On the other hand, the strengthening of fiscal discipline as perceived 
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by market stakeholders helps to reduce the risk premia in the economy. On 
the other hand, the new legal specifications pave the way to implement a 
counter-cyclical fiscal policy in periods when the economy is expected to grow 
considerably,II thus serving to strike a balance between the strengthening of 
fiscal policy and the stabilising role of fiscal policy.

I	E xception to this rule are only the natural disasters, the financial crises which require the 
intervention from state budget, the declaration of the war, or the cases when the economic 
growth as foreseen from IMF <1%, when the public debt against GDP is lower than 60%. 

II	I n more concrete terms, it is foreseen that in years when real economy growth as foreseen 
by IMF is higher than 5%, the budget deficit is planned at 2% of GDP. 

The worsened balance of trade exchange with abroad provided a negative 
contribution to economic growth in the first nine months of 2016. 

The expansion of net exports’ deficit provided a 
negative contribution to the growth of aggregate 
demand during the first nine months of 2016, 
determined by the recovery of imports driven by a 
higher domestic demand. Total exports expanded 
by around 11.5% in annual terms, mainly driven by 
the growth in services exports by around 22.4%. 
General imports expanded by around 10.4% in 
annual terms, with the main contribution from the 
growth in the import of goods by around 11.4%. 
Financial flows from tourism continued to expand, 
similarly to the previous year. On the other hand, 
the unfavourable conditions of the foreign demand 
and international prices drove to a reduction of 
goods export by around 15.4% in annual terms. 
Nevertheless, goods trade statistics show a recovery 
of exports during 2016 Q4, affected by the increase 
of commodity prices in international markets. 

The higher deficit of net exports has provided the primary contribution to the 
expansion of the current account deficit in the first nine months of the year. The 
positive developments in the services account were insufficient to offset the high 
expansion of goods’ deficit. On the other hand, secondary income account 
21 did not provide any contribution, due to the relative weak performance 
of remittances22. Related to primary income account23, the respective deficit 
21	T he secondary income account includes current transfers of the central government, of 

households and of not-for-profit institutions serving households. Remittances are the main item 
in this account.

22	R emittances recovered considerably in the third quarter and the trend is considered positive 
for the last quarter of 2016, as well. 

23	 Primary income account includes all the flows of the profit from the stock of assets invested 
abroad by residents or in Albania by non-residents. The main item in this account is FDI income.

Chart 12 Contribution of net real exports
(in p.p. to GDP)*

Source: Bank of Albania.
*For 2016, data belong to the ­rst three quarters.
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narrowed, attributable to the higher inflows and lower outflows from direct 
investments.

The current account deficit was financed based on non-debt creating foreign 
currency flows.

The profile of financing the current account deficit continues to be based on non-
debt creating foreign currency flows, in the form of foreign direct investments 
and capital account inflows. The financing by debt-creating flows resulted 
somewhat lower compared to the previous year. At the end of 2016, the 
stock of foreign exchange reserve assets was sufficient to cover 7.2 months of 
imports of goods and services and 170% of the short-term external debt.

Table 2 Main balance of payment items (in EUR million, unless otherwise stated)
  Q2 '15 Q3'15 Q4 '15 Q1 '16 Q2 '16 Q3'16
Current account (in mln euro) -163.2 -312.7 -397.7 -224.2 -353.8 -207.6
/GDP (%) -6.0 -12.1 -14.7 -9.4 -12.6 -7.7
Goods and services -360.6 -476.3 -564.5 -403.3 -555.2 -410.9
 Exports, f.o.b. 705.9 785.0 714.7 608.5 716.8 926.9
 Imports, f.o.b. 1066.5 1261.4 1279.1 1011.9 1272.0 1337.8
 Net Trips 76.4 64.5 51.6 67.3 72.8 153.1
Primary income -12.9 -12.8 -34.2 10.0 -15.1 -6.5
 Loan 34.5 40.0 43.9 50.8 44.9 42.7
 Debit 47.4 52.8 78.1 40.7 60.1 49.2
 Net FDI income -26.4 -27.7 -31.7 -3.8 -23.9 -21.7
Secondary income 210.2 176.4 201.0 169.1 216.6 209.8
 Loan 243.3 219.1 247.2 205.0 249.7 250.3
 Debit 33.0 42.6 46.2 35.9 33.2 40.5

 Remittances - net 161.7 139.7 153.9 135.7 153.6 159.1

Capital account 21.3 45.6 32.8 6.6 7.2 3.1
Net borrowing/net lending -141.9 -267.1 -364.8 -217.7 -346.6 -204.5
Financial account (in EUR million) -177.1 -126.6 -243.3 -163.7 -253.6 -71.9
/GDP (%) -6.5 -4.9 -9.0 -6.8 -9.1 -2.7
Direct investments -196.5 -248.1 -120.0 -143.6 -240.1 -276.4
Portfolio investments -66.8 -11.2 -172.1 107.5 -8.7 -2.1
Financial derivatives 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Other investments 70.0 -179.7 -120.3 -77.9 -4.8 262.7
Reserve assets 16.2 312.5 169.1 -49.6 0.0 -56.1
Errors and omissions -35.2 140.5 121.5 54.0 93.0 132.7

Source: Bank of Albania.

Financial markets and monetary indicators

Developments in financial markets, over 2016, reflected the strengthening of 
accommodative monetary policy stance, in the presence of high liquidity and low 
risk premia. The accommodative monetary policy has been transmitted to all financial 
market segments, and interest rates continued to trend down. In the foreign exchange 
market, the domestic currency continued to appreciate against the euro, driven by 
both supply and demand factors.
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The reduction of financing cost in the financial market was followed by the growth of 
credit in the Albanian lek. Nevertheless, the overall portfolio dynamic continues to be 
limited by a slow recovery of credit demand and tight supply for certain segments. 

The monetary policy was reflected in lower interest rates in the money market.

The interest rates in the interbank market were down over 2016, in line with the 
monetary policy stance. They ranged close to the policy rate, in accordance 
with the operational objective of the Bank of Albania24. The average overnight 
interest rate in this market fell to 1.37% in 2016, from 1.92% in 2015, while 
the one-week rate fell to 1.37%, from 1.93%. Volatility indicators for interbank 
market interest rates were similar to those in the previous year.25

In the primary market of Government’ debt securities, yields on bills and bonds 
in average terms are below the level of the previous year. They had an uneven 
performance over the year, pursuing a strong downward trend in the first half of the 
year, and an upward trend in the second half. In addition to the accommodative 
monetary policy, this performance reflected the dynamics in the demand and 
supply for funds in the primary market. A similar panorama was reflected in the 
yields on bonds. The average yield on 12-month T-Bills fell by 1.5 percentage 
points from the previous year, while the yields on long-term debt instruments fell 
by 2.3 percentage points. This dynamic is reflected in the downward shift of the 
yields curve and its flattening compared to the previous year. 

The interest rates on lek credit to enterprises and households continued to fall. 

The interest rates on new lek credit and deposits fell further over 2016, seeing 
a full pass through of the monetary stimulus of the Bank of Albania. The good 

24	T he operational objective of the Bank of Albania is addressed in more detail in the chapter 
on "Financial market operations and foreign exchange reserve management". 

25	T he standard deviation of the overnight interbank rate for this year was 0.18, from 0.15 in 2015.

Chart 13 Yields curb in the primary market (left) and interbank rates (right)

Source: Bank of Albania.
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liquidity situation, low risk premia and heightened of competition among banks, 
provided the favourable conditions for the transmission of the policy rate cut to 
the interest rates on deposits and loans. The interest rate on new time deposits 
averaged 0.81% in 2016, from 1.35% in 2015. The interest rates applied on 
lek credit to non-financial private sector averaged 7.52%, from 8.07% in 2015. 

Reduction of interest rates on loans fell accross all main segments. Households 
benefited lower interest rates on mortgage loans, by around 1.37 percentage 
points, and on consumer loans, by around 0.73 percentage points. Interest rate 
on loans to enterprises for investments fell by 0.45 percentage points compared 
to the previous year. The unusual dynamic of yields in the primary market, noted 
over 2016, did not drive to increased fluctuation of interest rates on loans. 

The Albanian lek pursued an appreciating trend over 2016.

The domestic currency showed an appreciating trend against the currencies of 
partner countries over 2016. The EUR/ALL exchange rate averaged 137.4 
during this year, with an annual appreciation of 1.7%. The increase of foreign 
currency supply drove to this appreciation. In addition, the EUR/ALL exchange 
rate in the domestic market also reflected a part of EUR/USD exchange 
rate dynamic in the international markets. Thus, the appreciation of the US 
dollar in the international markets was only partially reflected in the USD/ALL 
exchange rate, by affecting the depreciation of the European currency against 
the Albanian lek26. The USD/ALL exchange rate averaged 124.1 over 2016, 
appreciating 1.4% in annual terms. In the international market, the US currency 
appreciated by 0.3% on average against the European currency.

26	O verall, USD/EUR exchange rate in the international markets is mainly reflected in the USD/
ALL exchange rate at home - the annual changes of USD value in ALL in the domestic market 
are close to those of the USD value in EUR in the international market. In 2013-2015, their 
spread is 0.1 percentage points. In 2016, this spread increased at 1.7 percentage points. 

Chart 14 Interest rates in lek

Source: Bank of Albania.
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Also, the lek appreciated against the currencies of two other trading partners, 
Chinese renminbi and Turkish lira. This performance mainly reflected the strong 
depreciation of these two currencies against the US dollar. According to the 
effective measurements,27 the lek recorded an average annual appreciation of 
3.2% in nominal terms, and 3.7% in real terms.

The lending activity improved somewhat, in line with our expectations and the 
expansion of economic activity over 2016, although it remains still slugish. 

Credit to private sector expanded at a contained pace28. This portfolio, 
adjusted for written off loans, recorded an annual increase of 3.2%, faster than 
a year earlier. At the end of the year, credit to private sector was estimated 
around 37.3% of GDP, at the same level with the previous year. The expansion 
of credit reflects the increase of credit in ALL (10.2%) supported by the fall of 
interest rates, the propensity of banks policies towards crediting in the domestic 
currency, and the awareness of the economic agents on the exchange rate 
risk. Credit in foreign currency performed negatively (-1.6%), affected by ALL 
appreciation against EUR. Excluding this effect, credit portfolio to private sector 
recorded an annual growth by around 3.9%.

Credit expansion to private sector shows the good performance of credit to 
households (5.1%), driven by the continuous easing of lending standards, the 
increase of confidence and the improvements in the labour market. Credit 
27	T he nominal effective exchange rate (NEER/REER) is calculated against the currencies of the 

five major trading partners (Italy, Greece, Germany, Turkey and China), using the relevant 
market weights. For the purpose of calculating the lira/lek and the renminbi/lek rates, the 
official reference rates remain those of the Turkish lira and the Chinese renminbi against the 
US dollar. The real effective exchange rate (REER) is calculated similarly to the nominal, but 
it considers the domestic inflation and those in the trading partners, as well.

28	C redit data refer to the monetary data and include the credit granted to residents. The written 
off loans from balance sheet, over 2016, amounted to ALL 14.6 billion. 

Chart 15 Effective exchange rate and EUR/ALL and USD/ALL exchange rates 

Source: Bank of Albania.
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portfolio to enterprises recovered at a contained pace (2.4%), reflecting the still 
tight supply and the fragile demand for financing from this segment. By purpose 
of use, credit to households for consumption and house purchase increased 
faster, also the credit to enterprises for investment purposes. 

Chart 16 Lending to the economy

Source: Bank of Albania.
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Box 4. Lending - an assessment of the impact of credit demand 
and supply

Credit growth to private sector in Albania slowed down considerably after 
the financial crises in 2008, and further after 2011, by showing only signs of 
sluggish recovery. Similar situation is also noted in other Balkan and Central 
European countries. This performance simultaneously reflects the tight standards 
of the supply, driven by the conservative behaviour of the European banks that 
operatein the regional markets, and the weak demand of the private sector for 
financing. 

Chart 17 Change of credit growth as change in demand and supply's 
contributions

Source: Central banks and respective institutions of statistics, authors' estimates. 
Note: The Balkan region includes Serbia, FYROM, Croatia, Bulgaria and Romania. Central Europe 

includes Czech Republic, Poland and Hungary. 
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To better understand the reasons behind this sluggish lending performance, 
a model on the determinants of real credit growth in the Balkan and Central 
European countriesI was updated, by adding the assessment for the period 
2013 - 2016. From the model results, we may filter the contribution provided 
by the demand factors (economic growth and intermediation levelII) and the 
supply factors (growth of deposits, increase of foreign liabilities of the banking 
system, interest rate and non-performing loans) on the credit growthIII. Chart 17 
shows these contributions in the change of credit growth in the period 2009-
2012 (P2) against the period 2005-2008 (P1), and in the period 2013-2016 
(P3) against the period 2009-2012 (P2).

Econometric results show that the strong deceleration of credit growth pace 
in Albania immediately after the crisis of 2008 (2009-2012) was due to the 
simultaneous tightening of both demand and supply’s factors, at a higher 
degree of the latter ones. Related to the demand factors, both, the slowdown 
of economic growth and the need to reduce the financial leverage (positive 
intermediation gap) affected almost at the same degree the reduction of credit 
growth. In terms of supply-side factors, financing sources provided the highest 
impact, in particular, deposits, followed by the increase of non-performing loans. 
The reduction of the real interest rate of credit provided a positive impact, by 
reflecting the easing of the Bank of Albania’s monetary policy. Similar situation 
is also noted in other Balkan and Central European countries. 

In 2013-2016, demand and supply recovered, compared to 2009-2012. 
Nevertheless, it should be noted that compared to the tightening of these factors 
in the period after the crisis, their recovery in the recent years is low for Albania, 
like in the other Balkan countries. In terms of demand factors, the low level of 
financial intermediation (negative intermediation gap), mainly explains the 
growth of credit demand. In terms of supply-side factors, the slower increase 
and then the reduction of non-performing loans provided positive contribution to 
lending, while the increase of external financing is balanced by the slowdown 
of the domestic deposits. The real interest rate provided a positive contribution, 
similar to the previous period. 

The results show that the slow recovery of credit depends on both credit supply 
and demand, both remaining considerably below the levels of the pre-crisis 
years. In addition to the expected growth of credit demand, following the 
further improvement of the economic activity, the recovery of lending pace will 
be conditioned by the risk appetite of banks and the speed to ease the banking 
supply.

I	T his model, initially assessed for the periods 2005-2008 and 2009-2012, explains the 
credit growth to private sector through the economic growth, credit interest rate, deposits, 
foreign borrowing of banks, non-performing loans ratio, intermediation degree of the 
banking system and the exchange rate. The model is described in the working paper “ 
Credit growth determinants in the South Eastern Europe countries”, prepared by Erjona 
Suljoti and Sofika Note. A short version of this material is published in the Summary of 
the Conference “Financial Sector Development: Policies to promote and strengthen local 
capital markets’” page 107.

II	C redit to GDP ratio represents the intermediation level.
III	 Demand and supply factors, according to the applied model, do not explain the complete 

performance of credit. In addition, a set of factors have their impact (specific risk of the 
country, institutional development, banking system development, etc.), whose effect is 
summarised into the specific factor of each country.
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The performance of monetary assets reflected the moderate demand for 
financing from the private sector, and the consolidated nature of the fiscal 
policy.

The monetary supply expanded moderately, at a similar pace with the previous 
year. The growth of monetary supply was driven by the increase of net foreign 
currency assets of the banking system, but it was conditioned by the slow 
increase of the internal demand for funds. The broad money indicator, M3 
aggregate, accelerated its growth over the year, from an average growth rate 
of 0.9% in the first half of year, to an annual growth rate of 3.9% at the end of 
the year. Money structure shifted toward the liquid component, mainly driven 
by the fast growth of demand deposits. 

Expansion of deposits in the banking system continues to reflect the rapid 
growth of liquid deposits.

Banking system continued to withdraw the deposits of economic agents, 
particularly in foreign currency. Deposits stock, as at end of December, was 
around 4.9% higher in annual terms, accounting for around 73.7% of GDP, 
or around 1.1 percentage points higher from the previous year. Developments 
by time structure show a shift toward demand deposits. Such shifts were also 
noticed in deposits of over two-year maturity, but at a lesser extent. This year 
was characterised by a good performance of both households and enterprises’ 
deposits, with an average annual growth of 1.9% and 7.6%, respectively. 

Chart 18 Monetary supply and deposits in the banking system

Source: Bank of Albania.
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2.2.	Monetary operations is the money market 

The Bank of Albania implements its monetary policy by using indirect market 
instruments. They include open market operations, standing facilities and the required 
reserve. The main market operations are the repurchase and the reverse repurchase 
agreement of seven-day maturity, whose interest rate represents the policy rate. 

Open market operations

Open market operations consist in three sub-items: the main operations; fine-
tuning operations; and structural operations. They are used for the short-term 
management of liquidity in the money market, aiming at accomplishing Bank 
of Albania’s operational objective – orienting short-term interbank interest rates 
close to Bank of Albania’s policy rate and limiting their fluctuations. 

During 2016, as well as in the previous two years, the overnight interbank rate 
floated very close to the key rate, deviating by 0.07 percentage point. The 
one-week interbank rate stood on average around 6 percentage points below 
the policy rate, but with a higher fluctuation than the previous year. For the 
second successive year, structural surplus of liquidity in a part of the banking 
system have driven liquidity trading in the interbank market below the policy 
rate of the Bank of Albania. Also, interbank trading for maturities longer than 
one week was very rare over 2016. 

During 2016, the average injected liquidity by the Bank of Albania through 
open market operations amounted to ALL 24 billion, from ALL 29.50 billion in 
2015, and ALL 24.50 billion in 2014. The need for liquidity by commercial 
banks has been increasing throughout the year, from the average level of ALL 
10 billion in the first quarter, to ALL 30 billion in the last quarter. 

Table 3 The structure of the liquidity injecting operations by the Bank of Albania
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Main instrument 55% 58% 74% 55% 60% 64% 55% 80.7%
Long-term injections 45% 42% 26% 45% 40% 36% 45% 19.3%
Source: Bank of Albania. 

During 2016, the Bank of Albania has carried out structural operations, by 
purchasing and selling Treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance, in order to 
reduce the ownership in some 3- and 6-month issues where the concentration 
was over 60%.The total amount of T-bills owned by the Bank of Albania has not 
changed since the end of 2015, when the portfolio decreased. 

Standing facilities

Standing facilities – overnight deposits and overnight loans at the Bank of 
Albania are instruments available to commercial banks to manage liquidity on 
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a daily basis and to define a corridor in which interest rates fluctuate in the 
interbank market. This corridor narrowed in April 2016, from 3.50 percentage 
points to 2.50 percentage points and, since the last cut of Bank of Albania’s 
policy rate in May, the overnight deposit stands at 0.25%, and the overnight 
loan at 2.25%. During 2016, the overnight deposit was used more frequently 
by banks, but at lower daily average levels than in the previous year (110 
cases with an average level at ALL 2.9 billion). The same trend is observed for 
the use of the overnight loan, which is rarely used by the banks (25 cases with 
an average level of ALL 1.7 billion over 2016). 

Required reserve

The level of the required reserve is applied to the amount corresponding to 10% 
on deposits up to two years of the commercial banks, denominated in lek, euro 
and US dollar. The required reserve in lek is a monetary policy instrument that 
aims to adjust liquidity in the banking system and stabilize interest rates. The 
Bank of Albania allows banks to use up to 40% of the required reserve in lek 
on a daily basis, while observing the obligation to keep the monthly average 
level of the required reserve not lower than the level specified for it. 

The performance of the required reserve has been in line with the performance 
of the deposits that are subject to this instrument. The remuneration ratio on the 
lek required reserve reflected the performance of the Bank of Albania’s policy 
rate (70% of the policy rate). Starting from September 2016 the banks pay for 
the required reserve in euro an interest rate equal to the deposits rate of the 
European Central Bank. 

The remuneration rate on the surplus reserves in lek and US dollars has remained 
0% during 2016, whereas the remuneration rate on the surplus reserves in 
euro has changed: it was determined 0.25 percentage points lower than the 
deposits’ interest rate of the European Central Bank. 

2.3 Financial stability and banking system 
performance 

Financial stability is considered fulfilled when the financial system is able to realize 
an efficient distribution of resources, by assessing and controlling the financial risks. 
The role of the Bank of Albania for securing and safeguarding financial stability is 
defined in the Law “On the Bank of Albania”. This Law, in addition to the primary 
objective of achieving and maintaining price stability, lays down as one of the 
main objective of the Bank of Albania the promoting of the normal functioning of 
the banking system based on market principles, as well as duties related with the 
achievement of this objective like, the supervision of the banking activity in order to 
secure the stability of the banking system, promotion of developments of payment 
systems, as well as issuing acts that aim to secure the sustainability of the banking 
system. Also, in compliance with the obligations deriving from this Law, the Bank 
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of Albania publishes twice a year the Financial Stability Report and the relevant 
financial system statement that prefaces the report. This document contains an 
analysis of the situation and the performance of the banking sector and the financial 
system, identifies risks that may affect financial stability, as well as measures and 
initiatives that may be undertaken to mitigate or prevent these risks and safeguard 
financial stability.

Bank of Albania’s activity for safeguarding the financial 
stability

In exercising its critical role to secure and safeguard financial stability, the Bank 
of Albania identifies the risks, assesses their size and their potential spill over, 
analyses their causes and the determining factors, and assesses the necessary 
corrective actions to avoid or mitigate the impact of risks on financial stability. 
In fulfilling its legal obligation toward financial stability, the Bank of Albania 
communicates regularly with all public authorities, the financial industry and the 
public, as important stakeholders in achieving financial stability. 

During 2016, in line with the medium-term strategic objectives, the Bank of 
Albania has been working to enhance and improve the existing indicators, 
methodologies, analyses and models related with the: 

•	 macro-prudential policy and its instruments, as well as the adaptation 
from the operational standpoint of these instruments;

•	 methods that are used for the assessment of the systemic risk and the 
identification of the regulatory requirements for systemically important 
banks;

•	 modelling capacities for the assessment of the impact of various risks on 
the banking and financial system.

The work on addressing the objectives, the identification of the instruments 
and indicators related with the macro-prudential policy is based on the 
recommendations of the European Systemic Risk Board (ESRB) and the 
standards of the Financial Stability Board. These policies generally focus on 
identifying warning systems and instruments for the treatment of: preservation 
of stable/optimal levels of crediting and financial leverage; mitigation and 
prevention of significant mismatch between assets and liabilities maturities in 
the balance sheet of the financial institutions and the preservation of liquidity 
in the market; limitation of direct and indirect exposures concentrations of the 
financial activities to risk sources; limitation of the systemic impact of negative 
stimulating factors and the strengthening of the sustainability of the financial 
system. 

In terms of identifying the macro-prudential policy, the Bank of Albania has been 
working during this year in drafting a general framework of this policy, which in 
view of possible legal improvements as well, will define the principles and the 
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methods of its use. In parallel, for the development of macro-prudential policy 
instruments and the construction of the indicators used in the implementation 
of the macro-prudential policy, the Bank of Albania has been working in 
determining the signalling indicators of stress situations in the financial system 
and the assessment of the financial cycle, in order to develop methodologies 
that show the operationalization manner of the relevant instruments. Amongst 
these instruments, which may be used in the future to deal with risks in relevant 
segments of the financial, are: the implementation of the quantitative limits of 
the indicators ‘credit to collateral value’, ‘credit (debt) to income value’ – this 
mainly in the case of mortgages29 and ‘debt service ratio’30. 

During 2016, the Bank of Albania has been working toward enhancing the 
methods and the indicators used for the identification, assessment and prevention 
of systemic risks. Specifically, the existing methodology to identify systematically 
important banks has been improved by adopting the approach of the European 
Banking Authority (EBA) for the quantitative determination of the critical limit 
mark of systemic importance, based on which these banks are identified. Also, 
based on the EBA methodology, the Risk Map is prepared, which is part of the 
internal analyses on financial stability issues. Bank of Albania has worked to 
consolidate, strengthen and integrate in periodic analyses the results of surveys 
or assessments of different indicators, i.e. “Systemic risk by the banking sector 
perception” or the “systemic financial stress” index.
 
Regarding the objective of strengthening the modelling capacities within the 
framework of assessing the financial stability risks, the Bank of Albania has 
been working toward the determination of the financial cycle, the improvement 
of the methodologies associated with the exercise of top-down and bottom-up 
stress test, more effective use of financial modelling that assess the interaction 
between macro-economic developments and the banking sector activity, as 
well as the method of determining the capital requirement for the systemically 
important financial institutions. These models and methodologies are improved 
continuously by reflecting the improvement of the international standards in this 
regard.

The communication of the Bank of Albania with the public and other actors 
is realized through the periodic publication of documents like the Financial 
Stability Report and the Financial Stability Statement , various research papers 
that deal with the methodology, analyses and assessments for particular aspects 
or issues related with the banking sector and the financial system activity, as 
well as other publications of the Bank of Albania, including press releases and 
the speeches of the administrators. An important forum for decision-making, 
collaboration and public communication of the analyses and the relevant 
decisions related with the financial stability is the Financial Stability Advisory 
Group (FSAG). The FSAG during its meetings in 2016 has analysed regularly 

29	 Quarterly survey with commercial banks.
30	T he indicator is based on the data collected from the survey on “The financial situation and 

the borrowing of households”.
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the situation of the banking sector and of the financial system, as well as it has 
assessed the different risks about sustainability of the system and the progress 
of its activity. Meeting press releases are published in the internet websites of 
the participating institutions.

Banking sector performance

The banking sector remains the main segment of financial intermediation in 
Albania. As at end of 2016, the share of its assets stood at 95.8% of the Gross 
Domestic Product (GDP), up by 4.5 percentage points compared with the previous 
year. The expansion in the securities portfolio provided the main impact in the 
increase of the sector’s assets. Loans and deposits grew by 2.5% and 5.2%, 
respectively. The banking sector consists of 16 banks. Four large banks share 
about 70% of the deposits and manage about 65% of loans given by the sector. 
The banking sector activity during 2016 was stable and supportive to financial 
stability safeguarding. The main financial indicators of the banking sector activity: 
capitalisation, liquidity and profitability indicators show that the banking system 
has the ability to withstand internal and external shocks. These assessments are 
supported by the results of the stress test exercises on solvency and liquidity risk, 
which the Bank of Albania performs periodically several times a year. 

Financial result and profitability indicators

The average indicators of profitability decreased during 2016. The net financial 
result of the banking sector was positive, around ALL 9.3 billion, compared 
to ALL 15.7 billion in 2015. The average trend of banking sector profitability 
indicators confirm that RoA decreased at 0.7% (from 1.2% in the previous year) 
while RoE decreased at 7.2% (from 13.2% in the previous year). The main 
factor that affected the contraction of profitability of the banking system was the 
increase by around ALL 6 billion of the provisioning expenses on credit risk. On 
the other hand, despite the re-pricing (declining) of the deposits interest rates 
and the decrease of the share of time deposits (costlier), net interest income 
have decreased their contribution in the financial results. The net interest margin 
decreased at 4.2%, from 4.4% in the previous year. 

Banking business capitalisation

During 2016, risk-bearing assets registered a relatively higher increase 
compared with regulatory capital. Hence, the capital adequacy ratio fell by 
around 0.3 percentage point, standing at 15.7%, compared with the previous 
year. However, the capital adequacy ratio remains notably higher than the 12% 
required minimum, laid down in the regulatory framework. Good capitalisation 
remains a feature of the banking system and it has been maintained due to 
the continued positive values in the net financial result. The structure of the 
regulatory capital appears favourable in terms of the banking system’s capacity 
to cover potential losses, as the core capital continues to account for 87.9% 
of it.
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Risk assessment and their management

Credit risk

During 2016, the Bank of Albania continued to closely monitor the lost 
loans write off from balance sheets, as part of implementing the regulatory 
obligations31. Throughout the period, the Bank of Albania has gathered data 
on the execution process of the obligation, as part of the banking sector’s 
effort to collect non-performing loans. Also, the Bank of Albania continued to 
implement the countercyclical measures undertaken since May 2013, which 
contain incentives to channel banking surplus sector liquidity toward lending 
to economy, and support the early restructuring of loans. The impact of these 
measures, throughout their implementation period, was assessed as positive. 
In December 2016, the non-performing loans accounted for 18.3% of the 
loan portfolio, maintaining almost the same ratio of the previous year. The 
increase of this ratio in the first nine months of the year was offset by the last 
quarter of the year, where the decrease of non-performing loans brought the 
decrease of the ratio. At the same time the coverage ratio of non-performing 
loans loss provisions, registered 70.5%, tightening slightly by 0.3 percentage 
point against the last level of 2015. 

During 2016, banks have been less active the in the process of write off 
of lost loans from their balance sheets, removing from the balance sheets a 
portfolio of ALL 14.6 billion. There was a significant progress in 2016 toward 
the implementation of the Action Plan for the reduction of non-performing 
loans. In addition to the amendments in some regulatory acts of the Bank of 
Albania, at the end of the year, the Parliament approved some significant legal 
amendments, in particular the Law “On bankruptcy” and the amendments in the 
Law “On bailiffs”. The Bank of Albania deems that these legal amendments will 
give banks and other actors involved in the process of problematic borrowing 
resolution significant instruments to improve the efficiency of the process and 
accelerate the decrease of non-performing loans in the banking sector.

Market risk

The Bank of Albania monitors carefully the developments related to the market 
risk and the direct and indirect impact from possible fluctuations in the exchange 
rate and the interest rate on the banking sector’s activity. Owing to the mismatch 
between interest rate-sensitive assets and liabilities, the sector is exposed to a 
fast increase in the interest rate. Although the probability of the fast increase of 
the rate is actually low, the Bank of Albania recommended banks to include the 
assessment of this risk in their analyses, and to act to minimise this risk in case 
it is deemed as important. The level of net open position in foreign currency 
appears down compared with the previous year, suggesting a limited exposure 

31	 Starting from January 2015, banks are forced by regulatory requirements to undertake the 
process of cleaning the balance sheets – the write off from balance sheets of the loans that 
are found in the “lost” category for more than 3 years.
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to the exchange rate risk (volatility). In December 2016, at sector level, the 
open position of foreign currency was “long”, at 7.0% of the regulatory capital, 
from 7.7% in December 2015. 

The indirect impact of potential exchange rate volatility on the banking activity 
indicators is important. In the event of unfavourable exchange rate fluctuations, 
the most probable impacting channel is the credit quality in foreign currency, 
when the borrowers’ income is in lek. Although, this credit portfolio has been 
downward during the period, exchange rate volatilities may affect considerably 
the solvency of borrowers. The unhedged foreign currency credit accounts for 
26.6% of credit outstanding, down by 1 percentage point form the end of 
2015. The trend noted in recent years, for the expansion of crediting mainly 
in the Albanian lek, has contributed to the reduction of the above-mentioned 
exposure; therefore, both, banking industry and economic agents, should 
provide more support in this regard. 

Liquidity risk

Liquidity position of the banking sector stands at good levels. Bank of Albania 
assesses that banking system exposure to liquidity risk is low. Stress test exercise 
on liquidity risk shows that banking sector in Albania owns sufficient regulatory 
capital and liquidity reserves to withstand strong shocks caused by adverse 
economic and financial developments, domestically or abroad. In December 
2016, liquidity indicators, stated as the ratio of liquid assets to total assets and 
the ratio of liquidity assets to short-term liabilities, were 31.3% and 40.6%, 
respectively. All banks have maintained liquidity ratios significantly above the 
required minimum levels laid down in the applicable regulatory framework. 
The ratio of credit to deposit value was around 52%. Deposits remain the main 
source of funding the banking sector activity. Overall, deposits have a low 
concentration, which has been downward since the end of 2014. During the 
year, commitments undertaken by parent banks in the form of lines of financing 
expanded. In December 2016, credit lines accounted for 0.9% of total assets 
of the sector, compared with 0.42% in December 2015.Only 30% of the total 
credit line was used. 

Monitoring systemic risk

The construction of adequate indicators for the identification of systemic risk in 
the financial system is a significant and persistent challenge for regulators. The 
Bank of Albania, in the framework of developing macro-prudential policies, 
monitors the developments in the systemic risk through some indicators and 
methodologies, which assess its various aspects. For 2016, the accumulation 
of the systemic risk increased compared to the previous year, reflecting the 
developments in real estate prices and external debt in foreign currency. In 
contrast, the materialisation of the systemic risk has declined due to improved 
credit quality to enterprises and households, the decrease of the unemployment 
rate and the lower exposure of banks to the exchange rate risk. 
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2.4 Banking supervision 

Bank of Albania’s supervision is based on three pillars: licencing, regulation and 
supervision. The latter is carried out through off-site surveillance and on-site inspections. 
The constant supervision and regulation of financial activities in Albania, mainly of 
banking activities, are at the focus of this function and represent its main activities32.

The focus of the Bank of Albania in the supervision function has been the 
meeting of targets for ongoing monitoring, through on-site inspections and off-
site analyses of banks’ risk level and their management performance. Particular 
attention has been given to the monitoring of risks to which the financial 
institutions are more exposed, as well as to financial institutions that constitute a 
special importance for the proper functioning of the financial system in Albania. 
There has been enhanced supervision attention not only to particularly important 
financial institutions, but also to other financial institutions with problems, which 
have the potential to materialize risks, and therefore losses. Bank of Albania’s 
actions aimed at the prevention of adverse events through an approach aimed 
at their early identification and the assessment of risks and their impact in view 
of the future. The work to fulfil these functions is performed in parallel with the 
development of domestic capacity, review and improvement of the supervision 
structure, the roles and responsibilities, as well as through the cooperation and 
coordination with other regulatory authorities, domestically and abroad. 

In addition to the regular activity for the supervision of the licenced subjects, 
resources are focused on the implementation of the medium-term strategy 
objectives of the Bank of Albania. In this context, actions have been undertaken 
towards:

Consolidation of risk-based supervision 

In this regard, the final document of the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment 
Process (ICAAP) was prepared. This document is drafted in compliance with 
Pillar II of Basel II and sets out the criteria on internal assessment by banks of 
the needs for capital based on their perceived risk levels. It is being discussed 
with banks and is expected to be approved during 2017. Likewise, Recovery 
and Resolution Plans of systemic banks were also revised, by reassessing the 
internal processes in place to prevent adverse events as well as to assess the 
readiness to react.

Also, the supervision organizational structure was revised, allowing its regrouping in 
function of work processes. Thus, it was provided the possibility for off-site analyses 
harmonization with on-site control of banks, work-flow processes were revised, an 
equal approach for entities with similar activities was ensured. New processes 
were established. These developments also dictated the need for increasing the 
supervision structure capacities of human resources. 

32	T he Bank of Albania publishes detailed data on the developments in the banking sector and 
the banking process in the Supervision Annual Reports. 
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Alignment of supervision practices with the European standards

The Bank of Albania, within its objectives for aligning the supervision practices 
with the applicable practices in the countries of the European Union as well as 
for drafting the methodologies that reflect the latest developments is this regard, 
has collaborated with the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development 
on a project to review risk direction and management issues for the banks. The 
aim is to revise the structures of governance, Steering Council and established 
committees structures; their composition, responsibilities and role in promoting 
an efficient and transparent control environment; governance focused on risk 
management; assessment and regulation of remuneration policies; assessment 
and regulation of compatibility and internal control. To analyse the adequacy 
and the potential needs for review and reassessment of the above mentioned 
elements, the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development will focus on 
assessing their implementation in the legal and regulatory framework, as well as 
internal documents that support this process. The project started in 2016 and is 
expected to end in 2017.

Reconceptualization and development of the Early Warning 
System methodology and policy 

This system consists in the periodical analysis of several key indicators of financial 
performance assessment of banks and it early warns about developments that 
need increased supervisory attention. This methodology serves as a rather 
good support of off-site analyses, by drawing attention toward risks that should 
be considered. In this regard, the aim is to increase risk control quality, through 
staff specialization, indicators’ extension and combination of off-site analyses 
with on-site inspections. 

Addressing non-performing loans

During 2016, the reinforced horizontal review of non-performing loans trend 
and the efforts undertaken by the banks to address the phenomenon were 
fulfilled. The Bank of Albania has communicated with the banks of the system, 
addressing the issue of portfolio quality in terms of dealing with non-performing 
borrowers as well as writing off loans categorized as lost in compliance with 
the relevant regulatory obligation. At the same time, the Bank of Albania has 
requested each bank to draft and present the Recovery and Resolution Plans on 
large borrowers, as defined in the relevant regulatory framework on major risk 
management as well. At the end of 2016, banks were also required to formalize 
the strategies for the reduction of non-performing loans, their implementation, 
the forecast of the impact in the budget accompanied by requirements for their 
periodic monitoring. The progress of these requirements will continue to be 
monitored more frequently during 2017.

The development of the implementation of the national plan of measures on 
addressing the non-performing loans also received special attention. Two of the 
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most important issues of this plan, which constitutes a direct commitment of the 
Bank of Albania, are the solution for the 35 largest borrowers as well as out-
of-court debt restructuring. In collaboration with the World Bank, following the 
international experience in addressing these problems, it is expected to finalize 
in the near future two important products: the guideline on loan restructuring, 
which will completely revise the current guidelines according to the best 
international principles; and the creation of a formal framework for banks’ 
cooperation on addressing the problematic of common borrowers. 

As part of the implementation of the national plan, in 2016, several changes 
were undertaken on the clarification of the concept of loan writing off from the 
balance sheet, the review of the supervision treatment of real estate taken into 
ownership as a consequence of the legal proceedings for the execution of the 
non-performing loans’ collaterals, the review of the regulatory framework to 
facilitate the sale of non-performing loans, as well as some needed improvements 
in the credit registry.

Enhancing supervisory capacities

With the support of the TAIEX programme of the European Union, in 2016, 
a  cooperation project started with the Bank of Italy, which aims at providing 
technical assistance for the supervision on several dimensions, such as: 

•	 Starting the work on the implementation of the supervision requirements 
under Basel III, by reviewing the regulatory framework on liquidity risk. 

•	 Reviewing the Regulation “On capital adequacy ratio” and identifying 
the needs to amend it, in order to further align it with the requirements 
of Basel II & III, as well as drafting an action plan for their addressing. 

•	 Capacity building of internal supervision, to ensure a better assessment 
of the criteria used by banks for lending, by defining the criteria for the 
financial analysis assessment that banks perform for their borrowers 
as well as assessing the possibility of defining the limits of the main 
financial indicators for various sectors of the economy. 

•	 Reviewing the Early Warning System with a view to improving  off-site 
analyses.

•	 Reviewing the regulatory framework in force for electronic money 
institutions.

Review of the legal and regulatory framework 

The drafting and the review of the supervision regulatory framework was aimed 
at supplementing and improving it continuously by the supervision authority, in 
order to ensure compliance with the requirements of the Law on banks and the 
alignment with the directives and the regulations  of the European Union (EU), 
the standards of the Basel Committee on an effective banking supervision, 
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the better practices in this area, by also considering the developments and 
problems of the banking system. The main regulatory changes are provided in 
the following.
 

•	 In response to the encountered problems, the Regulation “On minimum 
safety requirements on premises where banking and financial activities 
are carried out and on the transport of monetary values”, by redefining 
the minimum safety requirements in premises where banking and/or 
financial activities are carried out, as well as the transport of monetary 
values. This Regulation took also into account the various problems 
faced by the inspections carried out in banks’ branches and agencies, 
in non-bank financial institutions as well as in foreign exchange bureaus. 
During the year, this Regulation was revised to include in the criteria of 
physical safety the activities of savings and loan associations as well, 
after the legal and regulatory amendments mentioned above.

•	 The Bank of Albania led the process for the thorough review of the legal 
and regulatory framework on the functioning and the supervision of the 
savings and loan associations. In collaboration with the World Bank 
and with the stakeholders the Law on the functioning of the savings and 
loan association was drafted and then approved by the Parliament of 
Albania in May 2016. In compliance with this Law, the entire regulatory 
framework on the supervision of the savings and loan association 
was revised, which consists in the regulation of the licencing process, 
the regulation on the risk management criteria in the activity of these 
institutions, as well as the reporting system for the periodic information 
on their financial activity. These amendments brought also profound 
structural changes in the number and size, as well as in the restructuring 
of these institutions’ activity.

•	 The Regulation “On licensing and activity of banks and branches of 
foreign banks in the Republic of Albania” was revised in part, in order 
to ensure compliance and consistency with the concepts used in the 
Supervision Policy document.

•	 The Regulation “On licensing and activity of non-bank financial 
entities” and the Regulation “On licensing, organization, activity and 
supervision of foreign exchange bureaus” were revised simultaneously 
and interdependently. The amendments aimed at ensuring a more 
effective supervision approach to electronic money and non-bank 
financial institutions, by increasing the responsibility of the institutions 
themselves associated with their agents, in accordance with the 
requirements of EU directives in the payment area. Likewise, in the 
context of implementing measures to reduce non-performing loans, 
some easing requirements were stipulated on the capital level of 
institutions that purchase non-performing loans (non-performing loans 
managing companies).

•	 The Regulation “On capital adequacy ratio” and the Regulation “On 
the management of credit risk by banks and branches of foreign banks” 
were amended at the same time, in light of the commitments of the Bank 
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of Albania in the plan of measures to reduce non-performing loans.
•	 The Regulation “On licensing and activity of non- bank financial institutions” 

and the Regulation “On electronic payment instruments”, were reviewed 
at the same time, based largely on the provisions of EU directives on the 
activity of electronic money institutions, as well as taking into account the 
development of these institutions in the Albanian market.

•	 The draft-law “On recovery and resolution of banks in the Republic 
of Albania” was finalized, and was approved by the Parliament 
of Albania in December 2016. It was drafted with regard to the 
respective EU directive and aims to provide the Bank of Albania (the 
Resolution Authority) with a set of legal instruments for a rather early 
and rapid intervention in the case of a bank in unfavourable positions.

Box 5 The law on “Bank recovery and resolution” 

The Law on the recovery and resolution in banks in the Republic of Albania sets 
out a clear legal framework for the recovery and the resolution of banks, when 
they face financial crises, and it aims to align partially the Albanian legislation 
with the Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council 
of 15 May 2014 (Banking Recovery and Resolution Directive). 

The provisions laid down in this Law provide the Bank of Albania, as the 
Resolution Authority, with a set of legal instruments to intervene early and rapidely 
enough in the case a bank is in an unfavourable position, in order to ensure the 
continuity of the critically important financial and economic functions of the bank, 
always by minimizing the effect in the economy and in the financial system. 

The Law applies on banks licenced by the Bank of Albania that conduct their 
activity in the territory of the Republic of Albania. 

The Law provides four main resolution tools: the bridge bank, the sale of business, 
the asset separation and the bail-in. While the bridge bank is already known 
in the banking legislation, the other tools are provided for the first time in a 
particular legislation on recovery and resolution of problematic banks. 

The implementation of the tools provided in the Law takes into account the 
principle of proportionality based on the nature of the activity, shareholding 
structure, legal format, risk profile, size and legal status, relationship with other 
institutions and the financial system in Albania, scope and complexity of banks’ 
activity, their participation in the shielding schemes or any other common system. 

In order to implement the instruments laid down in the Law, specific provisions 
are in place related to the creation, use and management of the resolution fund. 
This fund is financed mainly by the annual contribution and the extraordinary 
contributions by the banks, and are managed by the Deposit Insurance Agency. 
The target level of the fund is projected to be fulfilled within a 10-year transitory 
period from the entering into force of this Law.
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On-site examinations

Following the risk-based supervision model, the importance of off-site analyses 
has grown. However, on-site examinations have a primary role in terms of on-
site examination of the quality of the internal policies and their implementation, 
establishment of adequate processes of risk management, implementation of the 
regulatory supervision framework, of the best international standards, as well 
as the verification of the accuracy of the reported information. During 2016, 
ten full-scope and partial examinations were performed in banks and non-bank 
financial institutions, 14 examinations in savings and loan associations, and 
5 examinations in foreign exchange bureaus. Of them,13 examinations were 
realized with the collaboration of the Deposit Insurance Agency, 3 examinations 
were realised in collaboration with the General Directorate for the Prevention 
of Money Laundering, and 1 examination in collaboration with the Albanian 
Financial Supevisory Authority.

The main objective of the examinations is to determine a thoroughly 
comprehensive risk profile for the licenced entities. Banks’ examinations 
have identified the activities’ areas which need improvements, while relevant 
recommendations are provided, as follows: 

•	 Governance and supervision role of the steering bodies. The 
accountability of these bodies has been intensified by defining their 
direct responsibility for addressing the problems identified in the bank’s 
management to ensure at all times compliance with the regulatory 
requirements, maintaining a steady activity and the anticipation of 
certain situations. 

•	 Strategic planning and setting of objectives. The need was identified 
and a recommendation was made for a clear definition of the activity 
objectives, accompanied with the planning and providing of the 
necessary human, financial, and technological resources, for their 
realisation. 

•	 Control systems efficiency. It was identified the need for a more adequate 
separation of responsibilities, delegation, providing independence, 
increasing professionalism in order to increase the performance of the 
control systems in the banks. 

•	 Capital adequacy. An assessment was made of the indicator’s calculation 
accuracy by identifying regulatory implementation deficiencies and the 
material impact in the indicators as well as the responsibilities of the 
relevant structures. 

•	 Credit risk assessment and the creation of adequate reserves. The need 
was identified to revise loans classification and the creation of the 
relevant reserve funds to match the assessed level of risk. A policy review 
was recommended for a more careful approach to credit risk, ensuring 
appropriate guarantees, the early identification of deterioration signs to 
adapt continuously to the conditions of the economic environment. 

•	 The non-performing loans recovery and the treatment of properties 
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acquired by legal proceedings have attracted the supervision’s attention 
due to the increased share in the recent years, albeit at a modest size 
against banks’ main activity. Based on the conclusion of the audit, 
it was recommended to maximize the efforts to increase the income 
from the recovery in order to increase available funds, by fulfilling the 
primary goal of banking activity, financial intermediation. 

•	 Transparency with customers. Efforts were made and spaces were 
found to improve the quality of the information provided to customers, 
in terms of expansion of products and services, technology progress 
and the combination of financial activities with each other.

The focus on safety and physical protection of banks was expanded during 
the examinations carried out in 2016. In parallel with regulatory amendments 
and on-site examinations, the Bank of Albania has also collaborated with the 
Albanian Association of Banks and other stakeholders to address the issues of 
funds safety management.

During the examination of other licenced financial institutions, the following 
main areas were identified that should be addressed further:

•	 Compliance with regulatory indicators, mainly the capitalization level. 
•	 Completion of the management bodies.
•	 Regular reporting of financial information to the Bank of Albania.
•	 Improvement of the identification and analysis processes for the 

prevention of money laundering and terrorism financing.

At the conclusion of the examinations, the Bank of Albania recommended 
the necessary improvements and followed rigorously their implementation. 
Supervisory measures were implemented as well on some entities, for which 
repeated violations of the regulatory requirements were identified. 

Collaboration with foreign authorities 

With the creation of a Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM) at the European 
Central Bank in November 2014 and considering the active presence in 
Albania of branches of large groups of European banks, the Bank of Albania 
and the European Central Bank are in the process of drafting a complete 
agreement that will regulate all the cooperation areas and aspects, which is 
in the approval phase at the European Central Bank. After the prior approval 
of this document’s format, which will be used as a benchmark standard to 
formalize the cooperation with the regional countries, the agreement will be 
signed and the method of implementation will be negotiated. 
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Licencing and approvals

The Albanian banking sector continues to be dominated by EU-based banking 
group subsidiaries. Currently, there are 16 banks exercising their activity in the 
Republic of Albania.

Table 4 Banks’ ownership structure (number of banks at period-end)
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Banks in Albania, of which: 16 16 16 16 16 16
Branches of foreign banks 2 0 0 0 0 0
Banks’ ownership structure, by capital origin, of 
which:
Majority foreign owned1 14 14 14 14 13 13
-	 EU2 10 10 10 10 9 9
-	 Turkey3 1 1 1 1 1 1

-	 Owned by IFIs (Saudi Arabia)4 1 1 1 1 1 1

-	 Kuwait5 1 1 1 1 1 1
-	 Swiss Confederation6 1 1 1 1 1 1
Majority Albanian owned7 2 2 2 2 3 3

1	 “Majority” is in any case the simple majority of 50 per cent plus 1 vote.
2	 Banks with capital origin from EU countries are from: Italy (Intesa Sanpaolo Albania, Veneto 

Banka), Austria (Raiffeisen), Germany (Procredit), France (Societe Generale Albania), Greece 
(Banka Tirana, Alpha Bank Albania, NBG Albania), Bulgaria (First Investments Bank Albania). 

3	 National Commercial Bank.
4	 United Bank of Albania.
5	C redit Bank of Albania.
6	I nternational Commercial Bank.
7	 Majority Albanian owned banks at the end of 2016 are: Union Bank, Credins Bank and 

American Bank of Investments.

During 2016, the Bank of Albania approved the transfer of the (indirect) 
qualifying holding of the shareholders’ capital of a bank, as well as assessed 
and approved three applications submitted by banks to increase the financial 
activities permitted in the licencing annex: exercising the transferable securities 
trading, factoring and trading transactions financing, insurance and reinsurance 
intermediation, etc.

Banks submitted applications for their bank network regarding both expansion 
and reduction (closure, merger/transfer) of branches/agencies in the country. 
Following these changes, the number of branches/agencies within the country 
at the end of 2016 was 493, from 500 at the end of 2015.

In this year, the Bank of Albania granted new licences and its approval for 
financial institutions, subject to its licencing and supervisory framework. In 
2016, four non-bank financial institutions were licenced, to conduct lending, 
factoring, financial leasing, payment services and money transfer activities, 
and 3 existing licences were revoked. The number of licenced non-bank 
financial institutions was 28 at the end of year. Also, 3 approvals were 
granted to conduct additional financial activities, and 3 approvals for the 
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transfer of qualifying holdings of capital quotes/shares of non-bank financial 
institutions.

Table 5. Number of banks and financial institutions licenced by the Bank of 
Albania (end of period)

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
Banks and branches of foreign banks 16 16 16 16 16 16
Non-bank financial institutions 19 21 21 22 27 28
Foreign exchange bureaus 301 322 333 356 397 428
Unions of savings and loan associations 2 2 2 2 2 2
Savings and loan associations 126 126 121 113 111 13

Source: Bank of Albania. 

The licencing of foreign exchange bureaus continued the upward trend during 
2016 as well. Thirty-nine new foreign exchange bureaus were licensed. Eight 
licenced entities that exercised the foreign exchange activity returned their 
licenses to the Bank of Albania for termination of activities. As a result, the number 
of foreign exchange bureaus was 428. This year recorded the finalisation of 
the reorganising process of savings and loan associations, through the merger 
by absorption of 98 savings and loan associations on the base of the existing 
savings and loan associations. As at the end of 2016, there were 13 savings 
and loan associations and 2 unions of savings and loan associations.

2.5 currency issue 

The Bank of Albania has the exclusive right for the issue and circulation of the national 
currency – the Albanian lek. It determines the form, dimensions, weight, model, and 
other features of Albanian banknotes and coins of legal tender in Albania, as well 
as coins and banknotes for numismatic purposes.

banknotes in circulation33

At the end of 2016, there were 131,202,354 banknotes in circulation, 
worth around ALL 254.722 billion. Compared with 2015, the number of 
banknotes in circulation increased by around 5.9 million banknotes, while 
their value increased by 8.2%. The change in these indicators is attributable 
to the continuing change in the structure in favour of 5000 Lekë and 2000 
Lekë banknotes. Also the volume of payment requests by commercial banks 
increased by 25.9%. The average value of a banknote in circulation at the end 
of 2016 was ALL 1941, from ALL 1878 at the end of 2015.

33	I t is the number and value of banknotes put in circulation by the Bank of Albania.
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Coins in circulation 

At the end of 2016, there were 170,494,419 coins in circulation, worth 
ALL 4.098 billion. Compared with 2015, the number of coins in circulation 
increased by 7.6% and their value by 7.9%. At the end of 2016, the overall 
coin to banknotes ratio was almost unchanged from the previous year.

Chart 19 Structure of banknotes in circulation 

Source: Bank of Albania.
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Chart 20 Structure of coins in circulation 

Source: Bank of Albania.
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Indicators of currency in circulation 

At the end of 2016, the ratio of currency in circulation to the M2 aggregate 
was 35.13%34, from 31.3% of the end of 2015. Meanwhile, the coefficient of 
currency circulation35 in the Bank of Albania was 0.412, from 0.409 in 2015. 

Recycling of cash and quality of banknotes in 
circulation 

During 2016, around 114 million banknotes were processed, which were 
checked for authenticity and fitness for recirculation. From the process, around 
25.9 million banknotes resulted unfit for use, which were withdrawn from 
circulation. The sorting rate36 was 22.6%, from 25% in 2015. Unfit banknotes 
were replaced case by case with new banknotes fit for circulation. The 
banknote circulation coefficient37 for 2016 was 0.95, implying that a banknote 
is returned at the cash desks of the Bank of Albania, on average around once 
a year. This rate is higher for 500 Lekë and 1000 Lekë banknotes (around 1.7 
and 1.2, respectively) and lower for 5000 Lekë and 2000 Lekë banknotes 
(around 0.22 and 0.78, respectively), which shows that the latter are returned 
more rarely at the cash desks of the Bank of Albania.

Protecting banknotes and coins against counterfeiting

During 2016 work continued for monitoring and 
full expertise on the counterfeiting of the currency 
in circulation. In this context, the Bank of Albania 
conducted on-site inspections and examination 
of the banking system, for the verification and the 
necessary help for the implementation and decision 
of the measures for an effective and real functioning 
to ensure the integrity of the currency in circulation, 
in accordance with the regulations approved by 
the Bank of Albania. Also, in order to increase  
capacities and expertise in this area, prevention-
related activities were organised, such as training 
in the field of protection of the currency against 
counterfeiting mainly with groups of cashiers in and 
outside the banking system, as well as testing and 
monitoring machines used by staff.

34	 Note: it is the value for aggregate M2 based on preliminary data for 2016.
35	R atio of the number of banknotes and coins cashiered at the Bank of Albania cash desks to 

the average annual number of banknotes and coins in circulation.
36	R atio of unfit banknotes and coins to the total number of banknotes and coins sorted in a year.
37	R atio of the number of banknotes received at the Bank of Albania cash desks to the average 

annual number of banknotes in circulation.

Chart 21 Banknotes and coins, counterfeit, by 
denomination 2016

Source: Bank of Albania.
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Compared with the previous year, the quantity of counterfeited banknotes 
and coins discovered in circulation decreased by 13.4% during 2016. 
Overall, compared with the number of banknotes and coins in circulation, 
they remain insignificant. We observe that the counterfeited banknotes of the 
1000 Lekë denomination constitute around 47% of the total counterfeited 
banknote and coins, followed by the 50 Lekë coin at 19% of the total as well 
as the denomination 500 Lekë and 2000 Lekë at 15% and 14 % of the total, 
respectively.

The monitoring of the phenomenon of counterfeit national banknotes shows that 
it continues to be dominated by the digital colour reproduction, combined with 
the application of additive methods for the imitation of the security features. 
Meanwhile, in terms of techniques of banknote falsification, we note that 
there is no tendency toward professional printing. Mostly, the tendency is to 
imitate first level -  visual and tactile - security features, and less frequently those 
readable through authentication devises.

2.6 Payment system 

To accomplish its legal responsibilities, the Bank of Albania promotes and supports 
the smooth functioning of the domestic payment systems in Albania. The Bank of 
Albania has taken steps to achieve this objective, by promoting developments, in 
its role as the systems’ operator and overseer. These measures have consisted in the 
completion and improvement of the regulatory framework of the payment system, 
the promotion of the inter-institutional cooperation, the expansion of research work 
and the increase of transparency.

Payment system oversight

The Bank of Albania fulfils its legal obligation on the normal functioning of the 
payment systems through three approaches: operator, overseer and promoter. 
In this framework, the Bank of Albania has continued to take concrete steps, 
by promoting developments in its role as both the operator and the overseer of 
these systems. More specifically, in addition to the completion of the regulatory 
framework on payment systems oversight, particular attention has been  
dedicated to the promotion of the inter-institutional collaboration, the expansion 
of the research activity, and the increase of transparency.

The payment instruments, as components of the payment systems, have also 
been in the focus of the payment system oversight. Thus, during 2016, in order 
to promote the efficiency of electronic money and in accordance with the 
EU directives, the regulatory framework “On electronic payment instruments” 
approved by decision of the Supervisory Council No. 11, on 09.11.2016, 
was revised. 
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In view of fulfiling the strategic duties of the Bank of Albania in the framework 
of the European integration, throughout 2016, the Bank of Albania has 
started the work for the transposition in the Albanian legislation of the Directive 
2015/2366 “On payment services in the internal market”. For this purpose, 
the Bank of Albania started a cooperation project with the Bank of Italy, which 
will contribute to strengthening the rules related to internet payments as well 
as the implementation of the European practices and regulations on payment 
system supervision. 

Performance of AIPS and AECH systems

Albanian Interbank Payment System for large-value payments (AIPS)

During 2016, the Bank of Albania and 16 
commercial banks participated directly and the 
Ministry of Finance indirectly in the AIPS system. 
The volume of transactions processed during the 
year was 122,550 with a total value of ALL 7,676 
billion. Compared with the previous year, the volume 
of processed transactions decreased by around 
0.83%, while the value of the processed transaction 
increased by 21.29%.

The Intraday Loan Facility (ILF) has decreased in terms 
of both number and value (13.25% and 28.64%, 
respectively), reflecting the decrease of the exposure 
of the system to liquidity risk. 

Albanian Electronic Clearing House for 
small-value payments (AECH)

During 2016, the Bank of Albania and 16 commercial 
banks participated directly and the Ministry of Finance 
indirectly in the AECH system. The volume of cleared 
payments during the year was 508,935 with a total 
value of around ALL 90 billion and an average value 
of around ALL 180,000. Compared with the previous 
year, the activity of the AECH system, increased in 
both volume and value of cleared payments, by 
9.05% and 6.79%, respectively. 

Payment instruments

Banks’ reporting on payment instruments show that 
around 11.9 million payment transactions were 

Chart 22 Transactions in AIPS by number and 
value 

Source: Bank of Albania.
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Chart 23 AECH transactions, by number and 
value 

Source: Bank of Albania.
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made, totalling ALL 4.512 billion, registering an 
increase by 8.54% in volume, and a decrease by 
1.85% in value, during 2016.

From the total number of clients’ payments, 
we observe for this period a high use of credit 
transfer (at 65.08%), of which, around 76.94% 
were payment instructed in paper form. However, 
it is worth highlighting that, in the last years, we 
have noted a contraction of paper credit transfers, 
meanwhile non-paper credit transfers (home 
banking) and card payments increased. 

In terms of use of electronic payment instruments, it 
is worth highlighting the use of electronic money by 
both bank and non-bank financial institutions. The 
increase in the use of such instrument is considered to 
have a positive impact on the financial inclusion of the population in financial 
services. 

Bank cards 

As at the end of 2016, fourteen banks were licenced as card issuers in the 
Republic of Albania, 9 of which were also licenced as card accepters, up 
1 bank compared with 2015. Also, during 2016, two electronic payment 
institutions exercised their activities in the market as well. During the year, 
the issuing of debit cards increased by 5.5% and the issuing of credit 
cards increased by 5.9%. On the other hand, the introduction of cards with 
electronic money functions has showed a rapid upward trend during the 
year. 

From the use of bank cards in ATM and POS terminals, we see that the major 
share of processed transactions with cards has been cash withdrawals from 
ATMs, an indicator of a largely cash-based economy. However, during 2016, 
we observe a significant increase in the number and value of card payments 
in physical and virtual POSs, 28.9% and 21.2%, respectively, continuing the 
positive trend registered in the last years. In relative terms, payments carried 
out with prepaid cards reached up to 6.51% of the payments with debit and 
credit cards. 

As at the end of 2016, the number of POS terminals increased by 6.31%, 
while the number of ATMs slightly decreased by 3.15% compared with the 
last year. Notwithstanding the positive upward trend in the number of POS 
terminals, their concentration continues to be high in the region of Tirana,38 at 

38	R egions are divided according to the branches of the Bank of Albania.

Chart 24 Performance of payment instruments 
during years

Source: Bank of Albania.
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81.76%, while terminals for the use of electronic money cards registered an 
upward  trend of 13.9% compared with the end of 201539. 

Home Banking

Recently, home banking has been increasingly expanding in the Albanian 
market. Thus, 14 of the 16 banks were offering different home banking 
products, as at the end of 2016. These products provide remote access to the 
bank account, via on-line, telephone or software that the bank makes available 
to its clients. From banks’ reports, we observe a significant increase of 27.63% 

of the volume of home banking payments and of 
21.51% of the value of the transactions, compared 
with the previous year. The increase of home banking 
transaction also dictates to a large extent market’s 
developments in this aspect.
The increasingly upward trend of home banking is 
closely connected to the presence of infrastructure 
and the expansion of possibilities to access internet 
through a smartphone.

Regarding cash transactions conducted by customers 
at banks’ cash desks, during 2016, we observe 
a decrease of the number and an increase of the 
value compared with the previous year. This year has 
registered a slight decrease of cash desk transactions 
by 0.4% in numbers, and an increase by 10.27% in 
value, compared with the previous year.

National Payment System Committee 

The National Payment System Committee (NPSC) continued its proceedings 
in this year, in light of fulfilling its operational strategy. Particular attention was 
paid to fulfilling the NPSC recommendations as well as to the cooperation and 
collaboration with the institutions participating in it.

In November 2016, the first standardisation process of the payment order 
format was successfully completed, which is based on SEPA’s standards40. 
Another project initiated by the Albanian Association of Banks that requires 
the collaboration of the Bank of Albania is that of the implementation of the 
Interbank Direct Debit. Its goal is to increase the use of this instrument by the 

39	E lectronic money is a payment instrument, different from the remote payment instruments. 
E-money is an electronic store of monetary value and provides to the holder the possibility to 
make payments electronically. This instrument may be reloaded with monetary value whenever 
necessary, within the limits set out by the Bank of Albania. Electronic money may be stored on 
a card or a system (i.e. PAYPAL) and is not conditioned by the need to own a bank account.

40	 Single Euro Payments Area – initiative of the European Union for the integration of payment 
systems through the development of harmonized electronic payments schemes and systems. 

Chart 25 Trend of online accessible accounts 
against total accounts and trend of online 

accessible accounts utilisation ratio*

Source: Bank of Albania.
*The utilisation ratio shows how much on average an account is 

used on-line to carry out transactions.
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clients of all the banks, regardless of the location of the utility companies’ bank 
account thus contributing to reducing the use of cash in the economy.

In view of promoting innovation in banking services, the Albanian Association 
of Banks, in cooperation with the Bank of Albania and the NPSC, organized a 
conference on “Digital Banking”. In this conference, international experiences 
were presented not only from the perspective of regulator and overseer of the 
market, but also from the perspective of the institutions that offer these services. 
Special attention was also paid to the initiatives of banks and other financial 
institutions in the Albanian market. 

Box 6 projects with the World Bank in the payment area

Throughout 2016, the Bank of Albania continued to cooperate with the World 
Bank in the framework of implementing a project on measuring payment 
instruments costs. This project is based on the methodology created by the 
World Bank  and aims to identify and measure all costs carried by the different 
payment instruments, in order to create a strategy for the efficient reform and 
development of the payment market. 

Preliminary results succinctly identify physical currency as the most expensive 
payment instrument and credit transfers in electronic form as the cheaper. The 
project will be completed within 2017.

Following this cooperation, two other projects started during 2016, which also 
aim at promoting payment services from the perspective of remittances as well as 
promoting financial inclusion of the public with in these services. The following 
is the summarized information on these two projects: 

1)	 Financial inclusion 

The purpose of this project is to assess and draft a strategy of financial 
inclusion from the point of view of payments, which fundamentally will aim to 
provide to individuals a broader access of the payment offer in the Albanian 
market. To achieve the goals abovementioned, experts of the World Bank and 
representatives of the Bank of Albania have analysed the Albanian context from 
the point of view of infrastructural and institutional developments, as well as the 
legal and regulatory framework related with the area. 

2)	 Remittances

This project is divided in two activities. The first activity aims to carry out an 
assessment of remittances in the international market, based on a methodology 
of the Bank for International Settlements (BIS). The second activity, named 
Greenback, is an instrument, which, through financial education, is expected 
to help building a closer relationship between individuals that send remittances 
and financial institutions.
	
At the current stage, the two projects are in the process of finalisation of the 
market analysis report, the identification of gaps and need for improvement and 
the drafting of a programme/strategy to achieve the abovementioned goals.
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List of licenced entities active in the payment area

Institution Licence number and date Area of activity
Paylink sh.a. Nr. 1 dt. 04.10.2013 Operator national scheme card payments
Unioni financiar i Tiranës sh.a. Nr. 1 dt. 08.12.1999 Payment and money transfer services 
Posta Shqiptare sh.a. Nr. 3 dt. 18.04.2001 Payment and money transfer services
Ak - Invest sh.a. Nr. 7 dt. 03.12.2003 Payment and money transfer services
NOA sh.a. Nr. 9 dt. 06.06.2007 Payment and money transfer services
M-Pay sh.p.k. Nr. 22 dt. 31.05.2011 Payment and money transfer services
Vodafone M-Pesa sh.p.k. Nr. 31 dt. 25.03.2015 E-money institution
EasyPay sh.p.k. Nr. 35 dt. 16.11.2015 E-money institution
Kastrati sh.p.k. Nr. 36 dt. 10.03.2016 Payment and money transfer services
Pay and Go sh.p.k. Nr. 37 dt. 18.03.2016 Payment and money transfer services

2.7 Foreign-exchange reserve management

The Bank of Albania is the national authority responsible for maintaining and 
managing the foreign exchange reserve of the Republic of Albania. It uses its best  
opportunities to achieve and maintain a certain level of foreign exchange reserve, 
which support Albania’s financial stability, and is in accordance with the monetary 
policy. 

The Supervisory Council is responsible for approving the objectives of the foreign 
exchange reserve management. The primary objectives of this process are 
liquidity and security, whereas ensuring returns from reserve funds management 
represents the third objective, as long as it does not infringe the objective 
for liquidity and security. The Investment Committee approves the names of 
entities where foreign reserves may be invested. These names  include the 
governments of USA, Japan, Great Britain and those in the euro area , as well 
as government-related agencies or institutions that are generally rated at least 
AA- (for euro area governments the accepted minimum rate is BBB-).41 The 
names of entities allowed for investment also include multilateral institutions or 
other institutions rated at least AA-. 

Foreign-exchange reserve portfolio 

At the end of December 2016, the stock of foreign exchange reserve was 
around EUR 2.944 million. The composition of foreign exchange reserves by 
currency was: USD 22.2%; EUR 62.7%; GBP 2.8%; JPY 2.4%; AUD 1.4%; 
SDR 6.1%; gold 1.9%; CNY 0.5%. 

At the end of 2016, foreign exchange reserve is invested in liquid assets, mainly 
with maturities of 0-3 years. The share of time debt instruments with maturity over 
5 years does not exceed 2.5% of the reserve portfolio. The portfolio managed 
by the external manager (World Bank), is invested against a reference portfolio 
of 0-3 years, mainly in debt instruments issued by the government.

41	E ntities/ instruments listed up to BBB- are included in "Investment" category (investment grade). 
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More than 90% of the foreign reserves portfolio is invested in institutions of 
high quality ratings (classes AAA and AA). The reserve is mostly invested in 
debt instruments issued by governments / central banks (66%), followed by 
multiparty institutions (11%), agencies (9%), banks / other financial institutions 
(7%), government-guaranteed institutions (4%) and government authorities / 
public bodies (3%).

Other developments in view of the foreign reserve 
management 

In the framework of the agreement with the World Bank (IBRD), in 2016, this 
institution provided technical assistance in several significant aspects. First, in 

Chart 26 FX reserve indicators by maturity (left) and currency (right)

Source: Bank of Albania.
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Chart 27 Composition of the reserve portfolio by rating and issuer 

Source: Bank of Albania.
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cooperation with World Bank experts, the methodology and criteria applied 
by the Bank of Albania for the size and composition by currency of foreign 
exchange tranches were re-evaluated. The World Bank also provided assistance 
in improving the selection of the strategic portfolio, with a view to enhancing 
the efficiency during the management of the reserve fund. Furthermore, in an 
effort to improve the infrastructure of information technology to support foreign 
exchange reserves management, last year, the Bank of Albania engaged and 
successfully finalized the project for the implementation of the new version of the 
Portfolio Management System. This version enabled adjustments to problems 
encountered in the previous version as well as improvement in the processing 
and maintenance of static data, automation in processing operations, and 
reduction of the operational risk level. 

Regarding the regulatory framework on foreign exchange reserve management, 
in September the investment policy for foreign exchange reserve management 
was amended, driven by the decision of the IMF to include the Chinese currency 
(CNY) in the SDR basket. This amendment confirmed that the existing criteria 
will continue to be applied, as the composition of investment tranche is largely 
determined by the composition of the SDR basket. In particular, the proposal to 
distribute the weight of the CNY, as part of the SDR basket, onto two currencies, 
the Chinese currency (CNY) and Australian dollar (AUD), was approved. The 
new composition of the investment tranche represents a diversified movement 
towards investment in a new currency of a G10 country, as well as getting an 
exposure in emerging markets.

Further on, after the consultation with World Bank, and IMF experts, the new 
project of the regulation “On policy and management of foreign exchange 
reserve” was finalized. The main amendments in the new draft regulation are 
related to: a clear definition of the objectives for which the foreign exchange 
reserve is held; a full formulation of the objectives of the foreign exchange 
reserve management, taking into consideration a wider framework of several 
risk sources, reflecting these aspects in the review of the criteria of the size and 
composition by currency of reserve tranches. The new project proposed the 
adoption of the criteria for risk budget in the case when, due to the necessity of 
respecting the primary criteria, a significant part of the reserve fund needs to be 
invested in an environment with negative interest rates. Content of the proposed 
project by the new regulation was approved by the Supervisory Council in 
February 2017.
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Box 7 Highlights in foreign exchange reserve flows in 2016

During 2016, the gross foreign-exchange reserve, estimated and reported in 
euro, increased by about EUR 62.85 million, registering EUR 2,944.13 million as 
at end-December. The stock of gross reserves increased significantly, at the end 
of December, as a result of shifting of liquidity to foreign currency by commercial 
banks from non-residents in the form of surplus reserves at the Bank of Albania. 

A.	T ransactions with the Ministry of Finance provided a negative impact, 
estimated at EUR 139.51 million, according to the following items:

•	 Net inflows from disbursement of various loans, at EUR 249.18 million;
o	I nternational Monetary Fund (IMF), at EUR 144.75 million;
o	I nternational Development Agency (IDA) etc., at EUR 104.43 

million.
•	 Inflows from the issue of foreign currency debt, in the domestic market, 

at EUR 35 million; 
•	 Outflows (including debt service), at EUR 423.69 million.

B. 	C ommercial banks and other entities’ transactions provided a positive 
impact, estimated at EUR 135.54 million, according to the following items:

•	 Commercial banks’ deposits at the Bank of Albania to comply with the 
required reserve and transactions related to their capital, etc., at EUR 
615.39 million;

•	 Outflows, at EUR 478.56 million;
•	 Net outflows for the account of other entities (IDA, etc.) at EUR 1.29 

million.

C. 	 Bank of Albania’s transactions provided a positive impact, estimated at 
EUR 85.27 million, according to the following items:

•	 Buying foreign currency from the Ministry of Finance and other institutions, 
at EUR 58 million:
o	 Ministry of Finance EUR 56.76 million;
o	 other institutions EUR 1.24 million;

•	 Profit generated from foreign-exchange reserve investments, estimated at 
about EUR 41.83 million. These receipts represent mostly interests and 
coupons and are calculated on cash basis;

•	 Settlement of Bank of Albania’s dues to the IMF and the Government of 
Greece estimated at EUR 12.45 million; 

•	 Transfers at around EUR 2.11 million.

D. 	 Market factors provided a positive impact, estimated at EUR 18.45 million, 
according to the following items:

•	 Foreign-exchange rate volatility of currencies composing the foreign-
exchange reserve contributed positively to the gross reserve reported in 
EUR, registering an effect of about EUR 14.56 million.

•	 The portfolio revaluation effect, as a result of interest rate volatility, is 
estimated at a negative value of EUR 33.01 millionI.

I	T his value includes the effect from the securities coupons.
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2.8 Statistics

Undertaking good monetary and supervision policies requires regular monitoring, 
in-depth analysis and an extensive set of granular, frequent and high quality statistics. 
In this context, the development of monetary and financial statistics and external 
sector statistics is a fundamental responsibility of the Bank of Albania and is the 
basis for monetary policy decision-making and financial stability. 

The Bank of Albania meets also the reporting obligations to international institutions 
- the IMF, World Bank and Eurostat and ECB - within the framework of Albania’s 
European integration process. The Bank of Albania is a member of the ‘GDDS’42 
and of different reporting systems guided by the IMF.

During 2016, the activity in the field of statistics was oriented towards the strict 
implementation of projects serving the realization of medium-term objectives of 
the Bank of Albania (2016-2018), the National Plan for European Integration 
(NPEI), the recommendations of the Eurostat mission and IMF missions, and in 
consideration of the requirements of Eurostat and other international institutions.

The main obligations were: (i) production of timely and qualitative of external 
sector, monetary and financial, and banking statistics, (ii) production of 
new statistical indicators, (iii) alignment of methodologies with international 
standards, and (iv) statistical and methodological reporting to national and 
international institutions (INSTAT, IMF, Eurostat, WB). 

Alignment of methodologies with international 
standards

The Bank of Albania has intensified its work on approximating its statistics 
methodologies to the international standards and aligning them with the 
acquis communautaire. Concrete efforts have been undertaken to collect and 
build new data and to improve the data processing system. This progress is 
supported by the cooperation / assistance with the IMF, Eurostat, and included 
the completion of the reporting obligations to international institutions. 

In the area of ​​monetary and financial statistics, in the framework of approximation 
to international standards of compilation (ECB, IMF) and pursuant to the 
recommendations of the ECB experts report, the Bank of Albania has worked 
on implementing ESA 2010 standards for the classification of instruments 
by institutional sectors (referred to this standard) for reporting by commercial 
banks and the alignment of drafting interest rate statistics with the standard and 
reporting requirements by the European Central Bank43. This new set of statistics 
on interest rates further increases the expertise in the analysis and the monetary 
pass-through mechanism. 

42	 General Data Dissemination System - The general data dissemination system. 
43	 Approximation of the ECB Directive No. 34/2013 
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In addition to periodic reporting of existing indicators, new indicators are 
reported to financial institutions over the year. The Coordinated Portfolio 
Investment Survey (CPIS) and the relevant methodology through the Integrated 
Correspondence System (ICS) was reported for the first time to the IMF; four 
new questionnaires were reported to Eurostat (in accordance with Regulation 
(EC) 555/2012 on the transmission of data), through SDMX platform (Balance 
of Payments-Quarterly, Quarterly International Investment Position, Direct 
Investment by flow-country and Direct Investment by stock-country). For the very 
first time, in a quarterly frequency the public is provided data on: (i) International 
Investment Position; (ii) investment flow by country and economic activity; and 
(iii) direct investment stock by country and economic activity. Also, the time series 
2008-2012 of the external sector statistics (balance of payments, international 
investment position, and gross external debt) is reviewed and published in 
accordance with the new methodology of the IMF, BMP6, as well as the time 
series of Direct Investment by nomenclature of economic activities, Nace. Rev. 
2.

Following the consolidation of data sources, the drafting of financial accounts 
by sector was enabled for the first time, based on the methodological standard 
ESA 2010, for the end of 2015 - at the same time approximating to the time 
frame that the standard provides.

The methodology of compiling external sector statistics is drafted pursuant to 
the objective provided in the National Plan for European Integration (Regulation 
(EC) 184/2005).

Enhancing the quality and integrity of statistics 

Pursuant to the strategic vision, the Bank of Albania is working towards further 
increasing the effectiveness and efficiency of the statistical product. In this context, 
intensive cooperation not only with INSTAT (the official statistics producer and 
coordinator of the national statistical system in Albania), but also with third 
parties is addressed. The Memorandum of Understanding between the Bank of 
Albania, INSTAT and MF was finalized in September 2016. According to this 
memorandum, technical working groups were set up for the adequate sharing 
of statistical data collected/compiled by the respective institutions as well as 
for better methodological harmonization between the three statistical agencies. 

The Bank of Albania continues to cooperate with institutions such as the Albanian 
Financial Supervision Authority (AFSA) and the Albanian Association of Banks 
(AAB). Cooperation with the AFSA is expected to further strengthen in several 
areas for the timely and qualitative exchange of information.

The Bank of Albania was represented and has actively participated in the 
Interinstitutional Working Group for Chapter 18 (statistics) of the Acquis, and in 
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the Interinstitutional Working Group for the preparation and reporting to Eurostat 
the Excessive Deficit Procedure (EDP)44. EDP reporting involves a harmonized 
set of tables where important data of the government sector are reported, 
such as government deficit, debt level, financial accounts and other additional 
information. Such tables serve for monitoring public finances soundness in 
member states and candidate countries, and respecting the two criteria set out 
in the Maastricht Treaty.

Modern statistics cannot be perceived without the powerful support of the IT, 
regarding their collection, compilation and dissemination. In terms of achieving 
international standards in the infrastructure of reporting, storage and control 
of data, during 2016, the automated system of regulatory reporting by the 
commercial banks was put into operation. Since 2016, the Bank of Albania 
is connected online with commercial banks for regulatory reporting- through 
the Electronic Regulatory Reporting system (ERRS). Also, starting from 2017, 
it has been working on including also non-bank financial institutions in this 
system. Processes are automated through the new platform of reporting. Before, 
they were carried out manually by operators and specialists. Automation has 
contributed to the reporting, control, processing and dissemination of data 
for the users within the Bank of Albania, aiming to increase the efficiency of 
reporting, reducing the reporting load and increasing the statistics quality. 

During the year, we have been working for developing the International 
Transactions Reporting System (ITRS). This reporting is a necessity in order to 
meet the criteria (reporting requirements for the integration), by geographical 
location, institutional sectors, compilation frequency and publication and 
dissemination of statistics.

Further on, in the framework of the legal obligation of the Bank of Albania as a 
statistical agency for reporting to the international institutions, some compendium 
modules were prepared for the statistics produced by the Bank of Albania in 
2016.

-	 Balance of Payments
-	 Direct investments
-	 FATS
-	 International trade in services
-	 Monetary and financial statistics
-	 Financial accounts- data production

Internationally, the Bank of Albania continues to maintain reporting relations 
with the IMF, Eurostat, ECB; such relationship is expected to be strengthened 
through collaborations in various projects, such as that of the government 
finances, e-GDDS and statistics development of other financial corporations, 
planned for this year. 

44	 Groups are headed by the Institute of Statistics (INSTAT). 
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2.9.	Research

The Bank of Albania aims to base its decision-making process on the sound 
foundation of a body of tested knowledge on the Albanian economy. Investment 
in creating solid research capacities contributes to improving Bank of Albania’s 
reputation and credibility as an institution with advanced methodologies and the 
required knowledge for guaranteeing the country’s macroeconomic equilibriums. 
Therefore, the active development of research assumes a primary role in Bank of 
Albania’s development strategy.

The Bank of Albania’s research is oriented toward empirical studies and 
analyses, often offering practical applications in support of its objectives for 
controlling inflation and maintaining financial stability. Research papers in 
2016 aimed to assess the ability of the tools used for generating economic 
projections, as well as understand the functioning of monetary transmission 
facing the current challenges in the financial system. 

Analyses on the modelling suggest that the forecasting capacities of the used 
models in the central bank are at satisfactory levels. However, research should 
continue to improve them with new methodologies and modern techniques. 
Analyses on evaluating the used structural models show that medium-term 
projections generated for the economic activity, inflation and exchange 
rate are at satisfactory levels. This is proven by several indicators on their 
forecasting capacity. However, the analysis pays attention to the need to 
complete the model portfolio with new techniques based on the microeconomic 
methodology, which are widely being used for the preparation of analyses and 
projections for formulating the monetary policy. 

New evaluations on the parallel market (informal) of credit in the economy 
and national accounts indicators are in line with the conclusions of the past 
analyses. It should be emphasized that the results obtained from sources of 
information, wherefrom this activity is thought to originate, show that non-formal 
funding plays a significant role. On the other hand, information from the users 
shows that this phenomenon, measured at economy level, is not widespread 
or disturbing. Given the importance of this phenomenon in terms of financial 
stability, effectiveness of the transmission and the mechanism on which the 
policy rate operates, the study will continue during the up-coming period.

Econometric estimates have dispelled the fears that the banking stability may 
be threatened by sovereign risk. Relevant research highlights that the banking 
stability is more affected by the financial leverage and operational efficiency, 
followed by macroeconomic factors and situations. Thus, it is necessary that 
banking supervisors carefully monitor the credit performance of both individual 
banks and the entire system. Studies show that rapid lending rates are 
significantly correlated with exposure to higher risk, causing the expansion of 
non-performing loans, after four years.
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The findings of research are presented in the activities and conferences 
organized by the Bank of Albania and other activities. The presented papers 
and comments and remarks have served to further improve studies and 
comparative analyses, before they are offered for decision-making purposes 
at the Bank of Albania. One of the most important activities was the 10th SEE 
Economic Research Workshop “Including monetary policy and financial shocks 
and trends in modelling and policy analysis “, held at the Bank of Albania on 
1-2 December 2016. The topics discussed related to assessments of various 
aspects of the monetary policy, fiscal policy and central banking, financial 
stability, various aspects of international trade and analysis of macroeconomic 
models. Twenty five papers were presented this year by various central banks 
such as Italy, Greece, Turkey, Estonia, Hungary, Bulgaria and Macedonia, as 
well as by academic institutions such as Paris School of Business and Ouest 
Nanterre – La Defense in France, Artvin Coruh in Turkey, Johannes Gutenberg 
, University Mainz in Germany, etc. 

A more complete and detailed information on the research works of the Bank 
of Albania is found at the web page of the Bank of Albania: “Publications/
Researches and Working papers”. Other research works are published as 
articles in the “Economic Review” of the Bank of Albania. A semi-annual 
brochure “Research Newsletter at the Bank of Albania” informs about the 
newly completed research or in progress, materials presented in the “Friday 
Seminars”, or in other activities organized by the Bank of Albania throughout 
the year.

2.10 European integration and international 
collaboration

European integration is a priority objective for Albania. On 24 June 2014, Albania 
received the EU candidate status. On 9 November 2016, the European Commission 
recommended the conditional opening of accession negotiations. EC periodical 
reports have commended the contribution of the Bank of Albania towards maintaining 
macroeconomic stability, financial stability, improving supervisory practices and 
promoting market development and payment systems in Albania.

European integration issues

The Bank of Albania has continued to contribute to fulfilling the obligations 
arising from the Progress Report and National Plan for European Integration. 
It coordinates and prepares the reports related to Chapter 4, “Free movement 
of Capital” and Chapter 17, “Economic and Monetary Policy”. On the other 
hand, in contributes to six other chapters of the Acquis.

On 9 November 2016, the European Commission published the “Progress 
Report 2016” for Albania. The report highlights the achievements and 
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obligations that arise in relation to EU integration processes. In its general 
conclusions, the Report highlights that Albania engaged in EU-related reforms 
and continued to make progress in meeting the objectives set out in the five 
key priorities for the opening of accession negotiations. The approval of 
constitutional amendments which sanctioned the adoption of comprehensive 
and deep justice system reform while its implementations is a key priority for 
further success in the negotiations with the EU was mentioned as one of the 
most prominent achievements.

The contribution of the Bank of Albania on maintaining and further consolidating 
the macroeconomic balances, is positively assessed in the report. The European 
Commission considers the monetary policy of the Bank of Albania adequate 
to ensure inflation’s return to target and support economic recovery. The 
report assesses the banking sector as stable and banks maintained adequate 
capitalization and liquidity ratios. Non-performing loans continue to be the main 
risk for the banking system; such risk is being addressed by local authorities. 

The Bank of Albania continues to regularly monitor the implementation of the 
SAA, and the National Plan for European Integration. It participated in the 
Stabilisation and Association Committee meetings, as well as the meetings of 
the respective subcommittees. 

The Bank of Albania has benefited from the EU’s short-term assistance instrument 
TAIEX (Technical Assistance and Information Exchange) to help candidate and 
potential candidate countries, in terms of familiarisation and enforcement of 
EU legislation. The TAIEX assistance for 2016 focused on the approximation 
of legislation of the supervision of the payment systems, human resources 
management, cash processing and management as well as management of 
documents and security electronic systems.

International cooperation

Relations with the International Monetary Fund

The Republic of Albania has been a member of the International Monetary 
Fund (IMF) since October 1991. In the framework of the resolution to revise 
the overall 14th quota and Executive Board reform of 2010, the quota of 
Albania rose to SDR 139.3 million, after the payment made for its increase 
in February 2016. Albania has 2857 votes (or 0.06% of the total amount of 
all IMF members). It is in the same constituency with Italy, Greece, Portugal, 
Malta, and San Marino and is represented by the Italian representative, Mr 
Carlo Cottarelli, the Executive Director of constituency. This constituency has 
a total of 207.942 votes (or about 4.13% of total votes of all IMF members).

On 28 February 2014, the Executive Board of the IMF approved the three-
year arrangement for SDR 295.42 million (about EUR 330.9 million) under 



Annual Report, 2016

82Bank of Albania

the Extended-Fund Facility for Albania, supporting the programme of the 
Government reforms. In a report published at the end of the relevant review, 
the IMF experts highlighted that monetary policy has been appropriate and that 
the central bank has contributed to maintaining financial stability in Albania. 
The arrangement with the IMF is projected to be concluded at the beginning 
of 2017. 
	
During the year, several IMF missions visited the Bank of Albania, providing 
technical assistance and consultation. This assistance has targeted some 
improvement in the performance of the main functions of the Bank of Albania, 
such as the implementation of monetary policy, the compilation of statistics, 
banking supervision and safeguarding financial stability. Cooperation with the 
IMF has been extended beyond the provision of technical assistance. Sharing 
the same concern with the Bank of Albania, and to emphasize the importance 
of credit to the economy, in cooperation with the IMF, a forum was organized 
to discuss measures for credit recovery. This was the fourth financial forum 
organized in cooperation with the IMF, which aims to address sensitive issues 
related to the sustainable economic growth of the country. 

Relations with the World Bank Group 

The World Bank Group (WB) supports Albania through the Partnership 
Framework, which covers the period 2015-2019, and aims to support 
Albania’s aspirations for an equal growth and integration with the European 
Union. Since 1991, when the Republic of Albania became a member, the 
WB has provided over USD 2.2 billion assistance for Albania. Currently, there 
are nine projects amounting to USD 544 million, credited by IDA and IBRD45. 

Cooperation with the WB in the framework of the Reserves Advisory Management 
Program (RAMP) continued in 2016. The WB continued to offer trainings to Bank 
of Albania staff according to their needs, aiming to maintain, consolidate and 
further increase the professionalism of the staff engaged in foreign exchange 
reserve management. The issue of financial inclusion of population received 
great attention and the WB is working with the Bank of Albania to assess the 
use of payments systems and remittances behaviour. The WB has provided full 
support for drafting the law on banks recovery and resolution in the Republic of 
Albania, which was finalized and approved at the end of 2016. 

In accordance with the concerns of the Bank of Albania, a workshop was 
organised on: “Corporate Governance in the Financial Sector”, in cooperation 
with the IFC (International Finance Cooperation” and the Swiss State Secretariat 
for Economic Affairs (SECO). The workshop discussed the challenges of 
corporate governance and identified needs for further development of 
governance practices in the Albanian financial sector aiming to approximate 
them with international standards.

45	 For reference,  see this link: http://www.worldbank.org/sq/country/albania/overview#2. 
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Relations with other international institutions 

The Bank of Albania continued to cooperate with the FSVC particularly on the 
issue of recovery and resolution of banks and topics related to the budgeting 
process. The Bank of Albania continued to keep regular contacts with the 
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD), with regard 
to providing information and statistics on the development of the Albanian 
economy in general, and the financial sector in particular. 

Throughout the year, the Bank of Albania has cooperated with the central 
banks of Kosovo, Italy, etc., to exchange experiences and provide assistance 
exchange for some departments of the Bank. 

The implementation of the agreement with the Graduate Institute Geneva 
continued in 2016, in the framework of the cooperation with the Swiss State 
Secretariat for Economic Affairs. In this framework, various activities were 
organised, such as the 10th SEE economic research workshop, a workshop on 
corporate governance in the financial sector, training on further improving the 
forecasting models, improving research communication in the decision-making 
process, implementation of macro-prudential policies, etc. 

Also, under the European Commission’s Pericles programme, on 5-7 October 
2016, with the support of the Bank of Albania was held the conference of the 
Mediterranean countries aiming to draft a holistic strategy for the protection of 
the Euro in the Mediterranean area. 

On 27 October 2016, the Bank of Albania in cooperation with the South 
East European Studies at Oxford organised its annual conference on “Aligning 
monetary policy with financial stability – their objectives, responses and 
interaction in times of uncertainty.” This conference was organised in the 
framework of the co-operation Agreement signed between the Bank of Albania 
and the University of Oxford.
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Participation in international conferences, forums and 
regional seminars

During 2016, senior officials of Bank of Albania participated in several 
international events, such as conferences, forums and regional seminars. 
Following are some of them:

•	 21st Central and Eastern European Forum, organized on 19-20 January 
2016 in Vienna (Austria), by Euromoney. This is an annual Forum and 
brings together prominent international personalities in the fields of politics 
and economy.

•	 On 24 February 2016, Governor Sejko paid an official visit to the 
Central Bank of the Republic of Kosovo. Discussions focused on economic 
and financial developments in both countries as well as on fostering the 
cooperation between the two central banks.

•	 The annual meeting of the EBRD was held on 11-12 May 2016 in London 
on “Influencing change - the next 25 years.” The Governor of the Bank 
of Albania informed the interlocutors on the latest developments in the 
Albanian economy, focusing on the outlook of economic growth, as well 
as on banking sector developments in Albania.

•	 On 19-20 May 2017, the Governor of the Bank of Albania participated 
in the High Level Seminar on “Rethinking Monetary-Fiscal Policy 
Coordination”, jointly organised by the Bank of Slovenia and the 
International Monetary Fund. The seminar served as a discussion platform 
for exchanging ideas on the co-ordination of monetary and fiscal policies.

•	 On 26-27 May 2016, the Governor of the Bank of Albania was on a 
two-day working visit at the Bank of France, where he discussed bilateral 
economic relations, on the performance of the Albanian banking system, 
promoting the potential of Albania as well as the latest developments in 
the euro area.

•	 Meetings of the Governors’ Club of Central Asia, the Black Sea region 
and Balkan countries, in the meeting in June in Almaty (Kazakhstan), 
where the discussions focused on the role of central banks in ensuring 
the countries’ macroeconomic and financial stability. In the meeting in  
Jerusalem (Israel) on 30 October- 1 November discussions focused on 
various challenges that central banks face in fulfilling their objective to 
maintain price stability and macroeconomic stability as well as the security 
of information and the latest technological developments.

•	 Annual and Spring Meetings of the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and 
World Bank Group (WB), held in Washington D.C. on April and October 
2016, in which Albania was represented by a joint delegation presided 
by the Governor of the Bank of Albania, Mr Gent Sejko and the Minister 
of Finance, Mr Arben Ahmetaj. Governor Sejko held several important 
meetings with renowned personalities in international finance and senior 
representatives of these institutions, and informed the participants about 
the latest developments in the Albanian economy, problems and prospects 
of economic growth, and developments in the banking sector.
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2.11 Transparency and Public Communication 

Public communication is an important pillar in Bank of Albania’s activity. It contributes 
to fulfilling the responsibility for maximum transparency about decision-making and 
its effects, and to enhancing public confidence in the central bank. Therefore, the 
Bank of Albania views interactive communication with the public as a primary issue 
of strategic importance, to transmit its monetary policy directly and comprehensively 
to the public.

An open and transparent central bank

Beyond legal obligations, the Bank of Albania communicates a wide range of 
information to the public regarding its role and activity, from the decision-making 
of the Supervisory Council to its daily operational activity. This transparent 
communication helps increase the effectiveness of policies pursued by the Bank 
of Albania, prompting the public to understand its decisions in a timely and 
clearly manner, and be able to properly evaluate them.

In this regard, the Bank of Albania uses a variety of communication channels, 
to explain more clearly its role and main objective: maintaining price stability, 
as well as the way to achieve it.

The Monetary Policy Strategy is based on a decision-making cycle, consisting 
in eight meetings of the Supervisory Council. After each meeting, the Governor 
holds a press conference, to explain the decision taken by the Supervisory 
Council and the underlying analysis to the public. Relevant press conferences 
were organized in accordance with this cycle, in 2016. In these conferences, 
the Governor also answered to the media on various issues related to the Bank 
of Albania. Following the press conferences, the Governor’s speeches and the 
related Q&A were published in Albanian and English.

Each meeting was followed by a publication of a brief summary of the main 
decisions taken by the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania. All public 
decisions of the Supervisory Council were fully published in the Official Bulletin 
of the Bank of Albania, on 11 issues. 

Besides the monetary policy decision, the Bank of Albania publishes extensive 
information in the field of banking supervision and financial stability, notably 
the Annual Supervision Report and the Financial Stability Report. The latter 
analyses important developments in the financial system during a six-month 
period and identifies factors that represent systemic risk.

The Bank of Albania’s communication is complemented with a number of 
surveys, analyses, data, evaluations and opinions on the macroeconomic 
situation of Albania and its role in supporting financial stability. In 2016, its 
activity was presented primarily through 65 statements, press releases, 20 
speeches, and 20 interviews and participation in TV programmes. 
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Communication with the public is tailored according to the interest, academic 
level and professional know how of targeted groups of the Bank of Albania, 
among which, the media has an important role. In this framework, the media is 
continuously informed and sensitized on issues related to the Bank of Albania 
and on the performance of the Albanian economy and financial system. In 
2016, communication with the media continued with press conferences, 
speeches, presentations and press releases for activities organized by the Bank 
of Albania or other national and foreign institutions. There were also interviews 
or participation in dedicated TV programmes, views on specific issues of 
interest to the Bank of Albania or other public activities of the Governor and 
other representatives. Six of its periodic reports were presented “off the records” 
to the media during this year. These meetings aim to guide the media for a 
correct understanding of the decision-making of the Bank of Albania and are 
seen as effective means of communication with the public. 

The forums and round tables held with representatives of the banking system, 
business and academia were part of the communication with the public. During 
2016, we highlight the two forums: the meeting “Business Banking Relationship: 
The prospect of lending 2016 “(March 2016) and the Albania Financial Forum 
IV organized in cooperation with the IMF (June 2016). The discussions focused 
on credit recovery, reducing non-performing loans and treatment of problems 
associated with this phenomenon, as a concern of particular importance for the 
Albanian economy. 

A novelty in 2016 was the increased communication with the ambassadors 
of foreign countries accredited in Albania. Besides bilateral meetings, in May, 
the Bank of Albania organized a round table with representatives of all the 
diplomatic corps accredited in Albania. Through the economic diplomacy, the 
Bank of Albania has contributed to promoting Albania and foreign investments 
in the Albanian financial system and beyond.

A responsible and accountable central bank

As an independent institution, the Bank of Albania aims to inform citizens, and 
in particular the Parliament of the Republic of Albania, on all its activities.

Institutional relations with the Parliament take place in several forms. Governor’s 
hearing sessions in the Parliamentary Committee on Economy and Finance are 
the most significant ones. In March 2016, the Governor introduced the Annual 
Report of the Bank of Albania to this Committee, responding to its members’ 
interest on specific issues. In November, in a dedicated hearing session, the 
Governor expressed the opinion of the Bank of Albania regarding key elements 
of the states’ draft-budget for the upcoming year, 2017. During 2016, two 
separate hearing sessions were also held on the operational activity of the 
Bank of Albania and the banking system.
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The official website www.bankofalbania.org is another tool where the public 
may find complete and updated information on the economic and financial 
situation and the general macroeconomic developments in Albania, as well 
as the role and contribution of the Bank of Albania in this aspect. During 
2016, the website had about 720 000 visitors who viewed our page around 
2.100.000 times and browsed in total about 4.310.000 rubrics.

Our website is constantly enriched with a broad set of statistics for many sectors 
of the Albanian economy, such as: banking sector, fiscal sector, real sector and 
external sector, published according to a defined schedule that is updated semi-
annually. Bank of Albania’s statistics are also found in the monthly statistical 
reports and in quarterly monetary policy reports.

Bank of Albania publications provide detailed and updated information on 
Albanian and global economy, developments in the banking and financial 
system, currency and financial stability, amendments and improvement of the 
banking legislation and its regulatory framework, as well as other relevant issues. 
Periodic and non-periodic publications, in 2016, consisted of about 2252  
pages of analyses, statistics and research, published in both Albanian and 
English. The set of periodic reports was the same as in the previous year: 
Annual Report, Quarterly Monetary Policy Report, Financial Stability Report 
(semi-annual) and Annual Supervision Report. In addition to periodic reports, 
the following were published: the Official Bulletin, the semi-annual Economic 
Review of the Bank of Albania, and the semi-annual “Research newsletter”.

During 2016, the Bank of Albania continued to freely distribute all its 
publications, taking into account the social responsibility regarding reducing 
paper publication. The Bank of Albania informs the public in writing or in 
electronic form, depending on their preference. 

2.12 Financial education and the Museum of the 
Bank of Albania

The financial education of the public is not a legal obligation of the Bank of 
Albania. However, for over a decade now, the Bank of Albania has been 
committed to expanding and deepening financial literacy, focusing on the 
younger generation. Two are the main goals of the programmes, activities and 
special educational publications prepared by the Bank of Albania: presenting 
the central bank, its functions and role to the public; and cultivating and 
strengthening financial literacy in the society. In our view, financial literacy is 
a necessity, taking into consideration not only the pace of economic, banking 
and technological development, but also the importance and significance of 
information in today’s global world.
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In view of the objective of enhancing financial literacy in Albania during 2016, 
the Bank of Albania continued to its work on public education in several aspects:

Museum of the Bank of Albania - The Museum of the Bank of Albania has 
functioned as a space to provide not only numismatic and historical information, 
but also financial knowledge to its visitors, through educational publications, 
audio-visual materials prepared and displayed, as well as through presentations 
for the visiting pupils and students.

Educational publications - the distribution of educational textbooks: “Personal 
finance in your hands” continued during 2016 for 8 high schools (in total 
1180 textbooks). On the other hand, a brochure was prepared to celebrate the 
“100th anniversary of the declaration of the Autonomous Province of Korça”; 
2 leaflets for 2 commemorative coin series, the brochure “The symbolism of 
Albanian banknotes” was published in English, and educational leaflets and 
brochures prepared in previous years were distributed as well. 

Global Money Week - started on 14 March 2016. It is a global celebration, 
which aims to sensitize the youth to be responsible and financially capable 
citizens in the future. It was the third time that Bank of Albania participated in 
this money celebration week. In cooperation with the Albanian Association of 
Banks, Ministry of Education and Sport and Ministry of Social Welfare and 
Youth, several educational and awareness-raising activities for children and 
youth were organized. The round table discussion on: “The need of a National 
Strategy for Financial Education” was of particular importance. The discussion 
aimed at raising the awareness of key public institutions in the country on the 
importance of financial education and considering the possibility of setting up 
a Joint Working Group to develop a national strategy for financial education. 

BoA’s facebook page - was created in 2014 to promote and foster financial 
education. During the last quarter of 2016, the presence of the Bank of Albania 
was reactivated on social networks, as another way to be closer to the public, 
mainly the youth. The posts on this web page intend to inform the public through 
educational materials, numismatic curiosities, activities and publications of the 
Bank of Albania, reaching a total of about 5000 followers.

Museum of the Bank of Albania 

Inaugurated on 30 October 2015, the Museum of the Bank of Albania officially 
started to welcome its visitors in April 2016. As it was its first year of operation, 
it was highly important to provide the regulatory acts for the functioning of the 
Museum, as well as to standardize the visitors’ guide and adapt the information 
to the interests and knowledge of different age groups of visitors. Initially, the 
Museum was open to the public for only one day a week; but, given the 
increasing requests to visit, from December, it is now open to the public for 
three days a week. in 2016, the Museum of the Bank of Albania was visited 
by over 2,100 visitors, of whom 1,300 were schoolchildren and students. 
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An activity that was welcomed by the public was the exhibition marking the 
“100th anniversary of the declaration of the Autonomous Province of Korça”, on 
9-10 December in Korça. This historic event was reflected through the exposure 
of the collection of Korça Province banknotes. The Museum Bank of Albania 
exhibited them at the National Museum of Education in Korça, aiming to unfold 
the historical and cultural values of the Albanian banknotes, issued over the 
years. The exhibition presented the full collection of local banknotes issued by 
the Autonomous Province of Korça during 1917 and 1918, accompanied by 
photographic and graphic illustrations, which reflect the historical, economic 
and numismatic context of that period. In addition to banknotes, visitors had 
the opportunity to access several educational materials of the Bank of Albania, 
such as brochures, information panels, etc.

In the up-coming two years, in accordance with the medium-term development 
strategy, the Bank of Albania will continue to enrich the Museum with new 
numismatic objects, materials and new programmes regarding financial 
education, by better adapting them with the visitors’ interest. In 2017, we 
plan to introduce a series of lectures at the Museum of the Bank of Albania, 
with renowned personalities from various fields, to present their lectures and 
views and stir the public’s interest and add to the list of educational activities 
organised at the Museum of the Bank of Albania.





Development of 
Institutional Capacities

* Fragments from ornaments featured in the 1 franc regional banknote of Korça, issued in 1917.
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3. Development of Institutional Capacities
 

The activities and policies related to human resources as well as technological 
developments supporting them, aim to create a motivating working place, which 
helps the professional growth of employees, adoption of the best standards on central 
banking and the continuous improvement of administrative processes.

Human resources 

Serving the strategic medium-term objectives of the institution, the management 
policy of the human resources focuses toward the adoption and implementation 
of the best practices in managing human resources, which are applied by the 
central banks of the European Union. These policies mainly aim to rationalize 
the organizational structure, and improve the effectiveness of the Bank in line 
with its strategic objectives. Also, proactive employment policies, management 
and career promotion of human resources for a responsible and flexible 
organization remains a priority. 

Adaptation of the regulatory infrastructure in order to provide the possibility 
to promote experienced employees has received special attention in the 
management of human resources. Promotion of the staff aims to increase  
motivation and serves as an instrument for best incentivisation possible of the 
human resources capacities. Also, staff retention and continuity, which is one 
of the main challenges for all central banks, is aimed through policies for 
professional motivation. 

Gender representation at both employees and 
management level is balanced. The ratio of women 
to men in total is 56% - 44%, for employees  and 
54% - 46% for the management level.

Within the framework of human resource management 
policies, in 2016, the Bank of Albania implemented 
some changes and improvements in its organizational 
structure in order to strengthen the communication 
and coordination of work between different units. 
These changes were aimed at a better adaptation 
of the organizational structures of some units with 
specific duties stemming from the institution’s strategic 
objectives. 

Chart 28 Ratio female/male in management

Source: Bank of Albania.
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The assessment of human capital and the importance 
of their professional skills is important and one of 
the key elements for the continuous improvement 
of incentive policies for the growth of professional 
qualifications and obtaining professional international 
certificates by the staff. The Bank of Albania has 
a relatively young staff, keen on expanding the 
knowledge and enhancing the professional skills. In 
2016, the average age of employees was 42 years 
old. About 45% of employees have postgraduate 
qualifications while 3% are attending postgraduate 
studies. Year 2016 marked the consolidation of 
the regulatory framework regarding the funding of 
postgraduate studies and international certifications 
for the employees of the Bank (Master, Phd or 
international certifications), at the best universities of 
the world. 

Another important element of human resources policy is the identification 
of interpersonal and professional skills and their usage for the  employees 
training and development. The Bank of Albania staff has grown professionally 
because of the professional training courses they have attended in Albania 
and abroad. Besides earning professional knowledge, participation in these 
specialized training courses organized by other central banks, international 
financial institutions (IFIs) or other institutions are beneficial to the staff, because 
they exchange professional and managerial experiences with representatives 
of central banks from other countries. The training activities by organizers are 
shown in chart 30.

Chart 29 Employees by education

Source: Bank of Albania.
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As shown in the chart, the highest participation in the trainings by 35% is in those 
organised by central banks, receptively: Bundesbank, Bank of Italy, the Czech 
National Bank, Dutch Bank, Bank of France, Bank of Poland, etc. Trainings 
conducted by international financial institutions account for 31% offered by: 
International Monetary Fund, Joint Vienna Institute, EBRD, ECB, BIS, etc. About 
30% of the training was conducted in cooperation with other organizers such 
as the European Commission, EBA, EUROSTAT, IFC, JP Morgan, Balkan 
Economic Forum, etc. 

In comparison with 2013 and 2014, years 2015 and 2016 show a decrease 
in the number of training courses organized abroad, aiming thus for a more 
fair and targeted distribution of the activities. Most of the professional trainings 
in 2016 were conducted on Banking Supervision, (18.72%), Monetary 
Operations (11.49%), Financial Stability (9.79%), Central Banking (9.36%) 
and Monetary Policy (7.66%) The rest of training was conducted on fields such 
as: internal audit; currency issue and management, statistics, accounting and 
finance, econometrics and modelling etc. 

It should be noted that the largest number of professional trainings are focused 
on building the institutional capacities of the central bank to fulfil its main 
functions.

Agreements and cooperation 

In the framework of the envisaged three-year cooperation agreement with 
SECO (State Secretariat for Economic Affairs), four workshops were conducted 
with lecturers from prestigious academic institutions in accordance with planned 
content in 2016. Fifty eight employees from various departments of the Bank. 
participated in these activities. Also within the framework of this cooperation 
several employees participated in the fourth annual conference hosted by 
SECO and GIIDS. 
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Box 8. Social policy and social responsibility

The Bank of Albania aims to maintain and further strengthen social values, raise 
the awareness of its employees in terms of support for vulnerable groups or 
various social causes. Examples of these efforts are the initiatives to support the 
financial education, to create a better environment for communities in need and 
voluntary activities to improve the quality of life for vulnerable groups. Based 
on the law “On the Bank of Albania”, the latter cannot allocate financial aid or 
make donations; however, in 2016, in the framework of social responsibility 
and sensitivity, employees have voluntarily contributed with various humanitarian 
activities as a moral response toward the realization of common community 
goals.

On the occasion of June 1, the International Children’s Day, the Bank of 
Albania staff provided cash contributions and material aid (employee’s gifts) 
on a voluntary basis with the purpose of purchasing sportswear, teaching aids, 
computers, professional printers, photocopiers, TVs and other items according 
to the needs presented by the Institute for the hearing-impaired students. 

In cooperation with “The Albanian Red Cross” and “Blood Donation Centre”, 
on the occasion of the World Blood Donor Day, in June the employees of the 
Bank expressed their solidarity with the humanitarian initiative for voluntary 
blood donation as a humanitarian act to assist people in need. The process 
was administered by employees of “The Albanian Red Cross” according to 
respective standards. 

On 2 April 2016, the central building of the Bank of Albania was lighted in blue 
to mark World Autism Awareness Day, as part of a joint national initiative to 
raise awareness about it. For the end-of-year celebrations, at the Bank premises 
was organized a sale of postcards prepared by vulnerable children of the “SOS” 
village. Proceeds from the sale of postcards tprepared by the children will be 
used to meet their needs.
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Internal 
audit

*Fragments from ornaments featured in the “20 gold francs” banknote issued in 
1926 by the National Bank of Albania.
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4. Internal audit

Internal audit at the Bank of Albania is carried out by the Control Department. 
The main objective of the Department is to ensure compliance with the laws and 
by-laws in the activity of the Bank of Albania. The audit function provides for bank 
administrators, regularly and independently, verification and assessment of internal 
audit systems, by testing certain control and procedures, without being a substitute 
for them.

4.1 Important developments in the internal audit 
activity

A. Implementation of the newly adopted Internal Audit Policy

With the approval of the first Internal Audit Policy and review of the Regulation 
of the Control Department functioning, the new way of the review and approval 
process of the annual Internal Audit Plan in the Bank of Albania came into force, 
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. The annual plan for 
2016 was drafted by the Control Department and the Inspector General and it 
was submitted for review by the Audit Committee. Moreover, this plan agreed 
on by the Audit Committee was presented at the meeting of the Supervisory 
Council on 03.02.2016 and was subsequently approved by decision no. 9. 

B. Methodology approval for risk assessment for auditing 
purposes

Since 2013, the Control Department has drafted a new risk assessment 
methodology for audit purposes, which has been in parallel in a testing phase 
with the existing methodology of risk assessment. With the implementation of 
external assessment of the internal audit activity (External Quality Assessment 
EQA - July 2015), as well as the reviews proposed by the Inspector General 
during the review of internal audit procedures, this methodology was completed 
with the element: “External environment”- a risk to be evaluated when planning 
for any function in relation to the impact of the legal/regulatory external 
environment on the audited function/process. This element constitutes one of 
the sources of operational risk, which was extensively explored during the 
project for the implementation of the Management Framework of Operational 
Risk at bank level. 

This methodology was approved by the Inspector General and was 
communicated to the administrators and the Audit Committee by the letter 
no. 5643 dated 07.12.2016. The Action Plan for 2017 is based on risk 
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assessments of the audit univerese based on the new methodology of risk 
assessment for audit purposes.

C. Finalizing the procurement of the application for internal audit 
and risk management 

From November to December, the Control Department in collaboration with 
the Administration Department finalized the procurement procedure resumed 
in April 2016 for purchasing an application for the automated management 
of audits and process of operational risk management. After several years of 
initiation and failure of procedures for obtaining such software, the Bank of 
Albania finalized the acquisition process by choosing one of the most serious 
and valued providers in internal audit, used by many central banks. Year 2017 
will start with the implementation of the application, staff training on the use and 
filling of the application with historical data of Internal Audit and Operational 
Risk.

D. Establishment and functioning of relations with the newly 
created ORM unit

Reporting and cooperation lines between the new unit and Control Department 
for the fulfilment of their own objectives, were established with the creation of 
the new unit under the Inspector General for the Operational Risk Management 
(ORM), completion of the structure with 2 specialists as well as the approval of 
the ORM policy and the regulation on the ORM unit functioning. 

E. Initiation of the next important project BCM - Sequence of 
Activities

On the proposal of the Governor of the Bank of Albania, in the communication 
dated 10.6.2016 for the Inspector General, pursuant to the Administrators 
meeting on fulfilling the recommendations addressed by the External Auditor, 
IMF, ECB etc., the ORM unit was appointed as responsible for initiating and 
monitoring the process for the implementation of the Programme of Business 
Continutiy Management at the Bank of Albania. 

In the framework of continuing to work with high added value to the Bank of 
Albania by the Control Department in 2013, for assessing the current business 
continuity  BoA, where the first engagement of consultation was addressed to 
assess the level of BCM of BoA against an international standard in BCM, in 
November - December 2016, we worked on the selection, organization and 
establishment of the Working Group that will implement the project for the 
drafting and implementation of the BCM at the Bank of Albania. The steering 
group composed by the Operational Risk Management Unit along with two 
representatives from the Control Department, simultaneously evaluators of the 
situation of BCM in 2013, assessed and analysed the current phases of the 
project and the deadlines necessary for its successful fulfilment. 
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Now, with the increased risk culture and design/ identification of business 
processes from all the units of BoA, the project for the business continuity has 
the necessary basis to develop benchmarks provided in the project plan, 
which together with the commitment of each unit can guarantee the successful 
achievement of objectives.

F. Recommendations implementation of the external quality 
assurance 

Pursuant to the results and the completeness of the internal audit standards 
assessed by the De Nederlandsche Bank in May 2015, the Control Department 
completed relevant changes in the regulatory framework by implementing the 
action plan for implementing the recommendations of the external quality 
assurance (EQA). Following this process, three recommendations are still in 
process - one of which relates to the change of the Bank of Albania law to 
change the name from the Control Department to the Internal Audit Department. 
Currently, relating to this gap in the law, from which were a number of other 
recommendations, all the terms in the regulatory basis for the application of 
the International Internal Audit Standards were reviewed. The following table 
shows the situation at the end of 2016 regarding the recommendations of the 
external evaluators (EQA) conducted by the Central Bank of the Netherlands:

Compliance levels 
according EQA

Standards assessed during EQA, by 
level of compliance (2015)

The evaluation status in 
2016 after the Action Plans

Does not comply 14 0
Partly complies 29 3

Complies 61 101
Total 104 104

According to the above representation, only 3 standards are not fully implemented 
(in accordance with the best practices provided by IPPF of International Institute 
of Internal Auditors).

about the Control Department

In accordance with the Law “On the Bank of Albania”, the main objective of 
the Control Department is to ensure the progress of implementation of laws and 
by-laws in the Bank of Albania activity, as well as act as a general measure 
of control and consultancy service for Administrators and the Supervisory 
Council, contributing towards preserving the integrity of information, efficient 
use of resources and effectiveness of the internal control systems of the Bank of 
Albania.
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A.	O rganizational structure of Control Department 

Based on the structural changes of the Bank of Albania approved by decision 
of the Supervisory Council No. 87, dated 02.12.2015, the Office of Inspector 
General and Control Department were reorganised (a. addition of the deputy 
head position, b. creation of the Operational Risk Management unit). Currently 
the organizational structure managed by the Inspector General is almost 
complete and with the necessary resources to engage. Year 2016 marked the 
completion and functioning of almost the whole new structure.

B.	P rofessional capacity building and continuous training

In view of meeting the strategic objective for professional growth of internal 
auditors, audit inspectors have been involved in training programs for internal 
audit and risk management offered by central banks and have attended 
individual programs for their professional development for membership/
certification at international institutions in the area of accounting, finance and 
audit. During 2016 audit inspectors started and continued to attend programs 
for professional certification ACCA, CIA, CISA, and followed the minimum 
required hours for the maintenance of CIDA, ACCA, KM.

2016 engagements and the main issues identified

Audits engagements conducted in 2016 focused on: (i) opinion on the 
sufficiency of internal audits established by the Management for audited 
functions/processes, including the supportive applications for conducting the 
activities; and (ii) opinion on the accuracy and completeness of financial data 

SUPERVISORY COUNCIL

Subordination/Administrative reporting

Subordin./Funct. reporting

Deputy Head of Dept.
OPERATIONAL 

RIKS 
MANAGEMENT 

UNIT INSPECTOR’S 
OFFICE

IT and
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in quarterly reports (monetary reporting to the IMF) as well in other audit and 
non-audit engagements, not planned, with special request by the Administrators 
or other institutions outside the bank. 

A total of 98 recommendations were addressed during 2016, as a result of 
audit engagements on granting security, not including the suggestions from 
advisory engagements with special requests by the Administrators. The findings 
and recommendations for each of the audits carried out during this period 
are initially addressed at the heads of units for comments and after that to the 
administrators of the Bank of Albania. A total of 15 audit reports are addressed, 
9 of which are engagements on security granting, 4 ongoing engagements for 
opinion on the accuracy of the data reported to the IMF, and 2 investigation 
engagements upon the request of the members of the Supervisory Council.

4.2 Important developments of the operational 
risk management at bank level

A.	I mplementation of the Framework of Operational Risk 
Management for the Bank of Albania

In mid-2015, as part of the repeated recommendations of the international 
institutions (IMF, ECB, FSVC,WB), the project for the implementation of 
operational risk at bank level was initiated. The successful practice of 
identification, evaluation and monitoring of operational risks in the process of 
foreign exchange reserve management, was intended to extend to all functions 
and processes of the Bank of Albania in the project which was to last until June 
2016.

The working group created for this purpose with four members, in which two 
are representatives from the Control Department (Deputy Head and an audit 
inspector) from May 2015 until June 2016 held the implementation of the 
following phases:

•	 Phase I - Organizing, informing and preparing the units and coordinators
•	 Phase II - Identification and drafting of the processes scheme for each 

department
•	 Phase III - Compiling a matrix of processes at Bank level 
•	 Phase IV - Guidance on the identification of operational risks for  

each unit.
•	 Phase V - Determining the main risks of each unit
•	 Phase VI - Risk Assessment at Bank level 
•	 Phase VII - Regulatory framework 
•	 The final stage - Final Report of ORM project 
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Concerning the implementation of the full framework for operational risk 
management at the bank level, 2016 saw several important developments:

•	 The finalization of three important phases of the operational risk 
implementation- the map of processes, risks, and risk assessment; After 
the finalization of the entire operational side of the project, the working 
group is prepared the final report together with the aggregated results, 
implementation proposals, and continuity as well as the drafting of the 
regulatory framework.

•	 Completion of the organizational structure of the Operational Risk 
Management Unit with two specialists for operational risk during March 
- April 2016. During this period the two specialists were trained by the 
phases followed by the working group of ORM, used methodology, 
results by phases and learned about the results of this first evaluation at 
bank level of operational risk.

B.	P olicy of Operational Risk Management

At the end of the ORM Project, the Working Group and the Office of operational 
risk management at the Inspector General, drafted and proposed for adoption 
the following regulatory acts:

•	 Approval of the Policy of Operational Risk Management, through the 
clear expression of the core principles, the object/ field of Operational 
Risk Management at the Bank, as well as a clear definition of the 
roles and responsibilities of all governance structures of ORM;  

•	 Approval of the methodology for ORM, Regulation and job descriptions 
of ORM Unit.

The policy of the operational risk management, aims at establishing and 
implementing an effective and sustainable framework for the operational risk 
management at the Bank of Albania, in compliance with the best practices and 
regulatory acts. This policy will set out the basic principles for the identification, 
assessment, control, management and monitoring of operational risk on an 
integrated process at bank level.

ORM principles by SIG group Operational Risk subgroup of BIS and IORWG46 
are included in policies. The basic principles of operational risk management 
deal with: the clarity of responsibilities, culture, motivation, awareness, qualities 
of the regulatory framework, tracking, reporting, periodic review, transparency 
and confidentiality.

46	IOR WG- International Operational Risk Working Group for Central Banks.
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	 Operational Risk Governance - Supervisory Council and Administrators

	 The Security Council and Administrators shall ensure that there is an 
effective and integrated framework for managing operational risk. This 
should include a well-defined organizational structure with clear roles 
and responsibilities for all aspects of management / monitoring of 
operational risk and adequate tools which support the identification, 
evaluation, control and reporting of operational risks.

	 Environment of Risk Management - Identification & Assessment, 
Monitoring & Reporting, Control & Mitigation, Continuity

	 A process to regularly monitor the operational risk profiles and material 
exposures to losses and appropriate mechanisms for the reporting to 
the Supervisory Council, Administrators and units that support proactive 
management of operational risk should be implemented.

	 Responsibility for Reporting and Transparency

	 Bank’s periodic reports should enable all involved parties to evaluate 
the Bank’s approach to operational risk.

ORM objectives focus on: the identification of the problems, functions and 
processes, enhancement of human resource efficiency. Minimization of 
losses, loss prevention, assistance in clarifying the distribution of tasks and 
responsibilities. According to the best practices, the ORM program runs 
cyclically in several stages:

o	 Identification: (a) of the Bank processes (integrated maps of processes); 
(b) of the inherent operational risks; 

o	 Assessment: (a) of the risk based on the chosen methodology; (b) of 
the controls established to address the inherent operational risks; (c) 
of the residual operational risks (after controls) and the compilation of 
integrated mapping of risks;

o	 Tracking and reporting of the performance of operational risks and of 
the undertaken measures/action plans; 

o	 Independent audit and evaluation; 
o	 Drafting the regulatory framework and governance of ORM process.

C.	I ncrease and implementation of operational risk culture at 
bank level

As a newly established unit, in addition to functions carried out for monitoring, 
evaluating and reporting operational risk, one of the main objectives and 
engagements of ORM Unit was to further implement and increase the awareness 
of operational risk at bank level. As part of this engagement, several training/
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meeting are held, with the heads and coordinators of the organizational units 
of BoA, as well as the branches of the Bank of Albania. 

Collection and First Results of the Operational Risk 

The ORM objectives for 2017 focus on three main aspects:

•	 Increasing risk awareness culture;
•	 Objective validation of the assessment of risks and likelihood of 

occurrence;
•	 Drafting action plans, after the Supervisory Council determines the risk 

tolerance.

The ways to report incidents, regardless of their impact, were described more 
precisely.

In accordance with the methodology, a part of the KRI standards were 
designed, which will be used to measure and identify risks. Units have started 
the completion gradually from November onwards. 

D.	 Maturity of Operational Risk Management

The overall assessment of the maturity of Operational Risk Management at Bank 
of Albania was based on the model of maturity made available by IORWG, 
on the guidelines and best practices in operational risk management, as well 
as the core principles on Operational Risk Management the central Banks and 
Monetary Supervision Authorities. The document of ORM principles sets out the 
framework of ORM as a model with five categories.

Table 6. Categories of the Maturity Model of Operational Risk Management 
by IORWG
Category I: RISK AWARNESS
-	 Engagement level of the Council / Senior Bank Management
-	 Establishment of risk tolerance
-	 Integrating risk management with daily activities
-	 Same language on the Bank's risk
-	 The added value of ORM in the bank
-	 Knowledge of Bank's staff on the methodology of ORM 
Category II: ORGANIZATION AND GOVERNANCE
-	 Knowledge of ORM stakeholders on their responsibilities
-	 Governance structure of ORM
-	 Responsibility for identifying and managing risks
-	 Integrating of the ORM process with the functions and processes conducted at units
-	 Responsibility for risk supervision at the Bank
-	 Function/ Structure dedicated to ORM at the Bank
-	 Inclusion of risk management in functions and units and during the development of strategies
-	 Exchange of information and cooperation of ORM with other control units
-	 Development and continuous improvement of ORM approach
-	 Implementation of the three lines of defence (control)
CATEGORY III: REPORTING ON RISK
-	 Periodic reporting of information (frequency, quality and value added)
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-	 Periodic Reporting on higher risks
-	 The level of unit involvement for timely reporting of information
-	 The reporting lines of risk reports 
-	 The content of reports on risk minimization measures
-	 Matrix / risks map for the aggregation of risks by impact / priority / importance 
-	 The risk taxonomy forecast under the ORM framework
CATEGORY IV MANAGEMENT PROCESS OF OPERATIONAL RISK
-	 Responsibility for monitoring action plans for risk minimization
-	 ORM process is designed as such so that it provides identification of relevant operational risks
-	 Process for the Inventory / registration of risk events
-	 The methods used to identify / assess operational risks
-	 Strategies to address identified operational risks
-	 Using Key Risk Indicators (KRI) for periodic monitoring of risk exposure
-	 Classification and management of different types of risks
-	 Cost-benefit analysis in risk treatment process
-	 Development of continuity plans for higher risks
-	 Inclusion in the register of incidents of almost materialized risks (near misses) 
-	 Risks' priority based on the combined evaluation of the risk types (inherent / residual) 
CATEGORY V: OBJEVTIVE AND RESULTS
-	 The use of incident management to minimize exposure to operational risks
-	 Addressing of the ORM results to the Council for decision-making
-	 Inclusion of ORM results in strategic planning
-	 Database for incident management
-	 Involvement of project risks in the process of ORM
-	 processes Map for interrelated / interdependent risks
-	 Taking into consideration the indirect risks (transversal / horizontal) by the ORM

According to the methodology developed by the International Working Group 
on Operational Risk (IORWG), previously introduced, the performance is in line 
with the expectations.
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Medium-term 
development strategy 
of the Bank of Albania

* Fragments from ornaments featured in the “5 gold francs” banknote 
issued in 1926 by the National Bank of Albania.
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5. Medium-term development strategy of the 
Bank of Albania

The main challenges to the institution during 2016-2018, in compliance with its legal 
mandate are described in the Medium-Term Strategy. Implementation and periodic 
monitoring of the implementation of the objectives of the medium-term strategy is 
a process that is monitored regularly by administrators and by the Supervisory 
Council of the Bank of Albania. Pursuant to this strategy for 2016, progress was 
made as follows:

a) Maintaining monetary stability.

In view of formulating the monetary policy, the focus is on expanding and 
improving the forecasting, analysing and reporting framework of monetary 
policy, noting improvements in these key areas:

•	 Models used in medium-term macroeconomic projections are enriched 
with contemporary techniques, by expanding the existing infrastructure 
with new diagnostic functions, and econometric infrastructure is updated, 
aiming at developing a more inclusive framework of forecasts. 

•	 Surveys of business and consumer confidence published by the Bank 
of Albania, are included under the European Commission program, 
aiming their harmonization with the common methodology used by the 
Commission on these surveys.

•	 Periodic reports are enriched with new indicators and in-depth analysis 
of specific economic events. 

•	 Monetary policy communication is improved through increased 
transparency and use of forward guidance, in order to increase the 
effectiveness of monetary policy. 

The monetary policy decision-making is supported by scientific activity in the 
field of economic research, where 22 research projects are undertaken for in-
depth study of specific topics.

The implementation of monetary policy is based on intervention operations in 
the open market. In order to improve the operational framework, the projection 
process of liquidity of the banking system is reviewed, in accordance with 
international experiences and the regulatory framework is completed, according 
to the suggestions of the technical assistance mission of the IMF. 

The rules for foreign exchange reserve management have changed, expanding 
the list of risks that are being monitored. The project for the upgrade of the 
system Portfolio Analytic Tools (PAT) II and the implementation of improved 
version of Treasury Management System (Inforex-Loro) is underway. 
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b) Ensuring a stable and efficient financial system

A macro prudential policy strategy is drafted for safeguarding financial system 
stability, according to the European Systemic Risk Board approach; various 
indicators of systemic risk assessment are aggregated in joint analyses, and 
indicators of early warning are estimated.

c) Ensuring a sound banking activity

In terms the banking system supervision:	

•	 The Law on Recovery and Resolution in banks is approved , and acts 
which regulate the saving and loan associations and their unions are 
reviewed, as well as acts affected by the implementation of the action 
plan for the reduction of non-performing loans.

•	 Drafting of a cooperation agreement with ECB for the consolidated 
supervision, financial stability and crises management is still in process. 
Also a technical assistance project is underway with the EBRD for the 
review of regulatory/ supervisory aspects of the corporate Governance.

d) Increasing the quality of statistical data

In terms of meeting the quantitative standards of international methodologies 
and EU legislation: 

•	 The methodology of the interest rates for monetary financial institutions 
based on the acts of the ECB is drafted, and for the first time financial 
accounts are compiled by sector, in compliance with the methodological 
standard ESA 2010 and quarterly published the International Investment 
Position, Direct investment (flow and stock) by country and economic 
activity.

•	 The automated system of regulatory reporting with banks of the system 
is put into operation. 

•	 The cooperation with INSTAT (the official producer of statistics and 
coordinator of the national statistical system in Albania) is intensified with 
the third parties as well. The Memorandum of Understanding between 
BoA, INSTAT and MF (in consultation with the IMF) was signed in 
September 2016. 

e) Improving the infrastructure of the payment system 

In terms of promoting payment system: 

•	 Preliminary testing of the small-value payment system (AECH) was 
successfully completed, for enabling a direct debit interbank instrument. 

•	 The first phase of the project with the World Bank “On measurement 
of the costs of payment instruments in Albania” ended. Preliminary 
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results were presented at the meeting of the National Payments System 
Committee.

f) Improving the currency quality

In order to increase public confidence in the currency and to protect the 
banknotes and coins from counterfeiting.
 	

•	 The quantity of banknotes processed with advanced processing systems 
increased, where 75% of the destroyed banknotes was conducted on 
line.

•	 Inspections are carried out in Albanian Banks for the implementing of 
rules for the integrity of coins in circulation. For the first time, the emission 
issues are part of the examination of the banks reports.

•	 The activity of BoA’s branches is re-dimensioned and involved in the 
activity of the currency issue, as well as in the systems of CashBook 
Registry, and Inforex and Oracle Financial and payment systems. The 
level of automation increased and the operation of branches optimized.

g) Strengthening the governance of the institution

This objective is accomplished in several dimensions: 

Increased independence in accordance with the ESCB standards:

•	 The working group has drafted up a part of the text of the new organic 
law and is consulting with the Bank of Italy and the IMF.

Enhancing accountability	
•	 The financial statements for 2015 in accordance with IFRSs were 

approved in March 2016.

Strengthening internal audit and management of operational risk.	
•	 Efforts for ensuring compliance with international standards of the 

internal audit continue, based on: (i) the implementation of the plan 
of measures by the external evaluator to raise the completeness of the 
standards; (ii) increase of the independence and quality of Internal 
Audit, through strengthening the reporting lines to senior management 
and the Audit Committee; (iii) raising the awareness / education of BoA 
on the operation and the clear division of Line I, II and III of defence, as 
well as the assessing the completeness of the systems of internal audit. 

•	 The unit is created and the process of operational risk management at 
BoA is formalized.

Enhancing transparency	
•	 102 press releases are carried out, including: (i) 8 press conferences 

on monetary policy decision; (ii) 9 interviews of the Governor and 5 
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interviews with Heads of Department; (iii) participations in 4 sessions of 
the Parliamentary Commission of Economy and Finance. 6 presentations 
“off the records” of periodic reports to the media.

•	 With 705 000 visitors (50% increase from 2015) and 2 million visits 
in BoA’s website; 5000 followers on Facebook, where educational 
materials, activities and publications are posted.

•	 1900 people have visited BoA’s Museum; 1180 textbooks “Personal 
finance in your hands”, are distributed in eight high schools.

h) Bank of Albania resources

In view of adopting of the best practices of management of human resources 
of the ESCB and rationalizing organizational structure, the employees were 
enabled to participate in training activities and regulatory framework for the 
funding of post-graduate studies and international certifications for employees 
is consolidated.

The reconstruction of the former Hotel Dajti is in procurement process. Works 
are expected to start by February 2017.

Financial resources were more efficiently used through a review of the 
management process of the material values ​​BoA, and the budget regulation.
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BANK OF ALBANIA

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

(WITH INDEPENDENT 
AUDITORS’ REPORT 

THEREON)

*Fragments from ornaments featured in 
the “20 gold francs” banknote issued in 
1926 by the National Bank of Albania.
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Independent Auditors’ report

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

In ALL million Note 31 December 
2016

31 December 
2015

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 8 105,490 93,477
Trading assets 12 16,183 15,870
Monetary gold 9 7,516 6,762
Accounts with the International Monetary Fund 10 43,683 34,403
Loans to banks 11 29,934 12,987
Available-for-sale investment securities 13 298,930 307,939
Property, equipment and intangible assets 14 20,604 20,855
Other assets 15 2,316 2,259 

Total assets 524,656 494,552

LIABILITIES

Currency in circulation 16 258,821 239,191
Trading liabilities 12 2 16
Due to banks 17 152,352 142,967
Deposits and borrowings from third parties 18 3,310 3,361
Due to Government and state institutions 19 19,892 27,451
Due to the International Monetary Fund 10 28,078 18,711
Other liabilities 20 1,263 567

Total liabilities 463,718 432,264

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Capital 2,500 2,500
Reserves 21 58,438 59,788

Total capital and reserves 60,938 62,288

Total liabilities, capital and reserves 524,656 494,552

The notes on pages 121 to 159 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Supervisory Council 
of the Bank of Albania and signed on 29 March 2017 on its behalf by:

_______________________
Gent Sejko

Governor

_______________________
Anjeza Beja (Harizaj)

Head of Payment Systems and 
Accounting and Finance Department
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

In ALL million Note 2016 2015

Interest income 22 2,494 3,613
Interest expense 22 (737) (644)
Net interest income 1,757 2,969

Fee and commission income 69 66
Fee and commission expense (56) (56)
Net income from fees and commissions 13 10

Net trading income 23 1,036 503
Other revenue 24 480 809
Net gain/(loss) from changes in the fair value of monetary gold 9 754 (231)
Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains 21 (1,720) 4,569 
Total revenue 2,320 8,629 
Employee benefit expenses 25 (1,238) (1,053)
Depreciation and amortization 14 (488) (562)
Other general and administrative expenses (652) (781)
Net (loss)/profit (58) 6,233 

Other comprehensive income:
Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss
Fair value reserve (available-for-sale financial assets) 21 (464) (310)
Other comprehensive loss for the year (464) (310)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (522) 5,923 

The notes on pages 121 to 159 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

In ALL million Capital Legal 
reserve

Reval-
uation 

reserve

Fair 
value 

reserve

Other 
reserves

Tran-
sition 

reserve

Retained 
earnings Total

Balance at 1 January 2015 2,500 12,500 19,868 1,305 15,748 5,539 - 57,460
Total comprehensive income
Net profit - - - - - - 6,233 6,233
Other comprehensive income
Fair value reserve (available-for-sale financial 
assets) - - - (310) - - - (310)

Total other comprehensive income - - - (310) - - - (310)
Total comprehensive income - - - (310) - - 6,233 5,923
Contributions and distributions
Distribution of profit to Government of Albania - - - - - - (1,095) (1,095)
Total contributions and distributions - - - - - - (1,095) (1,095)
Transfers to reserves - - 4,338 - 800 - (5,138) -
Balance at 31 December 2015 2,500 12,500 24,206 995 16,548 5,539 - 62,288
Total comprehensive income
Net loss - - - - - - (58) (58)
Other comprehensive income
Fair value reserve (available-for-sale financial 
assets) - - - (464) - - - (464)

Total other comprehensive loss - - - (464) - - - (464)
Total comprehensive loss - - - (464) - - (58) (522)
Contributions and distributions
Distribution of profit to Government of Albania - - - - - - (908) (908)
Total contributions and distributions - - - - - - (908) (908)
Transfers to reserves - - (966) - - 80  966 80
Balance at 31 December 2016 2,500 12,500 23,240 531 16,548 5,619 - 60,938

The notes on pages 121 to 159 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

In ALL million Note 2016 2015
Cash flows from operating activities
Net (loss)/profit (58) 6,233 
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization 14 488 562 
Net interest income 22 (1,757) (2,969)
Net trading income 23 (1,036) (503)
Profit from sale of available-for-sale investment securities 24 (470) (751)
Net (gain)/loss from changes in the fair value of monetary gold 9 (754 231
Provisions 20 83 46 

(3,504) 2,849 
Changes in:
Held-for-trading assets 709 (978)
Accounts with the International Monetary Fund (9,280) (12,611)
Loans to banks (16,947) 12,561 
Other assets (57) 286
Currency in circulation 19,630 12,787
Due to banks 9,385 36,656 
Deposits and borrowings from third parties (51) 975 
Due to Government and state institutions (7,372) 9,755 
Due to the International Monetary Fund 9,367 779 
Other liabilities 613 (441)

2,493 62,618 
Interest received 2,650 3,189 
Interest paid (737) (646)
Net cash generated from operating activities 4,406 65,161 

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of investment securities (274,117) (346,420)
Proceeds from sale of investment securities 282,983 345,715 
Acquisition of property, equipment and intangible assets (164) (257)
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities 8,702 (962)

Cash flows from financing activities
Profit distributed to Government (1,095) (951)
Net cash used in financing activities (1,095) (951)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 12,013 63,248 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 93,477 30,229 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 8 105,490 93,477 

The notes on pages 121 to 159 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements as of and 
for the year ended 31 December 2016

(amounts in ALL million, unless otherwise stated)

1.	 GENERAL

The Bank of Albania (the ‘Bank’) is the central bank of the Republic of Albania 
established pursuant to the Law No. 8269, dated 23 December 1997 ‘On 
the Bank of Albania’, amended. 

Under the terms of its charter, the Bank’s main responsibilities include:
•	 formulating, adopting and executing the monetary policy of Albania, 

which shall be consistent with its primary objective;
•	 formulating, adopting and executing the foreign exchange arrangement 

and the exchange rate policy of Albania;
•	 issuing or revoking licenses and supervising banks that engage in the 

banking business in order to secure the stability of the banking system;
•	 holding and managing its official foreign reserves;
•	 acting as banker and adviser to, and as fiscal agent of, the Government 

of the Republic of Albania; and
•	 promoting an effective operation of payment systems.

The Bank is subject to the regulatory requirements of the Assembly of the 
Republic of Albania and the Law ‘On the Bank of Albania’.

2.	 BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’). 

3.	 Basis of measurement

These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except 
for the following items:

Items Basis of measurement 
Derivative financial instruments Fair value
Non-derivative financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss Fair value
Available-for-sale financial assets Fair value

4.	F unctional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Albanian Lek (‘Lek’), which is the 
Bank’s functional currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest 
million, except when otherwise indicated.



Annual Report, 2016

122Bank of Albania

5.	U se of estimates and judgments 

When preparing the financial statements in conformity with IFRSs, the Bank 
makes judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities for the following financial year. Estimates and judgments 
are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under certain circumstances.

These disclosures supplement the commentary on financial instruments (see note 7).

(a)	 Judgments 

Information about critical judgments made in applying accounting policies that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial 
statements is included in the following notes:

•	 Note 17 Currency in circulation: The Bank has classified cash in 
circulation as a financial liability; and

•	 Note 9 Monetary gold: The Bank has valued monetary gold at fair 
value. Changes in the fair value are recognized in profit or loss.

(b)	 Assumptions and estimation uncertainties

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant 
risk of resulting in a material adjustment in the next financial year is set out 
below in relation to the impairment of financial instruments and determination 
of the fair value of financial instruments.

(i)	I mpairment of financial instruments 

Assets accounted for at amortized cost and available-for-sale assets are 
evaluated for impairment on a basis described in the accounting policy 6.a.(vii). 

The specific counterparty component of the total allowances for impairment 
applies to financial assets evaluated individually for impairment and is based 
upon management’s best estimate of the present value of the cash flows that are 
expected to be received. In estimating these cash flows, management makes 
judgments about the counterparty’s financial situation and the net realizable 
value of any underlying collateral. Each impaired asset is assessed on its 
merits, and an estimate of cash flows considered recoverable is independently 
approved. 

(ii)	 Determining fair values

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in 
active markets are based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. 
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For all other financial instruments, the Bank determines fair values using other 
valuation techniques. 

For financial instruments that are traded infrequently and have little price 
transparency, fair value is less objective, and requires varying degrees of 
judgment depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market factors, 
pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the specific instrument.

Measurement of fair values

The Bank measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy, which 
reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. 

•	 Level 1: inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical instruments. 

•	 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that 
are observable either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived 
from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted 
market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for 
identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than 
active; or other valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are 
directly or indirectly observable from market data. 

•	 Level 3: inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all 
instruments for which the valuation technique includes inputs not based 
on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant 
effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments 
that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments for which 
significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to 
reflect differences between the instruments.

The Bank recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at end 
of the reporting period, during which the change has occurred.

For more information on the determination of the fair value of financial instruments 
see Note 7.e. Financial instruments: risk management and fair values.

6.	SU MMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all 
periods presented in these financial statements.

(a)	 Financial assets and liabilities

(i)	R ecognition

The Bank initially recognises loans and advances on the date on which they 
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are originated. All other financial instruments (including regular-way purchases 
and sales of financial assets) are recognised on the trade date, which is the 
date on which the Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. 

A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for 
an item not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to its acquisition or issue.

(ii)	C lassification

Financial assets 

The Bank classifies its financial assets into one of the following categories: 

•	 available-for-sale; 
•	 loans and receivables; and
•	 at fair value through profit or loss.

See c., d., e., f., and g. 

Financial liabilities 

The Bank classifies its financial liabilities as measured at amortised cost. See 
b. and h. 

(iii)	 Derecognition 

Financial assets

The Bank derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the 
cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive 
the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the 
Bank neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. 

On the derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying 
amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the 
asset derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including 
any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative 
gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income (‘OCI’) 
is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest in transferred financial assets that 
qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the Bank is recognised 
as a separate asset or liability. 
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Financial liabilities 

The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are 
discharged or cancelled, or expire.
 
(iv)	O ffsetting 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented 
in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Bank has a 
legal right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net 
basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under 
the IFRS, or for gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions 
such as in the Bank’s trading activity. 

(v)	 Amortised cost measurement 

The ‘amortized cost’ of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at 
which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition, 
minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using 
the effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount 
recognized and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment.

(vi)	 Fair value measurement

‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous 
market to which the Bank has access at that date. The fair value of a liability 
reflects its non-performance risk. 

When available, the Bank measures the fair value of an instrument using the 
quoted price in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as 
active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency 
and volume to provide pricing information on an on-going basis. If there is 
no quoted price in an active market, then the Bank uses valuation techniques 
that maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of 
unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the 
factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction. 

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition 
is normally the transaction price – i.e. the fair value of the consideration given 
or received. If the Bank determines that the fair value at initial recognition 
differs from the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a 
quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based 
on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, then 
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the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the 
difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price. 
Subsequently, that difference is recognized in profit or loss on an appropriate 
basis over the life of the instrument, but no later than when the valuation is 
wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is closed out. 

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, 
then the Bank measures assets and long positions at a bid price and liabilities 
and short positions at an ask price. 

The fair value of a demand deposit is not less than the amount payable on 
demand, discounted from the first date on which the amount could be required 
to be paid. 

The Bank recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of 
the end of the reporting period, during which the change has occurred. 

(vii)	I dentification and measurement of impairment 

At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether there is objective evidence 
that financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss are impaired.

A financial asset or a group of financial assets is ‘impaired’ when objective 
evidence demonstrates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition 
of the asset(s) and that the loss event has an impact on the future cash flows of 
the asset(s) that can be estimated reliably. 

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes: 

•	 significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 
•	 default or delinquency by a borrower; 
•	 indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy; 
•	 disappearance of an active market for a security; or 
•	 observable data relating to a group of assets such as adverse changes 

in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in the group, or economic 
conditions that correlate with defaults in the group.

Impairment losses on assets measured at amortised cost are calculated as the 
difference between the carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. 
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance 
account against loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments. Interest 
on the impaired assets continues to be recognized through the unwinding of the 
discount. If an event occurring after the impairment was recognized causes the 
amount of impairment loss to decrease, then the decrease in impairment loss is 
reversed through profit or loss.



Annual Report, 2016

127 Bank of Albania

Impairment losses on available-for-sale investment securities are recognized by 
reclassifying the losses accumulated in the fair value reserve in equity to profit 
or loss. The cumulative loss that is reclassified from equity to profit or loss is the 
difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and 
amortization, and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously 
recognized in profit or loss. Changes in impairment attributable to application 
of the effective interest method are reflected as a component of interest income.

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt 
security increases and the increase can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognized, then the impairment 
loss is reversed through profit or loss; otherwise, any increase in fair value is 
recognized through OCI. 

The Bank writes off a loan or an investment debt security, either partially or in 
full, and any related allowance for impairment losses, when it determines that 
there is no realistic prospect of recovery.

(viii)	 Securities lending agreements

Investments lent under securities lending agreements are reported in the statement 
of financial position and are valued in accordance with the accounting policies 
applicable to assets held for trading and assets available-for-sale. Investments 
lent under securities lending agreements continue to be recognised in the Bank’s 
statement of financial position. The Bank receives cash or securities collateral for 
such lending. Income arising from the securities lending agreements is reported 
as interest income.

(b)	 Currency in circulation

Currency in circulation includes banknotes and coins in circulation and is 
presented under liabilities by deducting the nominal value of the banknotes and 
coins on hand from the nominal value of all the banknotes and coins issued.

(c)	 Cash and cash equivalent

Cash and cash equivalents include notes and coins on hand in foreign currency 
and highly liquid financial assets with original maturities of three months or less 
from the acquisition date that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
their fair value, and are used by the Bank in the management of its short-term 
commitments. 

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost in the statement of 
financial position.

(d)	 Trading assets and liabilities
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Trading assets and liabilities are those assets and liabilities that the Bank 
acquires or incurs principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the 
near term, or holds as part of a portfolio that is managed together for short-term 
profit or position taking.

Trading assets and liabilities are initially recognized and subsequently 
measured at fair value in the statement of financial position, with transaction 
costs recognized in profit or loss. All changes in fair value are recognised as 
part of net trading income in profit or loss. Trading assets and liabilities are not 
reclassified after their initial recognition. 

General information on the derivative instruments, which comprise future and 
forward contracts, is disclosed in Note 7 (d).

(e)	 Available-for-sale investment securities

Investment securities are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct 
transaction costs.

Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative investments that are designated 
as available-for-sale or are not classified as another category of financial assets. 
Available-for-sale investments comprise debt securities. All other available-for-
sale investments are measured at fair value after initial recognition.

Interest income is recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method. 
Foreign exchange gains or losses on available-for-sale debt security investments 
are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or 
loss (see a.(vii)). 

Other fair value changes, other than impairment losses (see a.(vii)), are 
recognized in OCI and presented in the revaluation (fair value) reserve within 
equity. When the investment is sold, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is 
reclassified to profit or loss.

(f)	 Loans and receivables

Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market and that the Bank does not 
intend to sell immediately or in the near term. Loans and advances to banks and 
loans to employees are classified as loans and receivables. 

Loans and advances are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct 
transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their amortized cost using the 
effective interest method.

When the Bank purchases a financial asset and simultaneously enters into an 
agreement to resell the asset (or a substantially similar asset) at a fixed price 
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on a future date (reverse repo), the arrangement is accounted for as a loan or 
advance, and the underlying asset is not recognized in the Bank’s financial 
statements.

(g)	 Monetary gold

Monetary gold is valued at its fair value being the market value based on 
the official London Bullion Market price at the reporting date. Changes in the 
fair value are recognized in profit or loss and then transferred from retained 
earnings to the revaluation reserve in accordance to Article 64 (a) of the Law 
‘On the Bank of Albania’.

(h)	 Deposits and borrowings

Deposits and borrowings are initially measured at fair value minus incremental 
direct transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.

(i)	 Printing and minting costs

Freshly printed banknotes and coins, which have not yet been put into circulation, 
are recognized as assets at acquisition cost. The costs of printing banknotes 
and minting coins are deferred and amortized over 5 years and 10 years 
(2015: 2.5 years and 10 years), from the date of recognition, respectively. 
The effect of the increase in amortization period on profit or loss in current and 
future years is as follows:

In ALL million 2016 2017 2018 2019
Decrease/(increase) in depreciation expense 61 (28) (25) (8)

(j)	 Intangible assets

Intangible assets are recognised if it is probable that the future economic benefits 
that are attributable to the asset will flow to the Bank and the cost of the asset 
can be measured reliably. Intangible assets are comprised of computer software.

Intangible assets acquired by the Bank are stated at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Subsequent expenditure on software is capitalised only when it increases the 
future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All 
other expenditure is expensed as incurred.

Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the software, from the date that it is available for use. 
The estimated useful life of a software is two years. Work in progress is not 
amortized.
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(k)	 Property and equipment 

(i)	R ecognition and measurement

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

(ii)	 Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a part of an item of property or equipment is recognized in 
the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits 
embodied within the part will flow to the Bank and its cost can be measured 
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs 
of the day-to-day maintenance of property and equipment are recognised in 
profit or loss as incurred.

(iii)	 Depreciation

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property and equipment. Land, 
work in progress, and numismatic coins and objects are not depreciated. 

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

•	 Buildings 40 - 70 years
•	 Installations 4 – 20 years 
•	 Vehicles 5 - 10 years
•	 Furniture and equipment 3 - 20 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the 
reporting date.

(l)	 Interest 

Interest income and expense are recognized in profit or loss using the effective 
interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the 
estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset or financial liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to 
the carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating 
the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates future cash flows considering all 
contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not future credit losses. 

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees 
and points paid or received that are an integral part of the effective interest 
rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability. 
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Interest income and expense presented in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income (‘OCI’) include:

•	 interest on financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised 
cost calculated on an effective interest basis; and

•	 interest on available-for-sale investment securities calculated on an 
effective interest basis.

Interest income and expense on all trading assets and liabilities are considered 
to be incidental to the Bank’s trading operations and are presented together 
with all other changes in the fair value of trading assets and liabilities in net 
trading income (see accounting policy (o)).

(m)	 Fees and commissions 

Fees and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective 
interest rate on a financial asset or liability are included in the measurement of 
the effective interest rate.

Other fees and commission income, including account servicing fees, fund 
transfer fees, placement fees and credit registry fees are recognised as the 
related services are performed.

Other fees and commission expense relate mainly to transaction and service 
fees, which are expensed as the services are received.

(n)	 Transactions in foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at 
the spot exchange rates at the date of the transactions. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting 
date are translated into the functional currency at the spot exchange rate at that 
date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference 
between the amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the 
year, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and the 
amortised cost in the foreign currency translated at the spot exchange rate at 
the end of the year. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated into the functional currency at the spot exchange rate at 
the date that the fair value determined. Non-monetary items that are measured 
based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the spot 
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences 
arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss. 
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According to the Law No. 8269, dated 23 December 1997 ‘On the Bank 
of Albania’ and the Decision No. 104 dated 27 December 2006 of the 
Supervisory Council, the net gains/(losses) from foreign exchange that are 
initially recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, are then 
transferred from retained earnings to the ‘Revaluation reserves’ included in 
Capital and Reserves. According to Article 64 (b), the Government of Albania 
issues debt securities at market interest rates to cover any negative balance of 
the revaluation reserve arising from the Bank’s activity. 

(o)	 Net trading income

Net trading income comprises gains and losses related to trading assets and 
liabilities, and includes all realised and unrealised fair value changes, interest, 
and foreign exchange differences.

(p)	 Income from other financial instruments at fair value through profit or 
loss

Net income from other financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 
relates to financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss. It 
includes all realised and unrealised fair value changes and foreign exchange 
differences.

(q)	 Taxation and profit distribution policy of the Bank

Based on the law ‘On the Bank of Albania’ the Bank is not subject to income 
tax.

The Bank’s policy of distribution of profit from banking operations is defined in 
the Law ‘On the Bank of Albania’. According to Article 10.2 of this Law, the 
Bank allocates all the realised profit to the State Budget after having fulfilled its 
requirement for the reserve fund pursuant to the Law and as determined by the 
Supervisory Council of the Bank.

According to Article 11 of the Law ‘On the Bank of Albania’, no transfer, 
redemption or payment under Articles 8, 9 or 10 of this Law shall be made 
if the assets of the Bank are less than the sum of its liabilities and paid-up 
capital. If such conditions arise, based on the Law ‘On the Bank of Albania’ 
under Article 7, the Ministry of Finance might have to transfer interest bearing 
negotiable government securities to the Bank, in such amount as would be 
necessary to remedy the deficiency.

(r)	 Employee benefits

(i)	 Defined contribution plans

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the 
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related service is provided and recognised as personnel expenses in profit or 
loss. Defined contribution plans include voluntary and compulsory contribution 
plans.

The Bank makes compulsory social security contributions that provide pension 
benefits for employees upon retirement. The local authorities are responsible 
for providing the legally set minimum threshold for pensions in Albania under a 
defined contribution pension plan. 

(ii)	T ermination benefits

Termination benefits are recognized as an expense when the Bank is 
demonstrably committed, without realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal 
detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal retirement date, 
or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage 
voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are 
recognized if the Bank has made an offer of voluntary redundancy, it is 
probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances can 
be estimated reliably.

(iii)	 Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted 
basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. A provision is 
recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if 
the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as 
a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be 
estimated reliably.

(s)	 Operating leases

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are 
recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the 
lease.

(t)	 Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Bank’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If 
any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the highest of its value in use and its 
fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
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flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the asset. 

Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting 
date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An 
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no 
impairment loss had been recognized.

(u)	 Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Bank has a present 
legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable 
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as 
finance cost.

(v)	 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations 
are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2016 and earlier 
application is permitted; however, the Bank has not early adopted the following 
standards, amendments to standards and interpretations in preparing these 
financial statements. The new standards listed below are those that could have 
an impact on the Bank’s performance, financial position or disclosures. 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9, published in July 2014, replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 includes revised guidance 
on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, including a new 
expected credit loss model for calculating impairment on financial assets, and 
the new general hedge accounting requirements. It also carries forward the 
guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial instruments from IAS 
39. IFRS 9 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2018, with early adoption permitted. 

During the year 2017, the Bank will draw up an action plan and start assessing 
the business models that will be compatible with the Bank’s business strategy. 
The Bank will assess its financial assets in order to determine whether the Solely 
Payments of Principal and Interest (SPPI) criterion is met. As a result, the Bank 
will evaluate the possible impact on its policies and whether new classification 
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processes will be required to be applied for the classification of financial assets 
from 1 January 2018.

The Bank intends to quantify the potential impact of IFRS 9 on the Bank`s 
financial position when preparing the financial statements for the year ending 
31 December 2017.

The following new or amended standards and interpretations are not expected 
to have a significant impact on the Bank's financial statements:

−	 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
−	 IFRS 16 Leases
−	 Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 7)
−	 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized Losses (Amendments 

to IAS 12);
−	 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions 

(Amendments to IFRS 2).
−	 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or 

Joint Venture (Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28);
−	 Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts 

(Amendments to IFRS 4)
−	 Transfers of Investment Property (Amendments to IAS 40)
−	 IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration;
−	 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle (Amendments to IFRS 

12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities and IAS 28 Investments in 
Associates and Joint Ventures).

7.	FINANCIAL  INSTRUMENTS: RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES
 
(a)	 Risk management framework

The financial instruments of the Bank are mainly used for the purposes of the 
foreign reserve management. The significance of risk is assessed within the 
context of the foreign reserve management. The Bank has exposure to the 
liquidity risk, credit risk, market risk and operational risk from financial instruments 
and manages such risks in the framework of the foreign reserve management. 

This note presents information about the Bank’s exposure to each of the above 
risks, the Bank’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing 
risk.

Pursuant to the legal requirements, the Bank holds and manages the foreign 
reserves of the Republic of Albania. The Supervisory Council has the overall 
responsibility for the establishment of the risk management framework and reserve 
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management policies. The Supervisory Council has approved the regulation 
‘On the functions of the management structure in the decision-making process 
of the management of the reserves’. This regulation defines the responsibilities 
of the management, the Supervisory Council, the Investment Committee, and 
the Monetary Operations Department, in managing the foreign reserves. The 
Supervisory Council is responsible for approving the regulation ‘On the policy 
and management of the foreign reserve t’, whilst the Investment Committee is 
responsible for approving the ‘Operational Procedure of Investment’ document. 
The regulation ‘On the policy and management of the foreign reserve’ defines 
the objectives of the portfolio management ranked by priority, and the principles 
and qualitative criteria used as the basis of the financial risk management. The 
Investment Committee approves the quantitative criteria based on the limits 
set forth by the Supervisory Council and monitors the compliance with the 
restrictions for permitted level of risk and foreign reserve investment portfolio 
performance. 

In accordance with the decisions of the Supervisory Council on the eligible 
instruments, the reserve is invested in fixed or floating income securities, in 
deposits or certificates of deposit, and in derivative instruments. The remaining 
foreign reserves are held in SDR and in monetary gold. Monetary gold is 
managed in accordance with the regulation ‘On the policy and the management 
of gold’, approved by the Supervisory Council. Following the review of the 
accounting policy for monetary gold (see notes 5(a) and 6(g)) in 2016, the 
Bank concluded that monetary gold is not a financial instrument.

(b)	 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that: a) the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting 
obligations associated with its financial liabilities in due time; and b) the Bank 
will not be able to sell a financial instrument within a specific time frame without 
causing significant loss compared to the market value. Liquidity is amongst the 
primary objectives of the foreign reserve management and is defined as the 
goal to insure the availability at all times of sufficient funds to meet the liquidity 
needs associated with: 

—	 implementing the monetary policy and the exchange rate policy of the 
Bank; and

—	 maintaining financial stability and meeting the needs of the country in 
periods of crisis.

The implementation of these objectives is performed through the breakdown 
of the foreign reserve in certain tranches that, within the context of a prudent 
management of the liquidity risk, serve specific purposes and carry specific 
features. 

The foreign currency liability tranche represents investments in assets that are 
financed by the liabilities in foreign currency, which are mainly composed by 
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the funds deposited by commercial banks as part of the reserve requirement 
and by the government. 

The net reserve is composed of: 

1.	 the working capital tranche: designed to meet the monthly liquidity 
needs arising within one month; 

2.	 the liquidity tranche: designed to meet the liquidity needs arising within 
one year; 

3.	 the investment tranche: it represents the remaining balance as surplus and 
is designed to meet the liquidity needs arising beyond the timeframes 
described in the first two tranches. 

The amount and currency composition of the tranches is determined based on the 
needs to use such tranches. The selection of the financial instruments in which the 
majority of each tranche is invested, (the ‘benchmark portfolios’) and the duration 
of each benchmark portfolio are determined in line with the use of each tranche 
to meet the liquidity needs of the Bank. Although the overall reserve is invested in 
highly liquid instruments, the first and the second tranches described above are 
invested in highly liquid short-term sovereign issues with high credit rating.

The tables below set out the remaining contractual maturities of the Bank’s 
financial liabilities and financial assets. The Bank’s expected cash flows on 
these instruments may vary from the contractual cash flows. 

31 December 2016 Up to 1 
month 

From 1 
month 

to 3 
months 

From 3 
months 

to 6 
months 

From 6 
months 

to 1 
year

From 1 
year to 5 

years 

Over 5 
years 

Undefined 
maturity  Total

Financial assets                
Non-derivative assets
Cash and cash equivalents 94,459 10,661 370 - - - - 105,490
Trading assets 387 644 790 3,679 10,683 - - 16,183
Account with the IMF 19,688 - - - - - 23,995 43,683
Loans to banks 24,155 5,779 - - - - - 29,934
Available-for-sale investment securities 21,769 38,264 34,237 57,021 139,755 7,884 -  298,930
Other assets (note 15) - - - - - 1,718 - 1,718
Total financial assets 160,458 55,348 35,397 60,700 150,438 9,602 23,995 495,938

Financial liabilities 
Non-derivative liabilities
Currency in circulation - - - - - - 258,821 258,821
Due to banks 152,352 - - - - - - 152,352
Deposits and borrowings from third parties 3,310 - - - - - - 3,310
Due to Government and state institutions 18,484 - 908 - - - 500 19,892
Due to the IMF 19,619 77 21 153 230 - 7,978 28,078
Other liabilities 78 - - - - - - 78

193,843 77 929 153 230 - 267,299 462,531
Derivative liabilities
Interest rate futures 2 - - - - - - 2
Total financial liabilities 193,845 77 929 153 230 - 267,299 462,533
Asset-liability maturity mismatch as at 31 
December 2016 (33,387) 55,271 34,468 60,547 150,208 9,602 (243,304) 33,405



Annual Report, 2016

138Bank of Albania

31 December 2015 Up to 1 
month 

From 1 
month 

to 3 
months 

From 3 
months 

to 6 
months 

From 6 
months 

to 1 
year

From 1 
year to 5 

years 

Over 5 
years 

Undefined 
maturity  Total

Financial assets                
Non-derivative assets
Cash and cash equivalents 76,320 17,157 - - - - - 93,477
Trading assets 252 392 189 1,662 13,245 - - 15,740
Account with the IMF 23,815 - - - - - 10,588 34,403
Loans to banks 12,987 - - - - - - 12,987
Available-for-sale investment securities 19,976 28,508 43,520 60,743 144,091 11,101 - 307,939
Other assets (note 15) - - - - - 1,646 - 1,646

133,350 46,057 43,709 62,405 157,336 12,747 10,588 466,192
Derivative assets
Foreign exchange forwards - 130 - - - - - 130
Total financial assets 133,350 46,187 43,709 62,405 157,336 12,747 10,588 466,322
Financial liabilities 
Non-derivative liabilities
Currency in circulation - - - - - - 239,191 239,191
Due to banks 142,967 - - - - - - 142,967
Deposits and borrowings from third parties 2,147 - 5 - 1,209 - - 3,361
Due to Government and state institutions 25,856 - 1,095 - - - 500 27,451
Due to the IMF 9,629 121 39 234 584 - 8,104 18,711
Other liabilities 72 - - - - - - 72

180,671 121 1,139 234 1,793 - 247,795 431,753
Derivative liabilities
Interest rate futures 16 - - - - - - 16
Total financial liabilities 180,687 121 1,139 234 1,793 - 247,795 431,769
Asset-liability maturity mismatch as at 31 
December 2015 (47,337) 46,066 42,570 62,171 155,543 12,747 (237,207) 34,553

(c)	 Credit risk 

For the purpose of the foreign reserve management, the credit risk is the risk 
of financial loss to the Bank, if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Bank’s loans 
and advances to other banks and investment securities. For risk management 
reporting purposes, the Bank considers and consolidates all elements of credit 
risk exposure (such as individual obligor default risk, country and sector risk). 
The management of this risk is an important objective in the process of the 
foreign exchange reserve management. 

The risk in respect of changes in value in trading assets arising from changes 
in market credit spreads applied to debt securities and derivatives included in 
trading assets is managed as a component of market risk; for further details, 
see (d) below.

(i)	 Settlement risk 

Foreign reserve management activity may give rise to risk at the time of 
settlement of transactions and trades. Settlement risk is the risk of loss due to 
the failure of an entity to honour its obligations to deliver cash, securities or 
other assets as contractually agreed. The Bank minimizes settlement risk through 
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implementation of best practices for the recognition and ongoing monitoring of 
settlement procedures and conditions.

(ii)	C ustody risk 

Custody risk is the risk of a loss of assets placed in custody in the case of 
insolvency, negligence, fraud, mismanagement or inadequate portfolio 
maintenance practices by the custodian. The Bank minimizes this risk by selecting 
for securities’ custody services reputable international financial institutions with a 
minimum of USD 1,000 billion in assets under custody. 

(iii)	 Management of credit risk

The Supervisory Council has established base criteria of exposure to 
counterparties, and by type of investment, issuer, credit rating band, market 
liquidity, with the governments and central banks issues prioritized. The evaluation 
and monitoring process of the credit rating of the eligible issuers is based on the 
analysis and the rating determined by the principal rating agencies, including 
Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch, as well as in the reviewing processes, 
on a daily basis, of the performance of several market indicators of the quality 
of the credit rating of the issuer. In accordance with the limits imposed by 
the Supervisory Council, the Investment Committee is authorized to establish 
other qualitative and/or quantitative limits on the exposure level for the issuer/
financial institution on an individual basis, category, or combined category 
and instrument basis. Depending on the market environment and conditions, 
the Bank may decide to adapt even more conservative limits for an issuer/
financial institution. 

The investment of the foreign exchange reserve is limited to: government/
central bank issues with minimum credit ratings of A- and BBB- for governments 
of the euro area; sovereign agencies, multilateral institutions, public entities 
with a minimum credit rating of AA-; and banks and other financial institutions 
with a minimum credit rating of AA-. The credit rating refers to the credit rating 
of an issuer/financial institution, and if such rating is not provided, the credit 
rating of the long-term debt of the financial institution is used. For the purpose of 
the reserve management operations and for payments, the Bank may operate 
through current accounts opened with banks with a minimum credit rating of 
BBB (2015: A). 

The loans to the local banks are secured/collateralized by treasury bills issued 
by the Albanian Government.

The following table sets out the carrying amounts of the financial assets that are 
exposed to credit risk as at 31 December 2016 and 2015:
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2016  2015
Assets
Accounts and deposits with financial institutions (note 8) 105,466 93,454
Accounts with the IMF (see below) 11,719 15,713
Loans to banks 29,934 12,987
Trading assets 16,183 15,870
Available-for-sale investment securities 298,930 307,939
Other assets (note 15) 1,718 1,646
Total 463,950 447,609

An amount of ALL 7,978 million (2015: ALL 8,104 million) which is included 
in the SDR Holdings with the IMF (see note 10) does not represent credit risk 
for the Bank since it represents the counter-account of the amounts acquired 
through the SDR allocations. Only the amount of holdings above allocations of 
ALL 11,719 million (2015: ALL 15,713 million) is included in the assets, which 
represent credit risk.

A segregation of the financial assets by geography is set out below: 

31 December 2016 Germany France Other EU 
countries 

Switzer-
land

United 
States of 
America 

Republic of 
Albania Other Total 

Accounts and deposits with 
financial institutions (note 8) 416 44,143 11,361 39,594 9,949  3 - 105,466

Trading assets	 2,714 1,216 3,039 - 8,959  - 255 16,183
Accounts with the IMF - - -  -  - 11,719 11,719
Loans to banks - - - -  - 29,934 - 29,934
Available-for-sale investment 
securities 27,426 25,741 131,059 4,833 48,796 53,235 7,840 298,930

Other assets (note 15) - - - -  -  - 1,718 1,718
Total 30,556 71,100 145,459 44,427 67,704 83,172 21,532 463,950

31 December 2015 Germany France Other EU 
countries 

Switzer-
land

United 
States of 
America 

Republic of 
Albania Other Total 

Accounts and deposits with 
financial institutions (note 8) 7,261 10,664 27,039 44,883  3,607 - - 93,454

Trading assets 1,909 718 2,003 -  10,985 130 125 15,870
Accounts with the IMF - - -  -  - - 15,713 15,713
Loans to banks - - -  -  - 12,987 - 12,987
Available-for-sale investment 
securities 40,026 35,108 134,099  -  44,643 53,227 836 307,939

Other assets (note 15) - - -  -  - - 1,646 1,646
Total 49,196 46,490 163,141 44,883  59,235 66,344 18,320 447,609

A segregation of the financial assets by counterparty type is set out below: 

31 December 2016

Accounts and 
deposits with fi-

nancial institutions

Trading 
assets

Accounts 
with the 

IMF 

Loans to 
banks 

Available-for-
sale investments 

securities

 Other 
assets Total

Central Bank 55,696 - 11,719 - - - 67,415
Bank for International Settlements 
(“BIS Basel”) 32,841 - - - 4,833 - 37,674

Foreign Governments and Agencies - 16,183 - - 224,665 - 240,848
Commercial Banks 16,929 - - 29,934 16,197 - 63,060
Albanian Government - - - - 53,235 - 53,235
Other - - - - - 1,718 1,718
Total 105,466 16,183 11,719 29,934 298,930 1,718 463,950
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31 December 2015
Accounts and 

deposits with fi-
nancial institutions

Trading
assets

Accounts 
with the 

IMF

Loans to 
banks 

Available- for-
sale investment 

securities

 Other 
assets Total

Central Bank 22,800 - 15,713 - - - 38,513
BIS Basel 44,883 - - - - - 44,883
Foreign Government and Agencies - 15,740 - - 248,459 - 264,199
Commercial Banks 25,771 - - 12,987 6,255 - 45,013
Albanian Government - 130 - - 53,225 - 53,355
Other - - - - - 1,646 1,646
Total 93,454 15,870 15,713 12,987 307,939 1,646 447,609

An analysis of concentration of the credit risk by quality of credit rating is shown 
below: 

Credit Risk 
31 December 2016

Accounts and 
deposits with finan-

cial institutions

Investment 
securities 

 Special 
Drawing 

Rights (SDR)**

Loans to 
banks and 

other assets 
Total 

AAA 6,752 65,422 - - 72,174
AA 58,800 152,968 - - 211,768
A 6,654 19,179 - - 25,833
BBB 415 19,476 - - 19,891
B+* 3 53,235 - - 53,238
BIS Basel 32,842 4,833 - - 37,675
Unrated - - 11,719 31,652 43,371
Total 105,466 315,113 11,719 31,652 463,950

Credit Risk
31 December 2015

Accounts and 
deposits with finan-

cial institutions

Investment 
securities 

 Special 
Drawing 

Rights (SDR)

Loans to 
banks and 

other assets
Total 

AAA 13,927 55,638 - - 69,565
AA 21,512 183,146 - - 204,658
A 5,870 6,515 - - 12,385
BBB 7,262 25,155 - - 32,417
B+* - 53,355 - 8,441 61,796
BIS Basel 44,883 - - - 44,883
Unrated - - 15,713 6,192 21,905
Total 93,454 323,809 15,713 14,633 447,609

*) 	The Albanian Government is rated as B+, stable, based on the credit rating of Standard & 
Poor’s and Ba2, stable, based on the credit rating of Moody`s. The credit ratings included 
above show the second best rating amongst Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch. 

**) The currency value of the SDR is determined by summing the values in the US dollar, based 
on market exchange rates, of a basket of major currencies (the US dollar, euro, Japanese 
yen, and pound sterling). The SDR currency value is calculated daily and the valuation basket 
is reviewed and adjusted every five years.

(d)	 Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, equity 
prices, foreign exchange rates and credit spreads (not relating to changes in 
the obligor’s / issuer’s credit standing) will affect the Bank of Albania’s income 
or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimizing the return on risk.
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The key elements of price risk affecting the Bank are:

•	 Interest rate risk associated with fluctuations in the fair value of financial 
instruments due to changes in market interest rates; and

•	 Currency risk associated with fluctuations in the fair value of financial 
instruments due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Bank’s exposure to currency risk is monitored on a continual basis by the 
Monetary Operations Department. Financial assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are disclosed in the relevant notes of the financial 
statements.

For the purpose of foreign reserve management, the Supervisory Board has 
established a set of criteria for the currency composition of the foreign reserve, to 
use in the management of the exchange rate risk. As a result, the Bank is passive 
in the management of the exchange rate risk. The Investment Committee defines 
a set of narrow ranges of the currency composition of some of the tranches of the 
foreign exchange reserve. The limits are monitored by the Monetary Operations 
Department, which carries out the necessary rebalancing operations in order to 
preserve the required weights of the currencies’ composition.

i)	I nterest rate risk

The Bank’s operations are subject to the risk of interest rate fluctuations, which 
affect the prices of interest-earning assets (including investments) and interest-
bearing liabilities. 

The Monetary Operations Department of the Bank monitors the interest rate risk. 
The Bank mitigates such risks by maintaining a significant excess of interest-
bearing assets over liabilities. The Bank maintains a portfolio of interest-bearing 
financial assets and liabilities such that the net interest income is significantly 
higher than operating needs, in order to minimize the potential adverse effects 
of interest rate fluctuations. Interest rates applicable to financial assets and 
liabilities are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements. 

The interest rate risk management, for the purpose of foreign exchange reserve 
management, in its core process includes the selection of the portfolio/duration 
benchmark for each market (currency) in which the foreign reserves are 
held. The benchmark selection is reviewed annually or whenever changes in 
market conditions require a reassessment. Besides determining the benchmark 
portfolio, the Investment Committee, in accordance with the limits imposed by 
the Supervisory Council, determines limits at the tranche level for the additional 
risk factors that can be taken by the portfolio manager specialist during the 
active administration. The limits at portfolio level are established by the Head 
of the Monetary Operations Department.
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The principal tools used to measure interest rate risk for individual portfolios 
within the foreign exchange reserve are Duration and VaR (Value at Risk).

•	 Duration measures the sensitivity of the price of a fixed-income security 
against the volatility of the interest rates in the market.

•	 The VaR is defined as the estimated maximum loss that will arise on a 
portfolio over a specified period of time from its exposure to the risk 
factors with a specified confidence interval.

The Bank uses parametric methods such as the covariance matrix, calculated 
based on the historical changes of the interest rates, weekly data from the last 
three years with a confidence interval of 95%, and weighted methods such as 
Exponentially Weighted Moving Average (EWMA ) to calculate the estimated 
maximum loss from the portfolios for a one-year period. A VaR of 95% (VaR 
(95%)) can be interpreted as the maximum loss in 95% of the cases in a one-
year period.

For the purposes of reserve management, the calculated VaR includes only 
the exposure to the risk of changes in interest rates for all positions, including 
benchmark instruments and non-benchmark instruments. 

For benchmark instruments, the data used encompasses changes in interest 
rates for treasury issues for each currency and for non-benchmark instruments 
the data used encompasses issues rated as AA, given that this rating constitutes 
the major share of non-benchmark instruments of the reserve portfolios. 

The following is a summary of the VaR (95%) position of the Bank’s portfolios at 
31 December 2016 and 2015: 	
								      

31 December 2016 31 December 2015
VaR (95%) in Lek (1,832) (1,954)

Furthermore, an important method to measure market risk is the sensitivity analysis 
of the value of the reserve to hypothetical changes in market factors. The data 
used in the sensitivity analysis calculations include the duration of portfolios and 
weight of each currency. The duration of the portfolio shows the degree of 
change in the market value of the portfolio, assuming a parallel shift of the yield 
curve based on interest rates for all the instruments within the portfolio. 

Assuming an immediate parallel increase (decrease) in interest rates by 50 
basis points and 100 basis points and a correlation equal to 1 between the 
curves, and based on the duration of the aggregate foreign exchange reserves, 
the estimated loss (gain) for each scenario is as follows:	

Estimated Profit (loss) effect 2016 2015
100 bp 50 bp 100 bp 50 bp

Increase  (4,006) (2,003) (4,489) (2,244)
Decrease  4,006  2,003 4,489 2,244
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Assets and liabilities with variable interest rates carry the risk of changing the 
base that serves to determine interest rates.

The position of the Bank's sensitivity to interest rate by contractual repricing is 
presented in the following table, showing the carrying amounts of financial 
instruments classified by contractual repricing or maturity date.

31 December 2016
Total Floating rate 

instruments 

Fixed rate instruments Non-interest 
bearing 

instruments Up to 1 
month

From 1 to 3 
months 

Over 3 
months 

Interest-earning assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 105,490 77,659 15,943 10,667 370 851 
Trading assets 16,183 1,234 - - 14,949 -
Accounts with the IMF 43,683 19,697 - - - 23,986
Loans to banks 29,934 - 24,155 5,779 - -
Available-for-sale investment securities 298,930 1,960 9,622 14,468 272,880 -
Other assets (note 15) 1,718 - - - 1,718 -
Total 495,938 100,550 49,720 30,914 289,917 24,837

Interest-bearing liabilities 
Currency in circulation 258,821 - - - - 258,821
Trading liabilities 2 - - - - 2
Due to banks 152,352 - 142,358 - - 9,994
Deposits and borrowings from third parties 3,310 - 3,119 - - 191 

Due to Government and state institutions 19,892 500 - - - 19,392

Due to the IMF 28,078 8,292 - - - 19,786
Other liabilities 78 - - - - 78
Total 462,533 8,792 145,477 - - 308,264

Interest-bearing financial instruments gap 33,405 91,758 (95,757) 30,914 289,917 (283,427)

31 December 2015 Total Floating rate 
instruments 

Fixed rate instruments Non-interest 
bearing 

instruments Up to 1 
month

From 1 to 3 
months 

Over 3 
months 

Interest-earning assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 93,477 69,989 6,003 17,160 - 325
Trading assets 15,870 817 - - 14,923 130
Accounts with the IMF 34,403 23,817 - - - 10,586
Loans to banks 12,987 - 12,987 - - -
Available-for-sale investment securities 307,939 2,961 - 1,638 303,340 -
Other assets (note 15) 1,646 - - - 1,646 -
Total 466,322 97,584 18,990 18,798 319,909 11,041

Interest-bearing liabilities 
Currency in circulation 239,191 - - - - 239,191
Trading liabilities 16 - - - - 16
Due to banks 142,967 - 55,297 - - 87,670
Deposits and borrowings from third parties 3,361 - 1,603 - 1,215 543

Due to Government and state institutions 27,451 500 - - - 26,951

Due to the IMF 18,711 8,698 - - - 10,013
Other liabilities 72 - - - - 72
Total 431,769 9,198 56,900 - 1,215 364,456

Interest-bearing financial instruments gap
Interest-earning assets 34,553 88,386 (37,910) 18,798 318,694 (353,415)
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Future contracts

A future contract is a standardized contract to buy or sell a financial or non 
financial asset, at a certain date in the future and at a market determined price. 
To minimize the credit risk, depending on the type of instrument, the investor 
should post a margin to the clearing house. This margin or performance bond, 
is valued every day according to the prices in the market (marked to market), 
which means that every change in value is shown in the account of investor at 
the end of each trading day until the expiry day.

The net fair value of future contracts at 31 December 2016 is ALL 2 million 
(2015: ALL 16 million) (see note 12).

The nominal value of these contracts as at 31 December 2016 is composed 
by the following:

•	 buy contracts in the amount of ALL million 695 (2015: ALL 1,180 
million); and

•	 sell contracts in the amount of ALL million 1,474 (2015: ALL 6,128 
million).

ii)	E xchange rate risk 

Exchange rate risk results from the difference between the currency structure of 
assets and liabilities. From an accounting point of view, the Bank is exposed to 
currency risk due to its principal central bank functions.

This risk can affect the size of its capital. In order to manage this type of 
exposure, over the years, action has been taken to increase capital, inflow 
funds and, in exceptional cases, when the value of the revaluation of the foreign 
currencies was negative, debt instruments of the Republic of Albania were 
issued in compliance with the provisions of the law ‘On the Bank of Albania’.

Forward contracts 

Trading derivatives include forward exchange contracts that are entered into 
by the Bank with the Albanian Government. These instruments are not usually 
closed out before contractual maturity.

The fair value of forward contracts at 31 December 2015 is ALL 130 million 
(see note 12). There were no such contracts at 31 December 2016.

The Bank’s exposure to foreign currency risk as at 31 December 2016 and 31 
December 2015 is as follows:
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31 December 2016 ALL USD EUR GBP Other Total

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents - 12,876 78,428 1,778 12,408 105,490
Trading assets - 16,183 - - - 16,183
Accounts with the IMF - - - - 43,683 43,683
Loans to banks 29,934 - - - - 29,934
Available-for-sale investment securities 53,235 60,339 171,078 9,446 4,832 298,930
Other assets 1,718 - - - - 1,718
Total assets 84,887 89,398 249,506 11,224 60,923 495,938

Liabilities 
Currency in circulation 258,821 - - - - 258,821
Trading liabilities - 2 - - - 2
Due to banks 57,981 14,038 80,333 - - 152,352
Deposits and borrowings from third parties 3,309 - 1 - - 3,310
Due to Government and state institutions 9,088 119 7,281 1 3,403 19,892
Due to the IMF - - - - 28,078 28,078
Other liabilities - 78 - - - 78
Total liabilities 329,199 14,237 87,615 1 31,481 462,533

Net currency position (244,312) 75,161 161,891 11,223 29,442 33,405

31 December 2015 ALL USD EUR GBP Other Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - 3,848 78,252 3,103 8,274 93,477
Trading assets - 15,740 - - 130 15,870
Accounts with the IMF - - - - 34,403 34,403
Loans to banks 12,987 - - - - 12,987
Available-for-sale investment securities 53,226 57,448 186,417 10,012 836 307,939
Other assets 1,646 - - - - 1,646
Total assets 67,859 77,036 264,669 13,115 43,643 466,322

Liabilities
Currency in circulation 239,191 - - - - 239,191
Trading liabilities - 16 - - - 16
Due to banks 66,119 5,876 70,972 - - 142,967
Deposits and borrowings from third parties 2,147 - 1,214 - - 3,361
Due to Government and state institutions 14,252 170 12,215 1 813 27,451
Due to the IMF - - - - 18,711 18,711
Other liabilities - 72 - - - 72
Total liabilities 321,709 6,134 84,401 1 19,524 431,769

Net currency position (253,850) 70,902 180,268 13,114 24,119 34,553

(e)	 Fair value of financial instruments

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow 
models, comparison with similar instruments for which market observable prices 
exist, and other valuation models. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation 
techniques include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and 
other premiums used in estimating discount rates, bond and equity prices, 
foreign currency exchange rates, equity and equity index prices and expected 
price volatilities and correlations. 
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The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement 
that reflects the price that would be received to sell the asset or paid to transfer 
the liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. 

The Bank uses widely recognized valuation models for determining the fair 
value of common and more simple financial instruments, such as interest rate 
and currency swaps that use only observable market data and require little 
management judgment and estimation. Observable prices or model inputs are 
usually available in the market for listed debt and equity securities. Availability of 
observable market prices and model inputs reduces the need for management 
judgment and estimation and also reduces the uncertainty associated with 
determining fair values. Availability of observable market prices and inputs 
varies depending on the products and markets and is prone to changes based 
on specific events and general conditions in the financial markets.

Fair value estimates obtained from models are adjusted for any other factors, 
such as liquidity risk or model uncertainties, to the extent that the Bank believes 
that a third party market participant would take them into account in pricing 
a transaction. Fair values reflect the credit risk of the instrument and include 
adjustments to take account of the credit risk of the Bank entity and the 
counterparty where appropriate. 

Model inputs and values are calibrated against historical data and published 
forecasts and, where possible, against current or recent observed transactions 
in different instruments and against broker quotes. This calibration process is 
inherently subjective and yields ranges of possible inputs and estimates of fair 
value, and management judgment is required to select the most appropriate 
point in the range.

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active 
markets are based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. For 
all other financial instruments, the Bank determines fair values using valuation 
techniques. Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash 
flow models, comparison to similar instruments for which market observable 
prices exist and other valuation models. The objective of valuation techniques 
is to arrive at a fair value determination that reflects the price of the financial 
instrument in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date.

The Bank uses widely recognized valuation models for determining the 
fair value of common and more simple financial instruments that use only 
observable market data and require little management judgment and estimation. 
Observable prices and model inputs are usually available in the market for 
listed securities, exchange traded derivatives like interest rate futures and 
simple over the counter derivatives. Availability of observable market prices 
and model inputs reduces the need for management judgment and estimation 
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and also reduces the uncertainty associated with determination of fair values. 
Availability of observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the 
products and markets and is prone to changes based on specific events and 
general conditions in the financial markets.

Financial instruments measured at fair value – Fair value hierarchy

The following table analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the 
reporting date, by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value 
measurement is categorized. The amounts are based on the values recognised 
in the statement of financial position.

31 December 2016 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial assets
Non-derivative trading assets 12 16,183  - - 16,183
Investments in securities 13 232,149  66,781 - 298,930
Total 248,332 66,781 - 315,113
Trading liabilities
Derivative trading liabilities 12 2 - - 2
Total 2 - - 2

31 December 2015 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial assets
Non-derivative trading assets 12 15,740 - - 15,740
Derivative trading assets 12 - - 130 130
Investments in securities 13 249,907 58,032 - 307,939
Total 265,647 58,032 130 323,809
Trading liabilities
Derivative liabilities 12 16 - - 16
Total 16 - - 16

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The following table sets out the fair values of certain financial instruments not 
measured at fair value by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each 
fair value measurement is categorised.

31 December 2016 31 December 2015

Note Fair value 
Level 2

Carrying 
amount

Fair value 
Level 2

Carrying 
amount

2016 2016 2015 2015
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8 105,490 105,490 93,477 93,477
Loans to banks 11 29,934 29,934 12,987 12,987
Special Drawing Rights (“SDR”) held 10 43,683 43,683 34,403 34,403
Other financial assets 15 1,718 1,718 1,646 1,646
Liabilities
Due to the IMF 10 28,078 28,078 18,711 18,711
Due to banks 17 152,352 152,352 142,967 142,967
Deposits and borrowings from third parties 18 3,310 3,310 3,361 3,361
Due to Government and state institutions 19 19,892 19,892 27,451 27,451
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(e)	 Operational risk 

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a variety of 
causes associated with the Bank’s processes, personnel, technology and 
infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity 
risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally 
accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of 
the Bank’s operations.

Operational risk management is supported by the internal control systems on 
several activities of the Bank of Albania and standards for the management 
of operational risk and a wide range of common policies, staff management 
regulations and obligatory requirements. 

8.	 cash and CASH EQUIVALENTS

31 December 2016 31 December 2015
Cash 24 66
Current accounts 78,493 70,252
Short-term deposits 26,973 23,159
Total 105,490 93,477

The annual interest rates for short-term deposits are as follows:

In % EUR USD AUD CNH
31 December 2016 (0.45) -(0.35) 0.46 1.41 – 1.42 3.35 – 6.45
31 December 2015 (0.30) - 0.00 0.36 n/a n/a

9.	 Monetary gold

31 December 2015 31 December 2015
Monetary gold 7,516 6,762
Total 7,516 6,762

The monetary gold is placed in time deposits and current accounts with foreign 
banks.

The increase of ALL 754 million compared to the previous year (2015: decrease 
of ALL 231 million compared to 2014) is a result of valuing the monetary gold 
at the market price at the reporting date, and is initially recognized in profit 
or loss, and subsequently transferred from retained earnings to the revaluation 
reserve (see note 21).
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10.	A ccounts with/DUE to the international monetary 
fund (imf)

Accounts with the IMF 31 December 2016 31 December 2015
Quotas with IMF 23,986 10,586
Special Drawing Rights (“SDR”) held 19,697 23,817
Total assets 43,683 34,403

Due to the IMF 31 December 2016 31 December 2015
SDR allocations 7,978 8,104
IMF securities account 17,258 7,422
IMF account No.1 2,524 2,587
IMF account No.2 1 1
Poverty Reduction and Growth Facility (‘PRGF’) 314 595
Accrued interest 3 2
Total liabilities 28,078 18,711

Quotas with the IMF of ALL 23,986 million or SDR 140 million (2015: ALL 
10,586 million or SDR 60 million) originate from the membership of the 
Republic of Albania in the IMF, according to the Law No.8269, dated 23 
December 1997 ‘On the Bank of Albania’. 

The SDR holdings of ALL 19,697 million or SDR 115 million (2015: ALL 
23,817 million or SDR 137 million) represent deposits with the IMF. The SDR 
holdings bear interest, which is determined on a weekly basis. The interest rate 
at 31 December 2016 is 0.246% p.a. (2015: 0.05% p.a.).

SDR Allocations of ALL 7,978 million or SDR 46 million (2015: ALL 8,104 
million or SDR 46 million) represent amounts borrowed from the IMF with 
two tranches in August and September 2009, whose purpose is to provide 
immediate response to the short-term and long-term liquidity needs of the 
member countries.

The IMF accounts represent liabilities towards Albania’s participation in the 
IMF. The IMF accounts do not have a defined maturity. The IMF securities 
account includes borrowings that are part of the Extended Fund Facility (EFF) 
program. EFF borrowing of ALL 261 million or SDR 1.5 million (2015: ALL 
496 million or SDR 3 million) were disbursed during the period from 2006 to 
2009. The facility is repayable within 10 years, after a grace period of four 
and a half years. The interest on these borrowings is floating and is paid on 
quarterly basis. At 31 December 2016, the annual interest rate was 1.247 % 
(2015: 1.05%).

IMF pays remuneration to members with remunerated reserve tranche positions, 
at 0.241% p.a. (2015: 0.044% p.a.). The reserve tranche position is calculated 
as the difference between Quotas in the IMF and the currency holdings in the 
IMF accounts, excluding holdings acquired as a result of the use of the Fund 
credit and holdings in the IMF account No.2. 
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PRGF borrowings of ALL 314 million or SDR 2 million (2015: ALL 595 million 
or SDR 3 million) include PRGF No. 4 that was granted in 2006 and bears 
an interest rate of 0.5% p.a. This facility had a grace period of five and a half 
years and is payable in 10 semi-annual equal instalments.

Direct budget support provided by the IMF

Direct budget support provided by the IMF to the Government of Albania, 
where the Government assumes the Fund liability, is not recognised as a 
liability of the Bank to the Fund, even though the funds are initially deposited 
in the Government accounts at the Bank. During the years 2014 - 2016, the 
IMF disbursed tranches with a total balance of ALL 41,029 million (2015: ALL 
21,743 million), as part of the EFF facility program approved by the IMF in 
favour of Albania. These tranches are used to provide direct budget financing 
to the Government of Albania represented by the Ministry of Finance. The 
borrowing is repayable within 3 years, by the Albanian Government through 
the accounts of the Bank with the IMF. The Albanian Government will repay all 
principal, interest and any other expense associated with the above tranches, 
and those expected to be disbursed in the future. In relation to this borrowing, 
the Ministry of Finance issued promissory notes in favour of the IMF. 

11.	 lOANS TO BANKS

31 December 2016 31 December 2015
Reverse repurchase agreements 29,934 12,987
Total 29,934 12,987

At 31 December 2016, reverse repurchase agreements between the Bank 
and commercials banks have original maturities from one week to three months 
(2015: from one week to one month).

12.	TRADIN G ASSETS

Trading assets 31 December 2016 31 December 2015
Non-derivatives:
Government Treasury Notes 10,755 11,996
Agencies and Corporate Securities 5,428 3,744
Derivatives:
Foreign exchange forwards - 130
Total 16,183 15,870 

Trading assets are administrated by the International Bank for Reconstruction 
and Development (‘IBRD’) as stated in the agreement ‘On the administration 
and technical assistance on investing the foreign reserve of Bank of Albania 
(Reserves and Advisory Management Program) signed between Bank of 
Albania and IBRD on 23 September 2005. Investments in this portfolio are 
denominated in USD.
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Trading liabilities 31 December 2016 31 December 2015
Derivatives:
Interest rate futures 2 16
Total 2 16 

The annual interest rates for non-derivative assets at 31 December 2016 and 
2015 are as follows:

In % USD
At 31 December 2016 0.625-2.875
At 31 December 2015 0.38-2.75

13.	A VAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT SECURITIES

31 December 2016 31 December 2015 
Foreign Governments Treasury Notes  149,299  163,734
Foreign Governments Treasury Bills  3,389  2,905
Agencies and Corporate long-term securities  77,486  81,408
Agencies and Corporate short-term securities  15,521  6,667
Treasury Bills of the Albanian Government  53,235  53,225
Total  298,930  307,939

The annual yields for each currency at 31 December 2016 and 2015 are as 
follows: 

 In % ALL USD GBP AUD JPY EUR
31 December 2016 1.23-3.17 0.50-3.65 0.00-0.48 1.73-2.04 n/a (0.80)-1.73
31 December 2015 1.75-2.56 0.22-3.76 0.32-1.62 n/a 0.006 (0.39)-3.38

Available for sale investments in Allat 31 December 2016, represent Albanian 
Government treasury bills with a maturity period from 3 months to 12 months 
(2015: from 3 months to 12 months). 

As a result of further relaxing monetary policies of certain central banks during 
2016 and 2015, the return rates of some of the instruments in the EUR portfolios, 
are negative. These instruments represent mainly treasury securities issued by 
euro area governments with high credit ratings, including those issued by the 
governments of Germany and France with maturities of 8 years and 6 years, 
respectively.
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14.	P roperty, equipment and intangible assets

Land, 
buildings 

and 
installa-

tions 

Furniture 
and

equip-
ment

Vehi-
cles

Work in
progress

Numis-
matic 

coins and 
objects

Total 
property 

and 
equip-
ment

Computer
software

Work in
progress

Total 
intangible 

assets
Total

Amortized costs
At 1 January 2015 9,402 2,520 275 213 10,392 22,802 496 43 539 23,341
Additions - 87 5 75 60 227 31 - 31 258
Transfers - 119 - (119) - - 43 (43) - -
Disposal (5) (90) - - - (95) (2) - (2) (97)
At 31 December 
2015 9,397 2,636 280 169 10,452 22,934 568 - 568 23,502

Additions 1 58 46 38 80 223 14 7 21 244
Transfers 1 2 - (3) - - 1 (1) - -
Disposal (15) (78) (33) - - (126) (1) - (1) (127)
Adjustments 22 - - - - 22 - - - 22
At 31 December 
2016 9,406 2,618 293 204 10,532 23,053 582 6 588 23,641

Depreciation/amortization and impairment losses
At 1 January 2015  - 1,532 188 - - 1,720 461 - 461 2,181
Change of the year 145 338 15 - - 498 64 - 64 562
Disposal (5) (89) - - - (94) (2) - (2) (96)
At 31 December 
2015 140 1,781 203 - - 2,124 523 - 523 2,647

Amortization 145 308 20 - - 473 15 - 15 488
Disposal (15) (71) (33) - - (119) (1) - (1) (120)
Adjustments 22 - - - - 22 - - - 22
At 31 December 
2016 292 2,018 190 - - 2,500 537 - 537 3,037

Net carrying value
At 31 December 
2015 9,257 855 77 169 10,452 20,810 45 - 45 20,855

At 31 December 
2016 9,114 600 103 204 10,532 20,553 45 6 51 20,604

15.	 other assets 

31 December 2016 31 December 2015
Loans to employees 1,718 1,646
Numismatics (banknotes and coins) 304 304
Printing and minting costs 228 230
Inventory 26 43
Other 40 36
Total 2,316 2,259

Loans to employees at 31 December 2016 are net of allowance for impairment 
of ALL 8 million (2015: ALL 8 million). 
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16.	CURRENCY  IN CIRCULATION

The exclusive right of issuing Albanian currency is vested with the Bank. 
Currency in circulation comprises domestic banknotes and coins in circulation 
issued by the Bank.

The following banknotes and coins were in circulation as at 31 December 
2016 and 31 December 2015:

31 December 2016 31 December 2015

Nominal value ALL Number in
thousand

Total ALL
(million)

Number in
thousand

Total ALL
(million)

Notes
100 3,404 340 3,409 341
200 11,399 2,280 10,525 2,105
500 19,343 9,671 19,046 9,523
1,000 39,658 39,658 40,817 40,817
2,000 28,075 56,149 24,994 49,988
5,000 29,325 146,625 26,524 132,618

Coins 4,098 3,799
258,821 239,191

17.	DUE  TO BANKS 

31 December 2016 31 December 2015
Compulsory reserve and current accounts 135,602 132,145
Compulsory reserve – cash in custody 9,990 10,822
Overnight deposits 6,760 -
Total 152,352 142,967

Based on the Decision of the Supervisory Council, No. 39, dated 25 June 
2014, amended by the Decision No. 76, dated 06 July 2016, the compulsory 
reserve in euro is negatively remunerated at 0.4%, which is the deposit rate 
defined by ECB (2015: nil), whilst the compulsory reserve in USD is not 
remunerated. The compulsory reserve in lek is remunerated at 0.875% (2015: 
1.225%). 

Based on the Decision of the Supervisory Council, No. 29, dated 16 May 
2012, ‘On the minimum compulsory reserve held at the Bank of Albania by 
commercial banks’, amended by the Decision No. 75, dated 06 July 2016, 
the Bank allows the commercial banks to maintain the compulsory reserve in the 
form of cash in custody with the Bank. 

18.	D eposits and borrowings from third parties

31 December 2016 31 December 2015
Borrowing from the Republic of Greece - 1,215
Deposits from individuals for participation in Treasury Bills auctions 122 364
Deposits from the pension fund 47 31
Deposits from the Deposit Insurance Agency 3,141 1,751
Total 3,310 3,361
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The borrowing from the Republic of Greece, amounting ALL 1,215 million or 
EUR 8.8 million at 31 December 2015, which was granted for the purpose of 
funding the balance of payments of the Republic of Albania, was fully repaid 
in 2016. 

Deposits from the pension fund relate to the pension plan scheme, which is 
based on employee contributions and employer contributions. Based on the 
Decision No. 17, dated 26 February 2014, of the Supervisory Council, the 
pension fund reports its financial statements separately from the Bank.

19.	 dUE TO GOVERNMENT and state institutions

31 December 2016 31 December 2015
Profit to be distributed to the Government 908 1,095
Deposits from the Government 17,975 22,144
Due to state institutions 1,009 4,212
Total 19,892 27,451

The Bank does not pay interest for deposits from the Government, except for 
a guarantee deposit of ALL 500 million (2015: ALL 500 million), for which 
based on an agreement between the Bank and the Ministry of Finance, the 
remuneration rate is 1.25% (2015: 1.75%).

20.	OTHER  LIABILITIES

31 December 2016 31 December 2015
Due to international financial institutions 871 323
Accrued expenses 253 179
Provisions for claims and litigations 139 65
Total 1,263 567

Balances due to international financial institutions include amounts payable 
to IBRD of ALL 793 million (2015: ALL 251 million) for the purchase of 
securities that are managed by the IBRD, and other amounts payable to IBRD, 
International Development Agency (‘IDA’), Multilateral Investment Guarantee 
Agency (‘MIGA’), and Islamic Development Bank (‘IDB’) totalling ALL 78 million 
(2015: ALL 72 million).

For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the 
movements in provisions for claims and litigations are presented below:

2016 2015
Balance at 1 January 65 70
Charge for the year 83 46
Reversals for the year (9)  (51)
Balance at 31 December 139 65
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21.	 reserves

31 December 2016 31 December 2015
Legal reserve 12,500 12,500
Revaluation reserves 23,240 24,206
Fair value reserve (available-for-sale assets) 531 995
Other reserves 16,548 16,548
Transition reserve 5,619 5,539
Total 58,438 59,788

According to the requirements of Article 9 of the Law ‘On the Bank of Albania’, 
the Bank sets aside 25 per cent of the net profit for the year into a Legal Reserve 
until the reserve amounts to 500% of the capital. The Bank has complied with 
this requirement as at 31 December 2011 with its legal reserve amounting to 
ALL 12,500 million.

Net gain/(loss) from changes in the fair value of the monetary gold (note 9) 
and net foreign exchange gains/(losses) are initially recognized in profit or loss 
and then transferred to the revaluation reserves.

The transition reserve is created as a result of the first-time adoption of International 
Financial Reporting Standards. The transition date was 1 January 2014. 

Other reserves include the following:

31 December 2016 31 December 2015
Reserve for the Balance of Payments 7,209 7,209
Reserve of gold and precious metals 7,042 7,042
Other 2,297 2,297
Total 16,548 16,548

The reserve for the Balance of Payments represents financial assistance provided 
by the European Community during the years 1992 and 1993. There have 
been no movements in such reserve since 1995. 

The reserve of gold and precious metals represents the reserve created based 
on Law No. 9862, dated 24 January 2008 ‘On the transfer of ownership of 
gold and other precious metals from the Albanian Council of Ministers to the 
Bank of Albania’. 

Other includes reserves of ALL 2,297 million (2015: ALL 2,297 million) 
created from the allocation of profits for the years 2004 - 2016 based on the 
Supervisory Council decisions in the respective following years. 
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22.	NET  INTEREST INCOME 

2016 2015
Interest income
Available-for-sale investment securities 1,957 2,893
Loans to banks 300 631
Deposits with banks 52 12
Accounts with IMF 21 12
Other 164 65
Total interest income 2,494 3,613

Interest expense
Compulsoryreserves 380 530
Loan from the Republic of Greece 9 15
Due to the International Monetary Fund 10 10
Due to the Albanian Government 62 14
Deposits from third parties 19 19
Negative interest from deposits with financial institutions 257 56
Total interest expense 737 644
Net interest income 1,757 2,969

Negative interest from deposits with financial institutions of ALL 257 million 
(2015: ALL 56 million) represents charges arising from negative yielding 
deposits and accounts placed with foreign financial institutions.

Interest income from available-for-sale securities include income received from 
securities issued by the Albanian Government with a total value of ALL 1,012 
million (2015: ALL 2,016 million).

23.	NET  TRADING INCOME

2016 2015
Interest income from trading assets 176 143
Net loss from the sale of trading assets (2) (26)
Unrealized fair value changes 3 (18)
Net profit from forward and future contracts 859 404
Total 1,036 503

24.	OTHER  REVENUE

2016 2015
Net profit from sale of available-for-sale investments 470 751
Other 10 58
Total 480 809

25.	E MPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

2016 2015
Employee salaries and compensations 1,040 882
Contributions for health and social security 91 88
Contribution for pension fund (see note 18) 107 83
Total 1,238 1,053

As at 31 December 2016, the Bank had 509 employees (2015: 502 employees).



Annual Report, 2016

158Bank of Albania

26.	CONTIN GENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

(i)	R everse repurchase agreements

Reverse repurchase agreements as at 31 December 2016, represented 
collateralized loans (see note 11). The nominal value of the securities used 
as collateral as at 31 December 2016, was ALL 31,860 million (2015: ALL 
14,380 million).

(ii)	R ent agreements

The Bank has entered into rent agreements for its premises. Rent agreements in 
force at 31 December 2016, expire on 31 December 2018. Rent commitments 
payable within one year are ALL 36 million, whilst rent commitment payable 
within one and five years are ALL 36 million (2015: ALL 73 million).

(iii)	C apital commitments

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Bank has not entered into capital 
commitments.

(iv)	C redit commitments and collaterals received from employees

The total value of registered collateral for long-term loans extended to employees 
(see note 15) at 31 December 2016, is ALL 2,414 million (2015: ALL 2,233 
million). At 31 December 2016, unused credit commitments for employees 
amount to ALL 171 million (2015: ALL 58 million).

27.	 MANAGED ASSETS

At 31 December 2016, the Bank acts as custodian for short-term treasury bills 
with maturities from 3 to 12 months, with total nominal value of ALL 213 billion 
(2015: ALL 227 billion and EUR 24 million) and for long-term securities with 
maturities varying between 2 and 10 years, with nominal value of ALL 311 
billion (2015: ALL 286 billion) and EUR 78 million (2015: EUR 81 million). 
These securities are issued by the Albanian Government. 

28.	RELATED  PARTIES

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the 
other party or to exercise significant influence over the other party in making 
financial and other decisions. 

Considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the 
substance of the relationship and not merely to the legal form.
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The related parties of Bank of Albania include the directors and members of 
the Supervisory Council. As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, balances with 
related parties comprised: 

2016 2015
Loans to directors
Directors 91 56
Total 91 56

Loans to directors have an interest rate of 0.5% p.a. and a grace period of 
two years, and are repayable within maximum of 30 years in equal monthly 
instalments. The mortgage loans are collateralized.

The increase of loans to directors of ALL 35 million (2015: decrease of ALL 67 
million) in 2016, represents new granted loans of ALL 35 million (2015: nil), 
repayments of ALL 3 million (2015: ALL 3 million) and reclassifications of the 
loans after changes in the hierarchy structure of ALL 3 million (2015: ALL 64 
million reclassified as not related).

2016 2015
Administrative expenses
Directors and Supervisory Council members:
Telephone expenses 4 4
Salaries and bonuses 125 98
Per diems 6 6
Directors:
Fuel compensation 3 3
Contribution to pension plan scheme 12 9
Total of administrative expenses for related parties 150 120

Balances with/(due to) the Albanian Government and state institutions are 
disclosed in Notes 13 and 19, and related interest income from securities 
and interest expenses are included in Note 22. Promissory notes issued by 
the Albanian Government in favour of the IMF are detailed in Note 10, whilst 
securities issued by the Albanian Government and managed by the Bank are 
detailed in Note 27.

29.	SU BSEQUENT EVENTS

There are no significant events after the reporting date that may require 
adjustment or disclosure in the financial statements.
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Statistical 
Appendix

*Fragments from ornaments featured in the “20 gold francs” 
banknote issued in 1926 by the National Bank of Albania.
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2. Prodhimi i brendshëm bruto, indekset e çmimeve dhe tregu i punës 164 Gross domestic product, price indexes and labor market 2.
3. Bilanci i pagesave, rezerva dhe kursi i këmbimit 165 Balance of payments, reserves and exchange rate 3.
4. Bilanci fiskal, stoku i borxhit të brendshëm dhe borxhi i jashtëm 165 Fiscal balance, domestic debt stock and external debt 4.
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1-1 Bilanci sektorial i Bankës së Shqipërisë 166 Sectoral balance sheet of Bank of Albania 1-1
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1-3 Agregatët monetarë dhe përbërësit e tyre 169  Monetary aggregates and their components 1-3
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1-9.b Huatë e korporatave jofinanciare sipas aktivitetit ekonomik 173 Loans of non-financial corporations by economic activity 1-9.b
1-10a Huatë e korporatave jofinanciare private sipas qëllimit të 
përdorimit dhe monedhës

174 Private non-financial corporations loans by purpose and 
currency 1-10a

1-10b Huatë e korporatave jofinanciare publike sipas qëllimit të 
përdorimit dhe monedhës

174 Public non-financial corporations loans by purpose and 
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shërbejnë individëve sipas qëllimit të përdorimit dhe monedhës
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by purpose and currency 1-11

1-12 Huatë sipas rretheve 177 Loans by districts 1-12
1-13 Normat e interesit për huatë e reja të korporatave jo-
financiare, individëve dhe institucioneve jo me qëllim fitimi që u 
shërbejnë individëve sipas monedhave
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1-13a Normat e interesit për huatë e reja të e korporatave 
jofinanciare private sipas qëllimit të përdorimit dhe monedhës 
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1-13b Normat e interesit për huatë e reja të individëve dhe 
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qëllimit të përdorimit dhe monedhës 
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2. NORMAT E INTERESIT TË INSTRUMENTEVE TË POLITIKËS 
MONETARE

181 INTEREST RATES OF MONETARY POLICY INSTRUMENTS 2.
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3. TREGJET FINANCIARE 182 FINANCIAL MARKETS 3.
3-1 Normat e interesit për depozitat e reja të korporatave jo-
financiare, individëve dhe institucioneve jo me qëllim fitimi që u 
shërbejnë individëve sipas monedhave 

182 Interest rates on new deposits of non-financial corporations, 
households and NPISH by currency  3-1

3-2 Normat e interesit për huatë e reja të korporatave jo-
financiare, individëve dhe institucioneve jo me qëllim fitimi që u 
shërbejnë individëve sipas monedhave
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4-1 Kursi i këmbimit të lekut kundrejt monedhave kryesore 185 Exchange rate 4-1
 2 SEKTORI I JASHTËM 185 EXTERNAL SECTOR 2
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5-2 Eksporti sipas grup mallrave 186 Export by commodity groups 5-2
5-3 Importi sipas grup mallrave 186 Import by commodity groups 5-3
5-4 Pozicioni i investimeve ndërkombëtare 187 International investment position 5-4
5-4 Pozicioni i investimeve ndërkombëtare 188 International investment position 5-4
5-5 Borxhi i jashtëm 189 External debt 5-5
6. FINANCAT E QEVERISË 190 GOVERNMENT FINANCE 6.
6-1 Të ardhurat e buxhetit të qeverisë 190 Government budget revenue 6-1
6-2 Shpenzimet e buxhetit të qeverisë 191 Government budget expenditure 6-2
6-3 Financimi i deficitit buxhetor 192 Fiscal deficit and its financing 6-3
6-4 Stoku i borxhit të brendshëm sipas instrumenteve 193 Domestic debt stock by instruments 6-4
7 SEKTORI REAL 194 REAL SECTOR 7
7-1 Prodhimi i brendshëm bruto sipas klasifikimit të aktivitetit ekonomik 194 Gross domestic product by economic activities 7-1
7-2 Indeksi i çmimeve të prodhimit dhe indeksi i kushtimit në ndërtim 195 Producer price index and construction cost index 7-2 
Ndryshimet në % të indeksit të çmimeve të prodhimit dhe të 
indeksit të kushtimit në ndërtim (për banesa)

195 Change in % of producer price index and construction cost 
index (for dwellings) 

7-3 Indeksi i çmimeve të konsumit  196 Consumer price index 7-3
7-4 Punësimi, papunësia dhe pagat 197 Employment, unemployment and wages 7-4
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